Repurposing Mesalazine as a Potential Treatment Option for Chronic Rhinosinusitis

Thesis submitted for the title of Doctor of Philosophy January 2024



Dr William Murphy BHlthSc, M.D.

Department of Surgery – Otolaryngology, Head & Neck Surgery, University of Adelaide

Table of Contents

DECLAKATION	4
DEDICATION	5
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	
PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	9
PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	9
ABBREVIATIONS	
LIST OF FIGURES	14
LIST OF TABLES	
AIMS AND THESIS SUMMARY	
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
1. CHRONIC RHINOSINUSITIS	
2. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF CRS	
3. AETIOLOGY OF CRS	
3.1. Extrinsic factors	
3.1.1. Mechanical Barriers	
3.1.2. Environmental	
3.1.5. Allergy	
3.1.5. Bacteria	
3.1.6. Fungal Hypothesis	
3.1.7. Viral Hypothesis	
3.2 Intrinsic factors	
3.2.1 Anatomical Factors	
3.2.2. Genetics	
3.2.3. Immune hypothesis	
3.2.4. Inflammatory Endotypes	
3.2.4.2. Type-2 Inflammation	
4 Immune System and CBS	37
4.1. Innate Immune System	
4.1.1. Cells of the Innate Immune System	
4.1.1.1. Macrophages	
4.1.1.2. Eosinophils	
4.1.1.3. Neutrophils	
4.1.1.4. Dendritic cells	
4.1.1.5 Mast cells	45 47
4.1.1.0. Inflate Tyliphold Cens	
4.1.1 Cells of the Adaptive Immune System	
4.2.1.1 B cells	
4.2.1.2. T cells	51
4.2.1.3. Th1 and Th2 cells	
4.2.1.4. Th17 cells	55
4.2.1.3. 1reg	
5. Treatment for CRS	
5.1. Corticosteroids	

5.3. Antibiotics	60
5.4. Anti-Leukotrienes	
5.6. Antifungals	63
5.7. Saline irrigation	64
5.8 Surgery	65
6.Mesalazine	65
CHAPTER 2: An in vitro study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human	
nasoepithelial cells	69
Statement of Authorship	
Abstract	
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	
3. Results	84
4. Discussion	90
5. Conclusion	
6. Supplementary Figures	94
CHAPTER 3: An in vitro study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human	
nasoepithelial cells	95
Statement of Authorship	96
Abstract	101
1. Introduction	102
2. Materials and Methods	
3: Results	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusion	
6. Supplementary figures	
CHAPTER 4: Mesalazine is effective at reducing Staphylococcus aureus-induced	
lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in vivo	
Statement of Authorship	
Abstract	
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	
3. Results	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusion	
6. Supplementary Figures	
CHAPTER 5: SYNOPSIS	
References	

DECLARATION

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint award of this degree. The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within the thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works. I give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time. I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship. This work is dedicated to all those who have helped me along the way. Your

help is invaluable, I will forever be in your debt.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to all the people who have contributed to my successful completion of this immensely rewarding journey. I acknowledge the exceptional individuals who have supported me, guided me, and most of all believed in me throughout this endeavour.

To Professor Psaltis, I extend my greatest appreciation. Your commitment, invaluable insight and passion for ENT has been a continuous source of inspiration. Your guidance and feedback have improved my critical thinking and extended my research capabilities. Through your mentorship, I have been able to grow both personally and professionally. I am undoubtedly in debt to you for your knowledge, understanding and commitment to fostering my intellectual growth. I'm most appreciative however of you giving me a chance when others wouldn't take a second look, even though I was the one pick before the 200th person.

To Professors Wormald and Vreugde, I extend a heartfelt gratitude. Your wisdom and dedication have been insurmountable in shaping my clinical and academic journey. Prof Wormald your steadiness and unwavering approach to medicine and research is inspiring. Prof Vreugde, your calmness and gentle approach is a light even in the darkest of times. Both your guidance, commitment and invaluable insights have helped to shape the trajectory of my journey.

To Sha, I owe an immeasurable debt of appreciation. Your tireless efforts, guidance and unwavering support has been insurmountable. Your scientific excellence is second to none, you truly have a bright future as a leader in this field. I'll look back fondly on our experience in the lab, particularly the times where I have said something and you've given me a facial expression of 'is this guy really a doctor'. Knowing the true you, I know that this is done with kindness in your heart and for that I'm forever grateful.

To my mother and father, your unconditional love, encouragement and support have been the cornerstone of my achievements. To dad, the lesson of picking myself up and continuing on irregardless of how much I have been knocked down has been the reason why I have been able to achieve what I have done up to now. To mum, your compassion and support, offering reassurance when needed has helped me through the tough times and helped me thrive in the good times.

To Sholeh and Karen. Sholeh, thank you for the motivation to keep on going when I was tired. I will always have fond memories of the late nights at the animal house, as well as the colossal amount of slides we scanned and rescanned together. Karen, thank you for always being willing to help out and support me with all my projects.

To my fellow comrades, James, Ghais, Kenny and Roshan, your friendship, ideas and humour gave the flavour to this whole experience. Whether it be helping run courses, venting about experiments not working, or making the most outrageous comments to each other, your presence and comradery has made this part of my life one of the most enjoyable.

To the influential doctors in my life who have given me encouraging words along the way, Prof Krishnan and Drs Floreani, Ling, Pant, Ha, Hodge, Valentine and Chong. Thank you for believing in me and providing support and guidance as I advance in my journey in the ENT world. To Erich, Lia and Steph, thank you for being an inspiration, for always being there to lend an ear to listen and give me valuable advice. Erich, the hard work at the hospital and equally hard work spent reminiscing about life and walking on the beach has always put a smile on my face. Lia and Steph, your patience, understanding and incredible ability to teach has really been inspirational to me.

To all those who have helped along the way, I owe a massive debt of gratitude and couldn't thank you enough for your support and encouragement. If I see far, it is because I have stood on your shoulders.

PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

- Murphy, W, Liu, S, Javadiyan, S, Vyskocil, E, Feizi, S, Callejas, C, Wormald, P, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, A 2024, 'An *in vitro* study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human nasoepithelial cells', *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 2796.
- Murphy, W, Liu, S, Hon, K, Finnie, J, Bouras, G, Feizi, S, Houtak, G, Shaghayegh, G, Vyskocil, E, Wormald, P, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, A 2024, 'A novel model of *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis in the rat', *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 3336.
- Murphy, W, Liu, S, Feizi, S, Kalyanasundaram, K, Hon, K, Finnie, J, Yeo, K, Bouras, G, Shaghayegh, G, Wormald, P, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, A 2024, 'Mesalazine is effective at reducing *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in vivo', Prepared for submission.

PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

 Novel treatments for chronic rhinosinusitis, Adelaide Pharmacology Annual Meeting 2020

ABBREVIATIONS

5-ASA	Mesalamine or 5-	CFTR	Cystic fibrosis
	aminosalicylic acid		transmembrane conductase
			regulator
AERD	Aspirin exacerbated	CFU	Colony forming unit
	respiratory disease		
AFS	Allergic fungal sinusitis	CRSwNP	Chronic rhinosinusitis with
			nasal polyps
ALI	Air-liquid interface	СТ	Computed tomography
ANOVA	One-way analysis of	CTLA	Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes
	variance		associated protein
APC	Antigen presenting cell	CysLT	Cystine leukotriene
			receptor
BAFF	B-cell activating factor	DAMPS	Damage-associated
			molecular pattern
			molecules
BCR	B cell receptor	DCs	Dendritic cells
Bregs	Regulatory B cells	DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
CCL	Chemokine ligand	DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
CCR6+	CC motif 6 chemokine	EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic
	receptor protein		acid
CF	Cystic fibrosis	ELISA	Enzyme-linked
			immunosorbent assay

EPOS	European position paper on rhinosinusitis and nasal polyps	IL	Interleukin
ESS	Endoscopic sinus surgery	ILCs	Innate lymphoid cells
Exo	Exoprotein	INCS	Intranasal corticosteroids
FDA	Food and drug administration	INF	Interferon
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate-labelled dextrans	IRF4	Interferon regulatory factor
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3	iTregs	Induced T regulatory cells
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor	LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
GORD	Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease	LK	Lund Kennedy
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin	LM	Lund-Mackay
HLA	Human leukocyte antigens	LTB4	Leukotriene B4
HNECs	Human nasal epithelial cells	MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase	mDC	Myeloid dendritic cell
Ig	Immunoglobulin	МНС	Major histocompatibility complex

MIC	Minimum inhibitory	PRR	Pattern recognition
	concentration		receptors
MLST	Multi-locus sequence typing	RANTES	Regulated upon activation,
			normal T cell expressed and
			presumably secreted
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic	ROS	Reactive oxygen species
	acid		
MSU	Monosodium urate	RPMI	Roswell park memorial
			institute
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide	S. aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappa B	SAE	Staphylococcus aureus
			enterotoxins
NK	Natural killer	SLE	Systemic lupus
			erythematous
ns	Not significant	SNOT-22	22-item Sino-Nasal
			Outcome Test
OMC	Osteal meatal complex	T cells	T-lymphocytes
OSM	Oncostatin M	T-bet	T-box transcription factor
PAMPS	Pattern-associated	TEER	Trans-Epithelial Electrical
	molecular patterns		Resistance
	1		
pDC	Plasmocytoid dendritic	TGF	Transforming growth
	cells		factor
PIC	Poly IC	Th	T helper

TLR	Toll-like receptor	TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor	UC	Ulcerative colitis
TSA	Trypticase soy agar	URTI	Upper respiratory tract infection
TSB	Tryptic soy broth	уо	Years old

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1

Figure 1. Criteria for CRS diagnosis.

Figure 2. Classification of Primary CRS.

Figure 3. CRS causing anatomical obstruction from mucosal inflammation and polyp formation.

Figure 4. Non-type 2 CRS inflammatory endotype and the cells involved.

Figure 5. Type 2 CRS inflammatory endotype and the cells involved.

Chapter 2

Figure 1. Mesalazine has no significant effect on HNEC-ALI transepithelial electrical resistance.

Figure 2. Mesalazine has no significant effect on HNEC-ALI paracellular permeability.

Figure 3: Mesalazine appears to be non-toxic to HNECs and THP-1 Cells in concentrations < 50mM.

Figure 4: Mesalazine has anti-inflammatory effects on the production of TNF- α by THP-1 cells.

Figure 5: Mesalazine has no effects on the release of IL-6 by HNEC-ALI cultures.

Supplementary figure 1: MSU can stimulate TNF- α in THP-1 cells, but not HNEC.

Chapter 3

Figure 1. Experiment flowchart.

Figure 2. S. aureus colony-forming units (CFU).

Figure 3: S. aureus and exoprotein induced inflammation in vivo.

Supplementary Figure 1. Anterior (left) and posterior (right) sections of the rat nasal cavity in H&E staining.

Supplementary Figure 2. A completely labelled slide of areas of maximal inflammation mapped (left). A labelled area of maximal infiltrate (right).

Supplementary Figure 3. Respiratory epithelium (Left) and olfactory epithelium inflammation (Right).

Supplementary Figure 4. (A) Lung histology with non-specific bronchioalveolar infiltrate.

(B) Liver histology. (C) Spleen histology.

Chapter 4

Figure 1. Flow chart of experimental groups.

Figure 2: Inflammation scores of the sinonasal cavities.

Figure 3. Colony forming units of each group.

Supplementary Figure 1. A labelled slide of areas of maximal inflammation mapping.

Supplementary Figure 2. Heavy lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate, with goblet cell hyperplasia in *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈.

Supplementary Figure 3. Goblet cell hyperplasia with an active section in S. aureus CI908.

Supplementary Figure 4. Organ histology from 10mM mesalazine groups.

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 3

Table 1: S. aureus clinical isolate patient summary.

Table 2: Inflammatory infiltrate scoring

Table 3: representative inflammation for control (saline), exoprotein, CI₉₀₈ and CI₉₁₃ treated rats.

Supplementary Table 1. Long read sequences.

Chapter 4

Table 1: S. aureus clinical isolate patient summary.

AIMS AND THESIS SUMMARY

The research enclosed in this thesis revolves around investigating the therapeutic viability of repurposing the drug mesalazine into a sinonasal wash for the potential treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS). This body of work utilises an *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments to evaluate the safety and efficacy of mesalazine as an emerging treatment option.

This thesis is comprised of 6 chapters, each chapter representing different aspects of developing potential treatments for CRS. This includes exploring the current understanding and treatment options available in CRS, repurposing mesalazine into an appropriate sinonasal wash, testing it's safety and efficacy *in vitro*, developing an appropriate *in vivo* inflammatory model and finally, establishing the effects of mesalazine on sinonasal inflammation *in vivo*.

Chapter 1 functions as an introductory chapter, exploring the fundamental concepts of CRS that lay the foundational work for the coming chapters. This chapter is broken down into six parts. The first and second section provide a concise overview and epidemiology of CRS, respectively. The third section focuses on the aetiology of CRS. The fourth section delves deeper into the immune system and the cells within it that are associated with CRS. The final sections concentrate on the current treatment options for CRS and lastly propose mesalazine as a potential treatment option for CRS.

Chapter 2 is a manuscript examining repurposing mesalazine into a sinus wash, and investigating its safety *in vitro* on human nasoepithelial cells, whilst still retaining its anti-inflammatory function. From this an appropriate dosing range was established which maximised anti-inflammatory effects and minimised cell toxicity.

Chapter 3 is rat sinusitis model. This chapter centered around creating a new inflammatory small animal model that is cheap, easily accessible and non-invasive, and mimics the lymphoplasmacytic histopathology seen in a subset of patients with difficult to treat CRS.

Chapter 4 is a manuscript that ties the two previous chapter together by investigating the effects of mesalazine on sinonasal inflammation in the established rat model. Mesalazine was also compared to current treatments available for CRS *in vivo*. The systemic effects were also investigated.

Finally, in Chapter 6, conclusions are drawn and future directions of research are reflected upon. Mesalazine presents as a potential therapeutic option for the treatment of CRS through its anti-inflammatory effects. Whilst the work embodies in this thesis looks at the effects of mesalazine *in vitro* and *in vivo*, future directions should be aim at investigating its effects in human clinical trials.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1. CHRONIC RHINOSINUSITIS

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is an inflammatory condition that affects the mucosa membranes of the nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses (Benninger et al. 2003). A clinician can differentiate chronic rhinosinusitis from other nasal conditions by taking a thorough history, performing an endoscopic examination, and reviewing radiological findings. Based on the duration of symptoms, rhinosinusitis may be classified as acute, subacute, recurrent-acute, or chronic rhinosinusitis (Lanza & Kennedy 1997). Historically, the diagnosis was largely reliant on clinical symptoms, however a better understanding of the disease and its broad spectrum suggests that a clinical diagnosis alone may not always be accurate, and current opinion holds that both subjective and objective criteria should be met to diagnose CRS (Benninger et al. 2003; Jackson & Kountakis 2005).

Current European guidelines (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020) for the definition of chronic rhinosinusitis is:

- 1. Duration of disease > 12 weeks continuously, with validation by phone or interview.
- 2. Two or more clinical symptoms present, one of which should be either nasal blockage/obstruction/congestion or nasal discharge (anterior/posterior nasal drip)
 - 1. \pm Facial pain/pressure
 - 2. \pm Reduction or loss of smell (Figure 1)



Figure 1. Criteria for CRS diagnosis

The current European guidelines then subclassified CRS into localised and diffuse based on anatomical distribution. In primary CRS, the disease is then divided by endotypes, being type 2 or non-type 2 (type 1 and 3) (Figure 2). Complete resolution before 12 weeks with medical therapy favors a diagnosis of sub-acute or acute rhinosinusitis, and a diagnosis of CRS should not be made (Lanza & Kennedy 1997).



Figure 2. Classification of Primary CRS. Adapted from (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020) with permission.

Traditionally CRS has been subclassified according to the presence (CRSwNP) or absence of polyps (CRSsNP) (Fokkens, W, Lund & Mullol 2007), with CRSwNP being defined as above, but with bilateral polyps on endoscopic examination, and CRSsNP described as above, but with no visualized polyps. Furthermore, CRS is becoming increasingly more prevalent, and it is an complex disease with various disease types and pathophysiology (Tomassen et al. 2016; Wei, B et al. 2018). As the shift towards classification of CRS into endotypes continues, identification of different endotypes may result in better individualized

therapies against the underlaying pathophysiological processes with more effective treatment options and improved patient morbidity.

2. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF CRS

The prevalence of CRS in Australia is approximately 1.9 million, which represents approximately 9.8% of the population (Habib et al. 2019). It is comparable to Europe, where the overall prevalence of CRS was 10.9% based on the European Position Paper on Rhinosinusitis and Nasal Polyps criteria (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Furthermore, CRS affects an estimated 12.5% of the population in the United States (Hamilos 2011). Health care costs associated with CRS in the US ranged between 6.9 and 9.9 billion dollars, and indirect health care costs were estimated to be 13 billion dollars (Smith, KA, Orlandi & Rudmik 2015).

3. AETIOLOGY OF CRS

Despite its high prevalence, high global health care costs, and increasing research into the disease, the pathogenesis of CRS remains poorly understood. The majority of CRS cases are classified as idiopathic, with a smaller subset being associated with other medical conditions, including aspirin exacerbated respiratory disease, allergic fungal sinusitis, cystic fibrosis, Churg-Straus disease, Wegener's granulomatosis, and Kartagener's syndrome (Goutaki et al. 2017; Hamilos 2016; Kühn et al. 2018). It is becoming more widely recognized that CRS is a multifactorial disease with multiple risks, each contributing to the disease process in a different

manner, and many of these overlapping (Benninger et al. 2003). Many predisposing factors have been described in the literature, which may contribute directly or indirectly to the inflammatory response of the host or to the initiation of an infectious response by bacteria, fungi or viruses, which we will discuss as below.

3.1. Extrinsic factors

3.1.1. Mechanical Barriers

It is important to note that the ciliary function plays an important role in sinonasal homeostasis. A vital function of cilia is to transport mucus from the sinuses, out of the sinus ostia, to the nasal cavity, postnasal space and finally into the oesophagus. A dysfunctional cilium can result in ciliary stasis, a decrease in mucus clearance, and an increase in bacterial activity. The presence of an infectious state can lead to increased inflammation and hypoxia, which in turn impairs cilia function, thus perpetuating the cycle (Fokkens, W, Lund & Mullol 2007). There is an increased incidence of CRS in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients, as well as patients with impaired mucociliary function. Additionally, this increase in CRS prevalence also exists in CF gene carriers who do not manifest the disease (Wang, XinJing et al. 2005; Wang, XinJing et al. 2000). Another structural component of CRS is seen in the nasoepithelial cells' tight junctions, which have been shown *in vitro* to be weaker and to have increased permeability (Antunes, Gudis & Cohen 2009; Den Beste et al. 2013). These findings suggest that the integrity and functioning of the mucosal barrier, plays an important role in sinonasal homeostasis.

3.1.2. Environmental

Multiple environmental factors, such as smoking (Briggs et al. 2004; Chen, Y, Dales & Lin 2003), air pollution (Wolf 2002) and exposure to allergens (Asero & Bottazzi 2001; Gutman et al. 2004) have all been found to be associated with an increase in the incidence of CRS. Both primary and second hand smoking have been connected to increased severity of CRS (Briggs et al. 2004; Goldstein-Daruech et al. 2011; Jaakkola & Jaakkola 2002; Mori et al. 2013; Ramadan & Hinerman 2002; Reh et al. 2009; Tammemagi et al. 2010). Smoking has been shown to inhibit ciliary cells and decrease the mucociliary escalator function (JM 1995; Stanley et al. 1986). Additionally, chemical irritants are exposed to the sinonasal mucosa first, which acts as the first defensive barrier (Reh, Higgins & Smith 2012). Infections and exacerbated CRS may result from injury to the mucosa caused by chemical irritants.

3.1.3. Allergy

It has been shown that allergies, or atopy, are related to CRS, and are associated with poor postoperative outcomes and the need for revision surgery (Dursun et al. 2003). The prevalence of allergies in patients with CRS is estimated to range from 29 to 84% (Alobid, Benítez, et al. 2006; Batra, Tong & Citardi 2013; Emanuel & Shah 2000; Freudenberger, Grizzanti & Rosenstreich 1988; Gutman et al. 2004; Hoover et al. 1997; Leo et al. 2007; Savolainen 1989). It has been suggested that a low grade, chronic mucosal inflammatory state may progress to CRS in patients who have been exposed to additional etiological factors (Pelikan, Zdenek 2009; Pelikan, Z & Pelikan-Filipek 1990).

3.1.4. Microbiome

During the last decade, research had been focusing on the sinonasal mucosa due to the development of 16S rRNA bacterial sequencing methods, which have proven to be highly sensitive and less biased, thus providing a better understanding of the microbiome within the sinonasal environment. It has become increasingly important to focus on the diversity and abundance of commensal bacteria rather than the bacterial burden (Boase, Foreman, et al. 2013). It is the aim of microbiome studies to determine whether or not the components of the microbiome are in balance and how they interact in health versus disease. As a result of a disturbance in the balance of the microbiome, CRS patients suffer from dysbiosis, and their biodiversity is reduced compared to healthy controls (Anderson et al. 2016).

3.1.5. Bacteria

The sinonasal mucosa is colonized by healthy commensal bacteria. Commensal bacteria cultured in healthy individuals include *coagulase negative staphylococcus, coagulase positive staphylococcus aureus* and *Corynebacterium* species (Gordts et al. 2000). Bacterial infection however has been closely associated with CRS, with 83% of cultures reported to be positive for CRS patients (Cleland, Bassiouni & Wormald 2013; Klossek et al. 1998). The most prevalent bacteria in CRS patients' culture is *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), followed by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Brook 2006). It was found by Cleland *et. al* (2013), that the rate of *Staphylococcus* in culture was 35% and 9% for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in a sample of 513 CRS patients. This is similar to the rate reported by Gittleman et al (1991), who reported 35%

for *S. aureus*, and Nadel, Lanza and Kennedy (1998) who reported a rate of 17% for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

It has been shown that S. aureus overgrowth is a major contributor to CRS (Wang, XinJing et al. 2000). Furthermore, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Moraxella catarrhalis and Haemophilus influenzae have been associated with biofilm formation in CRS (Hall-Stoodley, Costerton & Stoodley 2004). Biofilms are a matrix of microorganisms in which the bacteria bind to each other as well as the host surfaces. Biofilms are encased in an extracellular polymeric matrix. This gives the bacteria the ability to bind tightly to the mucosal surface and slow their metabolic rate allowing them to evade innate immune responses as well as antibiotics (Hall-Stoodley, Costerton & Stoodley 2004). Most pathogenic bacteria form a biofilm and this allows them as they mature to give off planktonic bacteria, thereby acting as a reservoir and contributing to infection persistence. The formation of biofilms occurs as a bacterial response to cues such as exposure to planktonic cells, low concentrations of antibiotics, decreased nutrition and recognition of surface attachment sites. Of the forementioned bacteria, S. aureus has the largest association with biofilm production, as well as with more severe and recalcitrant disease manifestation (Kariya et al. 2014). The rate of biofilm production in CRS is 29-72% and it has been associated with severe disease, mucosal inflammation, increased infections and post operative symptom persistence (Maspero, JF et al. 2020; Tomisa et al. 2019).

3.1.6. Fungal Hypothesis

In the late 1990s Ponikau et al. (1999) proposed that fungus could be the single specific aetiological organism responsible for CRS, the so-called fungal hypothesis. According to this

study, 96% of participants with CRS (202 of 210 CRS patients) had fungus cultured from their nasal secretions (Ponikau et al. 1999). According to histological or culture analyses, most of the patients met the diagnostic criteria for allergic fungal sinusitis (Lampinen et al.).These findings were later confirmed by Braun et al (2003), and they suggested that the presence of fungus resulted in the abnormal eosinophilic mucus that is seen in Allergic Fungal Sinusitis (AFS).

However, the role of fungus as the single most important factor in the development of CRS was not replicated in other studies and the fungus seen in Ponikau's papers were found in similar quantities in the normal control patients. (Braun et al. 2003; Ponikau et al. 1999). Early trials for topical anti-fungals in CRS patients showed promising results (Ponikau et al. 2002; Ponikau et al. 2005). However, these were not seen in properly controlled studies where no beneficial outcomes were seen in objective or subjective disease severity scores, or in the change in pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles from amphotericin B being administered as a topical irrigation in CRS. In addition there were side effects were reported (Ebbens et al. 2006; Liang et al. 2008; Weschta et al. 2004). The role of fungus as a unifying underlying aetiological mechanism has been debunked. However, there is still a role for fungus in subset of CRS patients who develop allergic fungal CRS.

3.1.7. Viral Hypothesis

In the viral hypothesis, a virus is regarded as the triggering event for the development of CRS, but its role in the disease's pathogenesis is unclear. The symptoms of CRS can be exacerbated when patients have a viral upper respiratory tract infection (URTI). The presence of respiratory viruses in the mucosa has been demonstrated in patients with CRS (Cho et al. 2013; Jang et al. 2006). There is also an association between the presence of virus and the severity of the CRS disease (Goggin, RK et al. 2019). The most common viruses associated with CRS is rhinovirus, followed by coronavirus and influenza (Makela et al. 1998). There is evidence that rhinoviruses can increase bacterial attachment to and colonization of the epithelium (Wang, JH, Kwon & Jang 2009a). Furthermore, viruses have immunomodulatory effects on nasoepithelial fibroblasts (Wang, JH, Kwon & Jang 2009b). Patients with CRS are also induced by rhinovirus to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines in their nasal mucosa (Kim, JH et al. 2015). It has been reported that viruses are associated with increased mucosal eosinophils and lymphocytes in patients with CRS, indicating that infections may be a source of immune dysregulation in these patients (Goggin, RK et al. 2020). The role of viruses in the development of CRS still requires further investigation.

3.2 Intrinsic factors

3.2.1 Anatomical Factors

When Endoscopic Functional Sinus surgery was introduced in the late 1980s by Heinz Stammberger the theory was that narrowing of sinus outflow tracts and other anatomical variations in the sinus bony anatomy could contribute to the development of CRS by impairing mucociliary function and drainage. According to the study by Staikunierne, a third of CRS patients have a single anatomical abnormality, while half of CRS patients have two or more anatomical abnormalities (Staikūnienė et al. 2008). A deviated nasal septum was found to be

the most common anatomical variation in CRS patients on CT scans, followed by unilateral concha bullosas and bent middle turbinates (Aramani, Karadi & Kumar 2014). A study by Aramani et al (2014) found anatomical variations (septal deviation, bilateral concha bullosa, medial deviation of uncinate process, Haller cell, hypertrophic ethmoidal bulla cell and agger nasi cell) were associated with mucosal diseases. This study had a population size of 200, but lacked healthy controls, therefore making the association less impressive (Aramani, Karadi & Kumar 2014). In a further study by Langille et al (2012), 328 consecutive CT's were reviewed and found an association between frontal sinus mucosal thickening and the presence of frontal cells. Conversely, a study by Eweiss & Khalil (2013) found no association between the presence of frontal sinus cells, or agger nasi cells and frontal mucosal thickening.

The controversy as to the contribution of anatomical variants to the development of CRS was added to by a study by Bolger et al (1991), who found no significant difference between the frequency of anatomical variants (particularly the presence or absence of frontal sinus cells) in CRS patients' CTs compared to CTs of patients who had no sinus symptoms. The only anatomical feature that was more prevalent in the CRS cohort was concha bullosa (Bolger, Parsons & Butzin 1991). It was however shown by Zeinrich et al (1988), that osteal meatal complex (OMC) obstruction in CRS patients was not significantly different between patients with and without a concha bullosa. This was further supported by Aktas et al (2003) and Stallman et al (2004) who both found no increase in sinusitis in patients with concha bullosa. Ostia meatal complex (OMC) obstruction is not seen in all CRS patients (Chandra et al. 2010). The conflicting findings for anatomical variants suggest that anatomy likely plays a minor role in the development of CRS.



Figure 3. CRS causing anatomical obstruction from mucosal inflammation and polyp formation.

3.2.2. Genetics

Genetic research in CRS has been gaining traction as there are associated genetic predispositions with the disease. Recent technological advancements have enabled DNA studies and improved analysis has shown interesting findings when studying family groups who have a high prevalence of CRS, also having high genetic similarities (Cohen et al. 2006; Greisner III & Settipane 1996; Qu et al. 2007). CRS has been linked to cystic fibrosis, a disease characterized by a dysfunctional Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductase Regulator (CFTR) gene that inhibits cilia motility by altering mucus consistency by affecting chloride transport to the mucous layer (Wang, XinJing et al. 2005; Wang, XinJing et al. 2000). The study by Wang et al (2000) investigated the most common 16 gene mutations that accounted for 85% of the cystic fibrosis cases. A CF mutation was identified in 7% of CRS patients

compared to 2% of controls out of 146 CRS patients and 123 controls (Wang, XinJing et al. 2000) showing that there was a higher prevalence of CF mutations in CRS patients.

Human leukocyte antigens (HLA) genes play a role in antigen presentation by B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. In CRS there are alleles that have been associated with CRS (Jaqueline et al. 2006). The presence of the specific antigen gene HLA-B54 was associated with patients with CRS (Takeuchi et al. 1999), and it was proposed that the HLA-B54 gene may contribute to altered host immunomodulatory responses. Such an impairment could result in increased inflammatory and immune response that can result in CRS. As genetic analysis technology advances so further research in this area will elucidate the roles that genes play in the development of CRS.

3.2.3. Immune hypothesis

Chronic Rhinosinusitis disrupts the normal defensive mechanisms of nasal epithelial host cells on various levels, affecting both mechanical and immune barriers. This impairment of mechanical barriers can occur at the different levels, including the level of mucus production, the mucociliary escalator, and the integrity of tight junctions and adherent junctions on the cells. The immune barriers include the innate and adaptive immune responses. The innate immune response involves cytokine-mediated recruitment of immune cells, complement activation, and the identification and removal of foreign materials. Adaptive immunity encompasses processing antigen recognition, clonal expansion, activation, an effector response for antigen elimination, and the development of memory cells. Disruption of the mechanical and immune barriers can be caused by a range of internal and external factors. However, this disruption can lead to alterations in the microbiome, increased exposure to pathogens, and an exaggerated immune response, potentially causing further tissue damage (Lam, K, Schleimer & Kern 2015).

Disruption of the mechanical barriers can be observed in CF and CF gene carriers, who have a defective mucociliary escalator and an associated higher incidence of CRS. Weaker tight junctions have been observed in CRS patients *in vitro* (Den Beste et al. 2013). Further, a reduction in genes associated with epithelial barrier maintenance and repair has been observed in CRS patients, suggesting the importance of barrier function and integrity (Richer et al. 2008).

In the innate immune response in healthy sinonasal epithelium, exposure to a pathogen triggers the production and release of antimicrobial molecules. In CRS, many of the underlying mechanisms responsible for this process are compromised (Tengroth, Arebro, et al. 2014; Tengroth, Millrud, et al. 2014). One example of this is the impairment of pattern recognition receptors (PRR), which are associated with the secretion of antimicrobial substances in CRS.

In the adaptative immune response, in Caucasian patients with CRSwNP, an inflammatory profile characterized by T helper Type 2 dominance is observed. This Type 2 inflammation is linked to elevated levels of eosinophils relative to neutrophils, along with increased production of cytokines such as IL4, IL5, IL10, and IL13. Additionally, there is local oedema accompanied by an infiltration of mast cells and B lymphocytes (Berger 2000). On the other hand, the CRSsNP phenotype is more closely associated with T helper Type 1 inflammation (König et al. 2016). T-helper 1 inflammation primarily leads to the production of cytokines like interferon γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 (Seder, Darrah & Roederer 2008). Once inflammation is initiated, it is

sustained through a complex interplay of various cytokines, which are in turn regulated by transcription factors like nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) (Frączek et al. 2013; Henriksson et al. 2001). These intricate interactions are believed to be pivotal in the underlying pathophysiology of CRS.

3.2.4. Inflammatory Endotypes

Traditionally, Chronic Rhinosinusitis has been categorized into two phenotypes: CRSsNP and CRSwNP, constituting roughly 80% and 20% of cases respectively (Benjamin et al. 2019; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). As research advances, there has been a growing emphasis on classifying CRS into endotypes based on the specific types of inflammation present, namely Type 2 and non-Type 2 (Type 1 and Type 3) inflammation. This differentiation in CRS endotypes can provide valuable insights into the natural progression of the disease (Bachert et al. 2018). In the Caucasian population, over 80% of individuals with CRSwNP demonstrate a Type 2 inflammation with eosinophils as the predominant cell type (Tomassen et al. 2016; Turner et al. 2018; Van Zele et al. 2006). On the other hand, approximately half of the Asian population who have CRSwP exhibit a predominance of Type 1 inflammation, characterized by a higher presence of neutrophils. This population responds to novel treatments targeting Type 1 inflammation about 50% of the time, suggesting the important for endotype classification for targeted treatments (Cao et al. 2009; Liao et al. 2018; Tomassen et al. 2016; Van Zele et al. 2006; Wang, Xiangdong et al. 2016; Zhang, Y et al. 2017).

3.2.4.1. Non-Type 2 Inflammation

Non-Type 2 inflammation encompasses Type 1 and Type 3 inflammation, and studies on CRS often do not differentiate between these two inflammation profiles. In CRS patients with non-Type 2 inflammation, have elevated levels of TNF- α , IL1-B, interferon γ , IL-6, IL-8, and IL-17, along with increased levels of macrophages, neutrophils, TH1 and TH17 cells (Shi, L-L et al. 2014; Zhang, N et al. 2008).

In Type 1 inflammation, there is a shift in macrophages towards an M1 endotype. This shift leads to the production of IL-1 β and reactive oxygen species (ROS) through the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome (Zhong et al. 2021). Neutrophils also play a crucial role in non-Type 2 inflammation by synthesizing and releasing various substances, including LTB4, ROS, IL1-B, IL-8, OSM, myeloperoxidase, elastase, cathepsin G, and proteinase 3 (Zhong et al. 2021). Knowledge about Type 1 inflammation in CRS is lacking at a molecular level, highlighting the need for further research in this area.



Figure 4. Non-type 2 CRS inflammatory endotype and the cells involved. Adapted from (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020) with permission.

3.2.4.2. Type-2 Inflammation

Type 2 inflammation in CRS is characterized by elevated expression of IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and IgE. This type of inflammation is primarily marked by an eosinophilic presence and is strongly associated with the CRSwNP phenotype (Bachert et al. 2020; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Schleimer 2017). Moreover, Type 2 inflammation, particularly when accompanied by eosinophilic dominance, has been linked to severe disease and is considered a risk factor for CRS relapse (Alsharif et al. 2019; Bachert et al. 2020; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Jonstam et al. 2019; Schleimer 2017).

In the Caucasian population, CRS mediated by Type 2 inflammation has been associated with eosinophilic disorders such as allergic rhinitis, asthma, Churg-Straus disease and atopy. The incidence of these conditions in the European population is significantly higher compared to the Asian population (Bachert et al. 2020; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Laidlaw et al. 2021; Liu, Z et al. 2020; Shi, JB et al. 2015).



Figure 5. Type 2 CRS inflammatory endotype and the cells involved. Adapted from (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020) with permission.
4. Immune System and CRS

4.1. Innate Immune System

Innate immunity is the first line of the body's defense against pathogens. The sinonasal epithelium not only provides a physical barrier to pathogens, but also has cells which can sense when pathogens are present and co-ordinate an immune response. The cells lining the mucosa have a diverse range of pathogen sensing receptors, as well as cytokines that can be released as part of an immune response. In healthy individuals, the epithelial cells monitor and sense antigens, once sensed, they release cytokines and chemokines which recruit immune cells to the sinuses. In patients with CRS, there are differences in the innate response, which supports the hypothesis that a dysregulation of the innate immune response is in part contributing to the disease process and inflammation that is central to CRS pathophysiology (Ooi et al. 2010).

4.1.1. Cells of the Innate Immune System

4.1.1.1. Macrophages

Macrophages are effector cells of the immune system. They play a role in maintaining tissue homeostasis, and are located in all tissues (Wynn, Chawla & Pollard 2013). Macrophages come from the mononuclear phagocyte cell line, with progenitor cells in the bone marrow, which produce blood monocytes, and once these enter into the tissue they become tissue macrophages (Hume 2006). Macrophages can be identified by the expression of CD14 and PRR on their surface (Ball & Fanger 1983). Monocytes maturation to macrophages can be identified by the expression of 25f9 cellular marker (Pilling et al. 2009).

Macrophages function by phagocytosing apoptotic cells and debris. Their primary function is immunological, and they are adaptive to their environment. The pathways involved with macrophage function are classified into a classically activated M1 and an alternatively activated M2 pathway (Gordon 2003; Murray, PJ et al. 2014). M1 macrophages are termed this as they are differentiated in response to IFN- γ , which is produced by Th1 in response to intracellular infection. M2 macrophages are similarly termed so, as they response to Th2 cytokines. M2 macrophages are thought to be anti-inflammatory, and respond to parasitic infections (Murray, PJ et al. 2014).

Macrophages were first linked to CRS by Shun et al., (2005) who looked at chemokines that contributed to CRS. Shun et al., (2005) suggested that polyposis in CRS was contributed to by fibroblast stimulated CCL production, which promotes macrophage recruitment. It was discovered by Jung et al. (2019), that tissue from polyps contained a higher amount of NF- Kß compared to uncinate tissue. This is important as NF-K β is an important inflammatory regulator of macrophages. It was also observed that the mRNA of the cytokines responsible for macrophage recruitment, p65, IL-6, IL-8, IL-1β and eotaxin were higher in polyp tissue when compared to uncinate tissue (Jonstam et al. 2019). M2 macrophages have the ability to secrete high levels of CCL18, which is a cytokine that acts as a chemotactic for naïve T cells, Th2 cells and dendritic cells, which may contribute to the underlaying pathogenesis of CRSwNP (Krysko et al. 2011). M2 macrophages further produce factor XIII-A, which induces fibrin deposition and tissue oedema in nasal polyps of Caucasian patients with CRS (Khawar, Abbasi & Sheikh 2016; Peterson et al. 2012; Takabayashi, Kato, Peters, Hulse, Suh, Carter, Norton, Grammer, Cho, et al. 2013; Takabayashi, Kato, Peters, Hulse, Suh, Carter, Norton, Grammer, Tan, et al. 2013). Macrophages in CRSsNP have not undergone extensive study, however they often remain elevated, and likely playing a role in Type 1 inflammation (Kaczmarek et al. 2019;

Khawar, Abbasi & Sheikh 2016; Perić et al. 2015). Macrophages also act to recruit eosinophils and neutrophils to the site of inflammation in CRS (Kaczmarek et al. 2019; Khawar, Abbasi & Sheikh 2016; Perić et al. 2015).

4.1.1.2. Eosinophils

Eosinophils are a variety of white blood cell that have a role in tissue repair and immune defense, especially towards helminths (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2019). Eosinophils are derived from bone marrow, where they are released into the vascular system. Once released from the bone marrow, they can be distinguished by a change in their cytoplasmic specific granules (Melo et al. 2008). Stimulation of eosinophils can occur through an IL-5 receptor mediated pathway, which results in the stimulation of Th2 cells, which can in turn lead to the production of TSLP, IL25 and IL-5, causing a positive feedback loop (Clutterbuck, Hirst & Sanderson 1989; Clutterbuck & Sanderson 1988; Mould et al. 1997; Rosenberg, Dyer & Foster 2013). In response to cytokine stimulation, eosinophils release extracellular cytoplasmic granules which have a bactericidal effect (Dvorak et al. 1991). Some of the main proteins that the extracellular granules release are major basic protein 1 and 2, eosinophil cationic protein, eosinophil peroxidase and eosinophil derived neurotoxin (Lehrer et al. 1989). These proteins in turn stimulate other immune cells, which can lead to further bactericidal effects and the production of ROS (Lehrer et al. 1989).

Eosinophils have played a role in chronic inflammatory related diseases, such as asthma and CRS. An eosinophilic inflammation of the airways has been extensively studied in asthma (Lu et al. 2010). In an allergic airway, antigens stimulate cytokine production and Th2 cell recruitment, which result in the chemotaxis of eosinophils (Wardlaw 1999). Chronic inflammation, derived from eosinophils result in hyperresponsiveness, epithelial damage,

mucus secretion, airway remodeling and other chronic inflammatory changes (Wardlaw 1999). Eosinophilic damage was thought to be one of the underlaying pathophysiologic mechanisms in CRS, however it is evident now that non-eosinophilic factors are also present (Harlin et al. 1988; Kaliner et al. 1997; Polzehl et al. 2006).

In CRS, eosinophilia has been prominent, particularly in Caucasian patients (Berger 2000). The incidence of eosinophilia is higher in CRSwNP patients when compared to CRSsNP and controls (Jankowski et al. 2002; Lou et al. 2018; Payne, Borish & Steinke 2011; Szucs et al. 2002). This is also seen in tissue samples where eosinophils are more prominent in CRSwNP samples when compared to CRSsNP (Lou et al. 2018; Payne, Borish & Steinke 2011). Although eosinophils are not as pronounced in CRSsNP compared to CRSwNP, patients with CRSsNP who do have a high eosinophil counts have a higher burden of disease and don't respond to medical or surgical interventions (Soler et al. 2010). This association between eosinophils and polyps, suggest that eosinophils may play a key role in polyp formation. However this relationship is not prominent in polyps from Asian patients and also not in some Caucasian patients, which questions their role in polyposis (Cao et al. 2009; Payne et al. 2011). Regardless, eosinophils act as a biomarker for severe disease with poor prognosis (Tajudeen et al. 2019; Tokunaga et al. 2015).

In CRS, key steps involved in eosinophil recruitment are largely stimulated by epithelial cytokines, complement proteins, proteases, eicosanoids, stem cell factor and Type 2 cytokines (Kowalski et al. 2005; Mulligan et al. 2017; Nagarkar et al. 2013; Smith, SE et al. 2017; Van Zele et al. 2009). Key cytokines that have been shown to be involved with CRSwNP include the regulate on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) dimer, which is a cytokine that attracts monocytes and T cells and is forty times higher at a protein level in nasal

polyp tissue of CRSwNP patients than the normal nasal tissue of controls (Allen et al. 1998; Crawford et al. 2011). Furthermore, there is also an increase in IL-5, eotaxin and other cytokines and chemokines in CRSwNP, all of which have the ability to stimulate type 2 inflammation and be biomarkers for severe recalcitrant disease with a poorer clinical prognosis. (Luukkainen et al. 2018; Tajudeen et al. 2019; Tokunaga et al. 2015; Yip et al. 2019). ILC2 and Th2 cells are key-players in the signaling pathway that stimulate Type 2 immune responses (Poposki et al. 2017). Eosinophils form extracellular traps at the site of barrier damage and exerting a defense against bacteria; this however may further impair barrier integrity (Gevaert, E et al. 2017). Eosinophils can contribute to oedema formation in CRS, potentially secondary to degranulation, with the mechanism remaining unclear. It is suggested that degranulation may occur through IgA receptors crosslinking, with nasal polyps also containing higher levels of IgA (Feldman et al. 2017; Pleass et al. 2007; Van Zele et al. 2007). Eosinophils are steroid responsive cells, which could also explain why glucocorticoids have an effect in CRS (Schleimer & Bochner 1994). Oral steroids however have significant systemic effects with high morbidity. Targeting features of activated eosinophils have been suggested, with clinical trials using anti-IL-5 having shown clinical benefits and polyp eosinophilia reduction in CRSwNP patients (Bachert et al. 2017). In this study however, only half of the patients demonstrated a reduction in polyp size (Bachert et al. 2017). Contrary to this is the use of dexpramipexole, a small orally available molecule that depletes blood and respiratory tissue eosinophilia, which in CRSwNP patients decreases blood and polyp eosinophil counts, but had no significant impact on symptom scoring or polyp size (Laidlaw et al. 2019). These results suggest that eosinophils have a role in predicting disease severity and prognosis, however they are not necessary for CRS activation and therefore may only contribute partly to the underlaying pathophysiology of the disease.

4.1.1.3. Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the most abundant of granulocytes, and make up 40-70% of the white blood cells in the body (Tigner, Ibrahim & Murray 2020). Neutrophils are important in innate immunity (Mayadas, Cullere & Lowell 2014). They originate from the bone marrow, and their maturation is stimulated by cytokine granulocyte colony stimulating factor (Weisbart et al. 1987). Neutrophils act as the first line of defense for the body (Weisbart et al. 1987). When stimulated, they migrate into the tissue through a process known as diapedesis (Weisbart et al. 1987). Once activated in the connective tissue, they have a lifespan of a few days, and then they undergo apoptosis and are removed by macrophages (Weisbart et al. 1987). Neutrophils express receptors for products from the activation of the complement cascade, as well as antibodies that coat microbes (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2019). These receptors and antibodies aid in the ability of neutrophils to phagocytose microbes. Neutrophils are present in nearly all CRS cases, with higher levels observed in CF patients (Derycke et al. 2012). Despite this, the pathophysiology of neutrophils in CRS remains unclear. Neutrophilic infiltratations vary depending on the ethnic group and the absence of polyps. In Caucasians, neutrophilic infiltrate is demonstrated in CRS, with CRSsNP having slightly less infiltrate compared to CRSwNP. CRSsNP's infiltrate appears to be more distinctly neutrophilic in nature, whereas CRSwNP appears more eosinophilic in nature based on the degree of inflammation (Derycke et al. 2012). There is a subgroup of CRSwNP patients who are non-eosinophilic. It is thought that for this patient subtype, neutrophils may play a prominent pathogenic role. This can similarly be seen in other airways diseases such as 'neutrophilic asthma' (Van Drunen et al. 2009). In the Chinese population, there is both an eosinophilic and neutrophilic subgroup, however the rate of eosinophilic polyps are low compared to the Caucasian population (Zhang, N et al. 2006). In the Asian CRSsNP population, non-type 2 inflammation is more prominent,

with neutrophils being the predominant marker associated with disease severity (Kim, DW et al. 2019).

Neutrophils are prominently associated with non-type 2 inflammation; however, they can coexist with cytokines that predominate in type 2 inflammation. It is postulated that this neutrophilia may represent a physiological response against microbiota in patients with CRS (Derycke et al. 2012; Kim, DW et al. 2019; Kim, DW et al. 2016; Wang, H et al. 2018). This theory may explain why some subgroups of patients have corticosteroid resistance (Pothoven et al. 2017). The contribution of neutrophils to the development of CRS is unclear, however these cells can undergo degranulation, causing tissue disruption and a loss of barrier integrity. Conversely to this, N2 neutrophils release oncostatin M (OSM), which aids in homeostasis and epithelial repair (Morse et al. 2019; Pothoven et al. 2017; Wang, H et al. 2018). Whilst OSM repairs the epithelial lining, excess amounts or decreased follow up signaling has been associated with defective epithelial regeneration, perpetuating CRS (Kim, DW et al. 2016; Pothoven et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2018).

4.1.1.4. Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are immune cells that have a crucial role in the initiation and regulation of immune responses. They play a unique role as antigen presenting cell (APC) in both innate and adaptive immunity. Dendritic cells have PRRs on their surface, which can recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) and damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPS) triggered by antigens (Steinman 2012). Dendritic cells then capture and engulf antigens, degrading them into particles. As a result, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I and II are upregulated as the dendritic cell matures (Rodríguez-Fernández, RiolBlanco & Delgado-Martin 2010). The dendritic cell then presents the antigen particles to naïve T cells, stimulating their activation and proliferation (Rodríguez-Fernández, Riol-Blanco & Delgado-Martin 2010). Dendritic cells are present in high concentrations in lymphoid tissues such as lymph nodes, spleen and thymus, but are also present in lower concentrations in nonlymphoid organs and peripheral blood (Eckert & Schmid 1989; Hackstein et al. 2005). They are characterized by the presence of integrins CD11c, CD24 and CD103 (Schlitzer & Ginhoux 2014). Subclassification of dendritic cells can occur based on function and phenotype, such as plasmocytoid dendritic cells (pDC), and two types of myeloid dendritic cells, mDC1 and mDC2. Antigens can stimulate pDCs, such as influenza and herpes simplex virus through TLR7 and TLR9. pDCs can also be stimulated by microbial DNA and bacteria (McKenna, Beignon & Bhardwaj 2005). Once stimulated, pDCs release a range of cytokines and chemokines including TNF-a, IL-1, IL-6 and INF-a. These cytokines stimulate the activation of Th1 and NK cells, as well as B cells to produce antibodies, thus having a role in both innate and adaptive immune responses (Jego et al. 2003; Megjugorac et al. 2004). A high level of pDCs are found in the nasal mucosa, with higher numbers being found in patients who recently had an upper respiratory tract infection (Hartmann et al. 2006). In CRSwNP patients, there was a higher number of pDC cells in polypoid tissue compared to healthy controls' mucosa (Pezato et al. 2014). Patients with allergies however had lower levels of pDCs in their tissue compared to a healthy control (Hartmann et al. 2006). This was also observed in CRSwNP with allergies also having lower pDC numbers in their tissue compared to CRSwNP alone (Pezato et al. 2014).

Myeloid dendritic cells mDC1 and mDC2 express TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5 andTLR6 (Kadowaki et al. 2001). Furthermore, mDCs are also responsive to bacterial antigens such as *S. aureus* (Kadowaki et al. 2001). mDC1 express c-type leptin BDCA-1 whilst mDC2 express

BDCA-3, allowing the two to be distinguished from each other (Kadowaki et al. 2001). mDC1 produce cytokines such as IL-10, IL-12 and IL-23, stimulating pDC, cytotoxic T cells and Th1 cells, thus being involved in both the innate and adaptive immune response (Nizzoli et al. 2013; Segura et al. 2012). Whilst mDC2 are associated with a Th2 type immunity, producing mainly interferons and antiviral cytokines (Hayashi et al. 2013; Zhang, S et al. 2013). In CRSwNP, it was shown that patients had a decrease in Th1/Th2 ratio, which correlated with a lower mDC1/pDC ratio (Kirsche et al. 2010). Contrary to this, Pezato et al., (2014) found increased pDCs and mDCs in nasal polyp tissue, however in more severe cases (polyps with asthma), the number of pDCs were reduced. Furthermore, Poposki et al., (2015) found elevated levels of mDCs in CRSwNP and suggest that they may contribute indirectly to inflammation observed in CRSwNP.

4.1.1.5 Mast cells

The development of mast cells begins with the differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells into common myeloid progenitors in the bone marrow. The earliest identifiable mast cell precursors are found in the bone marrow, which express high levels of c-kit stem cell factor CD117 and are CD34 positive (Dahlin & Hallgren 2015; Willheim et al. 1995). They then migrate through the circulatory system via transendothelial migration. Once they migrate to the tissue in which they reside, they are fully matured (Gurish & Austen 2012; Okayama & Kawakami 2006). Mast cells are predominantly found on mucosal surfaces that interact with the environment, such as the sinonasal mucosa and gastrointestinal tract (Gurish & Austen 2012). The surface of mast cells expresses a range of surface receptors such as Fc receptors and TLRs, which are involved in adaptive and innate immunity respectively.

Mast cells have cell surface receptors including IgE receptors. These allow them to recognize and respond to specific antigens. When the IgE receptor binds to a B cell derived IgE, it triggers a signaling cascade leading to degranulation and release of potent mediators present in the cell's cytoplasmic granules (Siraganian 2003). These mediators include cytokines, histamine, amines, growth factors and proteoglycans. This cascade of reactions mediated by mast cells recognition of antigens, identify them as a key effector cell and important in allergy IgEmediated hypersensitivity (Williams & Galli 2000). An important IgE-mediated airway disease is asthma. Asthma has associated increased mast cell activation. Epithelial brushings of asthmatic patients have shown increased gene expression for mast cell released proteases (Dougherty et al. 2010). When the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of asthmatic patients were compared to non-asthmatics, they showed a greater level of tryptase and prostaglandin D2 which are released by mast cells (Fajt et al. 2013). Lung tissue of asthmatic patients also showed increased levels of eosinophils with ultrastructural features of degranulation (Djukanovic et al. 1992).

Mast cells have a longer life span in tissue compared to other immune cells; their ability to replenish their granules that they release allow them to be stimulated repeatedly (Fawcett 1955). Tissue based mast cells can be recruited to inflammation sites. They also have the function of maintaining epithelial barriers, by controlling permeability, cell turnover and progenitor recruitment (Groschwitz et al. 2013). In the gastrointestinal tract, mast cells can be immunosuppressive through cytokines such as TNF- α , which has effects mediated through Treg cells (Ullrich, Nghiem & Khaskina 2007). In CRS patients, mast cell degranulation is elevated in patients with CRSwNP when compared to ARS (allergic rhinitis) inferior turbinate samples, as well as healthy inferior turbinate samples (Drake-Lee & Price 1997; Loesel 2001). This is further supported by the finding that tissue fragments of CRSwNP patients compared

to controls showed upregulated mast cell mediators when stimulated with anti-IgE (Patou et al. 2009). Whilst mast cell degranulation has been associated with CRSwNP, the absolute number of mast cells when compared to healthy patients remains unaffected by CRSwNP (Loesel 2001). Further research is needed in order to characterize the masts cells' involvement within CRSwNP and whether they have an inflammatory or immunosuppressive effect.

4.1.1.6. Innate lymphoid cells

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are a subset of lymphocytes that are antigen receptor negative. They include natural killer (NK) cells, ILC1, ILC2 and ILC3 (Spits et al. 2013; Vivier et al. 2018). ILCs are involved in the production of INFy, IL-5, IL-13, IL-17A and IL-22 when stimulated (Lim et al. 2017). These cytokines are rapidly produced upon stimulation, making the ILCs a key component of the initial defense of the airway epithelial barrier. ILC2 is among the most studied of the ILC subgroups, with their development being controlled by GATA-3 transcription factor, and once developed, they produce IL-5 and IL-13 (Krabbendam et al. 2018). ILCs can also exhibit plasticity in response to local factors; ILCs can adapt their characteristics to that of other ILCs subtypes (Krabbendam et al. 2018). In response to different chemokines and cytokines, ILC2s can shift their functional characteristics to that of ILC1s to produce INFy or that of ILC3 to produce IL-17. This plasticity process is complex, with multiple signaling triggers and pathways unknown, and therefore can become easily dysregulated (Krabbendam et al. 2018). The origin of ILCs has been described as having both pan potential ILCs, as well as subset restricted potential ILCs (Lim et al. 2017). The process in which these precursor ILCs give rise to differentiated ILCs remains unclear. Environmental factors have been shown to epigenetically alter ILC's differentiating pathways and therefore alter plasticity (Lim et al. 2017). Despite this plasticity, each ILC group seems to have distinct cytokine profiles and physiological roles within Type 1, 2 and 3 inflammation (Ebbo et al. 2017).

ILC1 cells stimulate a Type 1 response by producing IFNγ in response to viruses and intracellular bacteria, and activate Th1 cells. Whilst ILC 2 cells foster a Type 2 response through cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, in response to parasites and allergies. ILC3 cells are stimulated in response to extracellular organisms and produce a Type 3 response through Th17 cells by producing IL-17 and IL-22 (Kortekaas Krohn et al. 2018; Shikhagaie et al. 2017). In CRS, ILC2 are the most studied due to their association with CRSwNP through their role in Type 2 inflammation. ILC2 have a role in the production of Type 2 cytokines which stimulate inflammation. In CRS, the identified cytokines which stimulate ILC2 cells are IL-25, IL-33, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (Dogan, Sahin & Yenisey 2019; Golebski et al. 2016; Lam, M et al. 2015; Nagarkar et al. 2013; Nagata et al. 2019; Ouyang et al. 2013; Wang, WW et al. 2018). Whilst Type 1 and Type 3 inflammation, as well as cytokines are present in subsets of CRS patients, the role and contribution of ILC1 and ILC3 is unclear. Further research within ILCs is needed to give a more comprehensive knowledge of their role in CRS.

4.2 Adaptive Immune System

Adaptive immunity is a type of immune response that is specific to a particular pathogen, and it is activated when the body encounters a foreign substance such as a virus or bacteria. This type of immune response involves the recognition of a foreign antigen by immune cells, which then trigger a series of complex reactions, leading to the destruction or neutralization of the invading pathogen. The adaptive immune response has two major components, the humoral response which involves the production of antibodies by B cells, and the cell-mediated immune response, which is T cell mediated. One of the key features of adaptive immunity is its ability to remember and recognize specific pathogens, which provides long-lasting immunity against future infections by the same pathogen.

4.1.1 Cells of the Adaptive Immune System

4.2.1.1 B cells

B cells are an essential component of the adaptive immune system, responsible for producing antibodies against a wide variety of pathogens. The primary function of B cells is to recognize and bind to antigens on the surface of pathogens or other foreign substances. B cells are formed in the bone marrow from hematopoietic stem cells. The process of B cell development is a complex and regulated process that involves several stages that ensure the production of functional B cells that can recognize and respond to foreign antigens while avoiding selfreactivity (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2014). These include pro-B cells, pre-B cells, immature B cells, and mature B cells (Goodnow et al. 2010). Pro-B cells are the earliest stage of B cell development. These cells express the genes that are necessary for B cell development and differentiation. Pro-B cells then differentiate to pre-B cells, which begin to express the B cell receptor (BCR) on their surface (Abbas, Abul K. et al. 2021). The B cell receptor is a protein that is unique to each B cell and helps the B cell recognize specific antigens (Goodnow et al. 2010). The next stage of B cell development is the immature B cell stage. In this stage, the B cell then undergoes a process of negative selection, which eliminates B cells that would react with self-antigens (Janeway et al. 2002). This is important because if B cells were to react to self-antigens, they could cause autoimmune diseases (Janeway et al. 2002). Only B cells that pass the negative selection process continue to mature (Murphy, K & Weaver 2016). Finally,

mature B cells leave the bone marrow and enter the bloodstream, where they circulate throughout the body in search of antigens (Paul 2012).

Upon antigen binding, B cells differentiate into antibody secreting plasmablasts, plasma cells or memory B cells (Ettinger et al. 2005; Tarlinton 2006). The process of B cell activation is complex and involves multiple signaling pathways and checkpoints. The initial activation of B cells occurs in secondary lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes and spleen, where B cells encounter antigens presented by APCs such as dendritic cells. B cells can also be activated by soluble antigens, such as viral particles or bacterial toxins, which can bind directly to the BCR on the surface of the B cell. The activation of B cells requires the cooperation of several signaling pathways, including the BCR signaling pathway, the CD40-CD40L pathways, and the Toll-like receptor (TLR) pathway. These pathways activate various transcription factors such as NF-K β and IRF4, which regulate the expression of genes involved in B cell proliferation, differentiation, and antibody production. B cells can differentiate into different subsets of plasma cells depending on the nature of the antigen and the cytokine environment. For example, B cells can differentiate into short-lived plasma cells that produce low-affinity antibodies in response to acute infections, or into long lived plasma cells that produce highaffinity antibodies and provide long-term immunity against recurrent infections.

In addition to their role in antibody production, B cells have been shown to play a crucial role in regulating the immune system. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) are a subset of B cells that can suppress the activity of other immune cells, including T cells and dendritic cells. Bregs can secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), which can inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promote immune tolerance. Recent studies have shown that Bregs play a critical role in the prevention of autoimmune diseases and the maintenance of immune homeostasis. B cells and immunoglobulin deficiencies have been associated with CRS, particularly CRSsNP (Tan et al. 2018). It is suggested that immunoglobulin deficiency can result in recurrent acute sinusitis, which can lead to CRSsNP (Keswani et al. 2017). Immunoglobulin deficiencies however are not present in the majority of CRSsNP patients (Keswani et al. 2017). Conversely, in CRSwNP patients, there is B cell activation and excess antibody production (Hulse et al. 2013; Ickrath et al. 2018; Tsybikov et al. 2015; Wang, M et al. 2019). The polyps from CRSwNP patients have higher levels of B cells and plasma cells, as well as immunoglobulins IgA, IgG, IgM and IgE (Feldman et al. 2017; Gevaert, P et al. 2005; Ickrath et al. 2018; Lau et al. 2017; Tsybikov et al. 2019; Xiao et al. 2016). B-cell activating factor (BAFF) is a cytokine that stimulates B cell antibody production, and is elevated in polyp tissue in CRSwNP patients (Kato et al. 2008). BAFF is also associated with IgE class switching to IgA, and autoantibody production. IgA autoantibody levels are elevated in nasal polyp when compared to controls in CRSwNP patients (Tan et al. 2017). Further research within B cells is needed to give a more comprehensive knowledge of their role in CRS.

4.2.1.2. T cells

T cells have an important role in immunity, and having multiple functions against intracellular and extracellular infections (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2019). T cells have a unique T cell receptor that they express on their surface (Germain 2002; von Boehmer, Teh & Kisielow 1989). This is a result of a positive selection process that occurs within the thymus (Germain 2002; von Boehmer, Teh & Kisielow 1989). T cells start out as naïve T cells and undergo a differentiation process into various subtypes. They are activated by APCs through the recognition of specific antigens presented on the APC surface by the TCR. Once they encounter the antigen, they then display them on their surface via the MHC protein (Townsend & Bodmer 1989). This activation leads to T cell proliferation known as clonal expansion, and subsequent migration to sites where the antigen is present. Activated T cells differentiate into various effector and memory T cell subsets with distinct functions and cytokine profiles. These include CD 4+, CD8+, cytotoxic T cells and helper T cells (Daniels et al. 2006). Once the effector T cells eliminate the antigen, most will undergo apoptosis, however memory T cells will survive and lay dormant in tissue, such as the sinus mucosa, until activated again in response to the same antigen (Sallusto et al. 1999; Sathaliyawala et al. 2013).

4.2.1.3. Th1 and Th2 cells

Th1 and Th2 cells differentiate from CD4+ effector cells (Mosmann, TR et al. 1986). One of their major roles is in signaling other immune cells such as CD8+ killer cells (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2019; Sallusto 2016). This is achieved with the interaction between TCR on CD4+ cells and the MHC II on APC (Tao et al. 1997). Then multiple transcription factors are activated, which results in their differentiation into Th1 cells, such as T-box transcription factor (T-bet) (Afkarian et al. 2002; Oestreich, Huang & Weinmann 2011). T-bet promotes the differentiation of Th1 cells, and also has an inhibitory effect on Th17 cells which have opposing roles (Lazarevic et al. 2011). Th1 cells produce IFN- γ , TNF- α and TNF- β , which is involved in the elimination of pathogens (Commins, Borish & Steinke 2010; Sallusto 2016). Th1 cells then recruit phagocytes, including macrophages to the site of inflammation and clear the pathogens (Commins, Borish & Steinke 2010; Melzer et al. 2008; Murray, HW et al. 1985). These cytokines also lead to upregulated antigen presentation, as well as B cell class switching to produce IgG subclasses and neutrophil activation (Commins, Borish & Steinke 2010; Sallusto 2016). Th1 cells additionally produce IL-1, which in combination with TNF- α is

involved in the development of Treg and CD8+ T cells, which are both part of the adaptive immune response (Hernandez-Pando & Rook 1994; Hwang, Hong & Glimcher 2005; Malek 2003; Mitchell, Ravkov & Williams 2010).

Th2 cells are stimulated in response to parasitic infections, and promote an eosinophilic response through IgE and mast cells, resulting in the elimination of the parasites (Abbas, Abul K, Lichtman & Pillai 2019; O'Shea & Paul 2010). CD4+ cells differentiate into Th2 cells through an IL-4 and IL-2 dependent pathway. The transcription factors involved in this process include STAT6, which is activated by IL-4. STAT6 then upregulates GATA3 (Kaplan et al. 1996; Usui et al. 2003). GATA3 acts as a regulator which enhances Th2 cytokine production, whilst down regulates STAT4 and inhibits Th1 differentiation (Usui et al. 2003). Th2 cells are predominantly involved in an eosinophilic response, which is representative of inflammation and allergic response. Common cytokines involved in this are IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL10, IL-13, and IL-15 (Henry, Inclan-Rico & Siracusa 2017). Type 2 cytokines stimulate the alternate activation of macrophages, while acting to shut down the classical pathway of inflammation. This shuts down a prolonged inflammatory response, reducing the amount of damage caused. The M2 macrophages produce growth factors which promote fibroblasts, resulting in fibrosis and collagen synthesis, and promote tissue repair. In CRS, this protective function goes awry, resulting in an prolonged and excessive response (Tan, Min & Hulse 2017). Elevated numbers of Th subsets have been associated with CRS (Derycke et al. 2014). In particular, Th2 cells with eosinophils elevation is prominent in Caucasian CRSwNP, whilst Th1 with neutrophilia as more prominent in the Asian population and CF patients (Derycke et al. 2014; Tan et al. 2017; Wang, Xiangdong et al. 2016). It is suggested however that Type 2 inflammation is emerging in Asia (Derycke et al. 2014). This observation occurs more frequently in Asian populations that have adopted a Western lifestyle, however the underlaying pathogenesis of this is poorly understood. Further studies into this population may yield environmental factors which contribute towards CRS.

Th1 and Th2 cells involvement in CRS were initially described by Hamilos et al., (1995), who showed an increase in cytokines production in both allergic and non-allergic CRS patients. It was shown that tissue eosinophilia was prominent in both allergic and non-allergic subgroups, with higher levels of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-3, IL-4 and IL-5 in tissues of allergic subgroups of patients, and higher tissue densities of GM-CSF, IL-3 and INF γ (Hamilos et al. 1995). The allergic/Th2 subgroup was associated with atopy (Hamilos et al. 1995). A follow up study by Gevaert et al., (Gevaert, P et al. 2009) showed an IL-5 upregulation was independent of atopy status. A proposed basis for this difference is ethnic origins. In a Caucasian population, INFy is associated with CRSsNP patients with a Th1 endotype, whereas IL-5 is elevated in patients with CRSwNP and a Th2 endotype (Van Zele et al. 2006). Further studies have shown that for CRSwNP, the Asian population has a predominance of Th1/17 endotypes, whereas the Caucasian population has a more predominant Th2 endotype (Zhang, N et al. 2008). Both ethnic populations however have a Th1 predominance in the CRSsNP population (Fokkens, WJ et al. 1990; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2012). Multiple Th subsets can be activated in a single CRS patient, as stimulation of the involved cytokines may suppress or augment different subsets. This may be a normal immune-response, or it could affect CRS development, clinical presentation, or treatment course. Further research is needed to understand their contribution to CRS (Stevens et al. 2019; Wang, M et al. 2019).

4.2.1.4. Th17 cells

Th1 and Th2 cells were the first CD4+ effector cells to be discovered; more recently however, Th17 cells have been discovered and shown to be different from Th1 and Th2 cells due to their production of IL-17 (Harrington et al. 2005). Th17 cells play a part in the adaptive immune system via the induction of inflammation and can therefore serve a protective or a pathogenic role. Inflammation is an important part of the adaptive immune response, however, sustained inflammation can result in tissue damage and a disruption of homeostasis in the mucosal barrier. CC motif 6 chemokine receptor protein (CCR6+) is a chemokine receptor which distinguishes Th17 cells (Brucklacher-Waldert et al. 2009). Th17 cells cause inflammation through the upregulation of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines (Fossiez et al. 1996). The predominant cytokines produced by Th17 are IL-17A, IL-17-F, IL-21 and IL-22. IL-17A and IL-17F causes inflammation by promoting pro inflammatory chemokines and cytokines (Fossiez et al. 1996). IL-7A's role is thought to be a protective one, whereas IL-7F is thought to be more destructive. IL-17A has been shown to upregulate the release of chemokines that signal the recruitment of fungicidal peptides and neutrophils (Laan et al. 1999; Puel et al. 2012). An in vivo inflammatory bowel disease model showed IL-17A modulates T cell mucosal inflammation through the inhibition of Th1 cell differentiation, as well as reinforcing tight junctions by inducing mucin and claudin expression (Gevaert, P et al. 2009; Kinugasa et al. 2000).

The cytokine IL-21 acts as a pro-inflammatory cytokine and results in the stimulation of INF γ , IL-6 and TNF- α (De Nitto et al. 2010; Neurath 2014). In mice, IL-21 was found to be pro-inflammatory by stimulating follicular T helper cells, thus being pathogenic in an ulcerative colitis model (Yu et al. 2015). Conversely, IL-21 knockout mice are largely protected against colitis (Yu et al. 2015). In active SLE patients, there is a 4 fold higher IL-21 mRNA expression

in CD4+ T cells, which could contribute to further generation of plasma cells (Nakou et al. 2013). In Crohn's disease patients, IL-21 is pro-inflammatory through an INF γ -independent mechanism, resulting in ongoing Th1 and Th17 mucosal immune response (Monteleone et al. 2005). IL-22 in contrast, has a protective function; it does this by preventing tissue damage and promoting tissue repair through the induction of proliferative pathways, antimicrobial peptides and anti-apoptotic pathways (Kim, K et al. 2014; Li et al. 2014; Wang, Xin et al. 2014).

Th17 cell responses are associated with a number of auto-immune inflammatory diseases including SLE (Ye, L et al. 2015; Zhao, Y et al. 2010). In CRS, IL-17 is increased in the Chinese population; this however has not been found in the broader population (Cao et al. 2009; Van Bruaene et al. 2008; Wei, P et al. 2014). This suggests that IL-17 and therefore potentially Th17 may have a possible role in CRS in the Chinese population (Cao et al. 2009; Wei, P et al. 2014). Th17 cells have been found to be increased in CRSwNP patients, suggesting they may have an association with polyp development (Miljkovic et al. 2016). Further investigation needs to be conducted in order to characterize the association between Th17 cells and their immunological actions within CRS.

4.2.1.5. Treg

Treg cells are a T cell subset which have a role in modulating the immune response (Lefrançois et al. 2016; Macri et al. 2014; Pant & Macardle 2014; Sakaguchi et al. 2013; Tan et al. 2011; Tsybikov et al. 2015). Treg cells are characterized by the expression of FOXP3 and the surface markers CD25 and CTLA-4 (Sakaguchi et al. 2008; Wing et al. 2008). Differentiation of Treg cells can occur through differences in development. Tregs that develop in peripheral lymphoid

organs that underwent antigen priming are known as inducible Tregs, whilst Tregs released from the thymus are known as tTregs. Treg cells are CD4+.

Treg cells with high expression of CD4, CD25 and CD127 surface markers have a suppressive function on T cell effector responses (Hartigan-O'Connor et al. 2007). They exert this effect through the production of TGF- β and IL-10 cytokines, as well as direct cell contact. TGF- β and IL10 downregulate immune responses and increase self-tolerance (Duchmann & Zeitz 2006; Fowler & Powrie 1999). Treg cells have a function in autoimmune disease such as ulcerative colitis. They have also been observed to have a role in CRS, however there is inconsistency in the literature as to their exact role (Duchmann & Zeitz 2006; Hawrylowicz & O'garra 2005). One study, which defines Treg cells as CD4+CD25+FoxP3+, observed an increase in the number of Treg cells in the mucosa of CRS patients (Sharma et al. 2012). Whilst two other studies, which defined Treg cells as only FoxP3+, observed a decrease FoxP3+ mRNA in CRS patients (Cao et al. 2009; Van Bruaene et al. 2008). Further research is required to understand the role Treg cells have in CRS.

5.Treatment for CRS

The treatment of CRS involves a combination of appropriate medical therapy and surgical management. Since CRS is primarily an inflammatory disorder, topically administered intranasal corticosteroids (INCS) are regarded as the most-effective treatment along with saline nasal irrigation (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). In addition to the standard methods of application, such as nasal sprays or drops, the off-label use of glucocorticoid irrigation has shown to have a comparable safety and side effect profile. A recent review even suggests that it may be more

effective than sprays, particularly in a post-operative setting due to increased drug delivery to the sinuses (Grayson & Harvey 2019). In addition to local therapies, antibiotics are often prescribed in cases of CRS, especially during acute exacerbations. However, it is crucial that antibiotics are prescribed after an appropriate swab for culture has been taken to enable culture-based prescribing (Nagi & Desrosiers 2005). In recent years, with an increase in our understanding of the pathophysiology of CRS and high level of evidence studies assessing commonly prescribed medical treatments, there has been a shift in terminology from "maximal medical therapy" to "appropriate medical therapy" before considering surgical intervention (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020).

5.1. Corticosteroids

Given that CRS is associated with persistent inflammation, corticosteroids play a crucial role in the medical treatment pathway before considering surgical options. Corticosteroids can be administered either topically, orally, or in combination. Oral corticosteroids have demonstrated effectiveness in treating CRSwNP, with several placebo-controlled studies showing significant improvement in symptoms and endoscopic findings (Alobid, Benitez, et al. 2006; Benítez et al. 2006; Vaidyanathan et al. 2011; Vaidyanathan et al. 2010; Van Zele et al. 2010). However, there is a lack of substantial evidence for their efficacy in cases of CRSsNP (Howard & Lal 2013; Poetker et al. 2013). Oral corticosteroids are typically prescribed for short courses, whist on oral corticosteroids patients report significant benefit, however the systemic side effect profile limits prolonged usage (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2012; Van Zele et al. 2010).

5.2. Topical corticosteroids

Topical corticosteroids have demonstrated significant benefits in the treatment of CRS (Jorissen & Bachert 2009). They are often used in combination with or following oral systemic corticosteroids to effectively manage inflammation (Alobid, Benitez, et al. 2006; Benítez et al. 2006; Vaidyanathan et al. 2011). Numerous studies have shown that topical corticosteroids are effective in improving symptoms (Giger et al. 2003; Lund et al. 2004; Parikh et al. 2001) and endoscopic examination findings (Jorissen & Bachert 2009; Woodworth et al. 2004). A meta-analysis from the 2012 EPOS review revealed that topical corticosteroids led to a decrease in the recurrence rate of CRS with polyps, improved nasal airflow, and reduced polyp size (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2012). Studies have shown lower surgical revision rates with corticosteroid sprays, with further improvement in endoscopic scoring observed when corticosteroids were delivered using nasal irrigation (Harvey, RJ et al. 2018). Studies comparing the delivery method between sprays, aerosols, tubihaler, drops and irrigation, favoured nasal irrigation and drops over sprays (Demirel et al. 2008; Harvey, RJ et al. 2018; JOHANSEN et al. 1993; Tos et al. 1998). In post endoscopic sinus surgery (ESS) patients, high volume nasal irrigation achieves significantly better penetration compared to other delivery methods (Harvey, RJ et al. 2008). Nasal corticosteroid irrigation, particularly budesonide, is the most popular choice of topical corticosteroid delivery in post operative patients, showing long term symptom and endoscopic improvements, particularly in patients with tissue eosinophilia (Chen, X et al. 2016; Harvey, RJ et al. 2018; Kang et al. 2017; Snidvongs et al. 2012; Tait et al. 2018).Furthermore, in the EPOS 2020 review, it was suggested that while corticosteroid treatment results in significant improvement in symptom and nasal polyp scores whilst patients are using the medication, the effects likely only last for up to 3 months after treatment cessation (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020).

The anti-inflammatory effects of topical corticosteroids are thought to be mediated through various mechanisms:

- 1. Reduction of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells by inhibiting leukocyte adhesion and chemotaxis (Hamilos et al. 1999; Tingsgaard et al. 1999).
- Enhancement of apoptosis, leading to a decrease in eosinophil viability (Meagher et al. 1996; Mullol et al. 1997; Saunders et al. 1999).
- 3. Reduction in eosinophil products (Jahnsen et al. 1999; Woodworth et al. 2004)
- Decrease in pro- inflammatory cytokines, particularly Th2 cytokines (Hamilos et al. 1999; Rudack, Bachert & Stoll 1999; Woodworth et al. 2004)

Additionally, a study by Goggin et al (2014) found that steroids inhibited the growth of *S. aureus* biofilms, potentially due to their inflammatory modulation on the nasal mucosa.

Despite the significant effects of corticosteroids, there remains some uncertainty regarding their long-term effects on CRS. Particularly when ceased.

5.3. Antibiotics

Bacteria are acknowledged to play a possible role in the pathogenesis of CRS. CRS accounts for the fifth most common reason for antibiotic prescriptions (McCaig & Hughes 1995). Current recommendations suggest treating acute infections on top of CRS, as indicated by the presence of mucopus. In cases where mucopurulence is present on examination, a swab should be taken for culture, and the antibiotic regimen should be tailored to the bacterial susceptibility (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). However, due to the limited quantity of evidence, it remains uncertain whether short-term antibiotics have a substantial impact compared to a placebo on long term disease control (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2012; Soler et al. 2013).

Currently, there is limited data regarding the long-term use of antibiotics in CRS (Soler et al. 2013). Based on current evidence, long-term antibiotic therapy, specifically prolonged macrolide treatment, in addition to standard treatment, may be considered in cases of refractory CRS. This approach has shown effectiveness in improving symptoms, as well as endoscopic and rhinometric parameters, when used for over 12 weeks (Harvey, RJ, Wallwork & Lund 2009; Wallwork et al. 2006). Ragab et al. (2004) also found that long-term erythromycin, when combined with intranasal corticosteroids and alkaline douches, led to improvements in clinical and endoscopic parameters. A meta-analysis by Shen et al. (2018) showed that Asians, who typically have a non-type 2 CRS endotype, that were treated with longterm LDLT macrolides have a better treatment effect compared to non-Asians. A similar effect was also observed by Lin et al. (2020) where CRSwNP patients without tissue eosinophilia showed greater benefit from low dose clarithromycin combined with oral corticosteroids, compared to oral steroids alone over a 12 week period post operatively. Further research into long term antibiotic regimes, especially macrolides, and the associated effects on non-type 2 and type 2 endotypes is required.

Topical antibiotics are generally not recommended as a part of routine treatment for CRS (Soler et al. 2013). They continue to be used however to treat infective exacerbations not responsive to oral antibiotics. If prescribed, topical antimicrobial therapies should be culture directed, with swabs taken with endoscopic guidance preferred compared to swabs taken without endoscopic guidance (Desrosiers & Kilty 2008).

5.4. Anti-Leukotrienes

Anti-leukotrienes, including zafirlukast and montelukast, are often prescribed in cases of aspirin exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD). These medications work by antagonizing the CysLT1 receptor. While anti-leukotrienes are effective in treating asthma, there is limited data supporting their use in chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS), and they may not show a significant difference in efficacy for patients with or without aspirin sensitivity (Smith, TL & Sautter 2014). A review conducted by Smith & Sautter (2014) suggest that montelukast, when used as an adjuvant therapy alongside corticosteroids, may provide some benefit for CRSwNP patients.

5.5. Biologicals (Monoclonal Antibodies)

Monoclonal antibodies represent one of the most recent advancements in CRS treatment. They work by targeting specific cytokines or pathways involved in inflammation and disease progression. However, their current use in CRS is limited due to high costs and accessibility challenges. Dupilumab currently has the highest level of success in CRSwNP, significantly reducing polyp size, Lund-Mackay scores, and severity of symptoms as observed in LIBERTY NP SINUS-24 and LIBERTY NP SINUS-52 phase 3 trials (Bachert et al. 2019). Mepolizumab and reslizumab have shown promise in treating severe polyposis patients by reducing polyp size and eosinophilic cationic protein levels, with the most significant responses observed in patients with elevated IL-5 levels (Gevaert, P et al. 2006; Gevaert, P et al. 2011).

For patients with CRS combined with AERD, elevated IgE levels are commonly associated. Omalizumab, a monoclonal antibody, functions by neutralizing IgE. Research by Gevaert et al. (2013) demonstrated that omalizumab led to a reduction in polyp size and a decrease in the severity of upper respiratory symptoms in individuals with CRSwNP and asthma. However, when used in combination with maximal medical therapy, omalizumab did not provide additional benefits compared to maximal medical therapy alone (Pinto et al. 2010). Currently, biologics are recommended for a limited subset of patients who have bilateral polyps, a history of prior endoscopic sinus surgery, and meet specific criteria, including evidence of Type 2 inflammation, the need for systemic corticosteroids or contraindication to systemic steroids, significantly impaired quality of life, significant loss of smell, and a comorbid diagnosis of asthma (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Recently, in Australia, mepolizumab has been approved for usage in patients with CRSwNP, with severe symptom and endoscopic scores, who have had prior endoscopic sinus surgery. In this subset of patients, mepolizumab has resulted in reduced polyp size, decreased symptom scoring and a reduction in need for further surgery (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2023; Han et al. 2021).

Monoclonal antibodies usage has rapidly increased in the recent years and will continue to increase as regulatory bodies approve it for funding in the treatment of CRS.

5.6. Antifungals

The use of antifungals in the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) gained attention following the proposal of the fungal theory by Ponikau et al., (1999). Subsequently, Ponikau

(2002) suggested that intranasal amphotericin B was effective in treating CRS in a majority of patients (38 out of 51). However, since then, antifungals have undergone extensive research, with multiple randomized controlled trials discouraging their use for CRS treatment (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Sacks IV et al. 2012; Soler et al. 2013). Antifungals are associated with significant side effects and offer minimal benefit in the context of CRS. An exception to this may be AFS. In AFS patients treated with oral itraconazole, multiple retrospective studies have reported improvements in symptoms (Chan, Genoway & Javer 2008; Rains III & Mineck 2003; Seiberling & Wormald 2009). Additionally, Khalil et al. (2011) observed a reduced recurrence of AFS in patients using intranasal fluconazole compared to nonantifungal controls in post-operative patients. However, it is important to note that antifungals come with a high side effect profile, and further research is necessary to determine their appropriate indication in CRS and its subset of AFS patients.

5.7. Saline irrigation

Saline irrigation is a beneficial practice for CRS patients as it helps prevent the accumulation of secretions, enhances mucociliary clearance, reduces obstruction, and improve airway patency (Hauptman & Ryan 2007). The symptomatic improvements in CRS patients are supported by systematic reviews and consensus guidelines (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020; Harvey, R et al. 2007). There doesn't appears to be a significant difference in treatment effectiveness based on the concentration of saline used; however, hypertonic saline may be associated with nasal burning and irritation (Hauptman & Ryan 2007).

5.8 Surgery

Surgery mainly aims to remove nasal obstruction, improving ventilation and access for postoperative topical therapies. Surgery also facilitates representative tissue sampling within the sinuses to allow for histological analysis and personalized treatment in the post-operative period. However, even after surgical intervention, recurrence rates are high with some studies reporting up to 78.9% in CRSwNP (Calus et al. 2019).

5.9. Treatment Summary

To date, only topical corticosteroids and biologics offer long term benefit in the treatment of CRS. As there is no definitive cure for CRS, pharmacotherapies focus on disease management through inflammation reduction and treatment of infective exacerbations. The most significant challenge in preventing recurrence after endoscopic sinus surgery lies in controlling the inflammation that drives the disease. Therefore, research into medical management strategies is imperative to mitigate disease recurrance.

6.Mesalazine

Mesalazine, also known as mesalamine or 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA), is a medication used to treat inflammatory bowel disease, including ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (Böhm & Kruis 2014). Mesalazine was originally created after sulfasalazine was found to be effective in treating ulcerative colitis (UC) (Svartz 1942). Sulfasalazine has a poor side effect profile, with up to 30% of patients being unable to tolerate it and oligospermia often being a limiting factor in the treatment of male patients. (Nielsen 1982). It was determined by Khan et al (1977) that the 5-aminosalicylate moiety is the active moiety in UC. The 5-ASA was then converted into mesalazine, which lacked the sulphapyridine carrier molecule and the associated side effects. In comparison to sulfasalazine or olsalazine, mesalazine is a relatively safe drug (Loftus Jr, Kane & Bjorkman 2004). Mesalazine is associated with adverse effects in less than 7% of patients with Crohn's disease and UC, which is comparable to placebo (Di Paolo et al. 2001). Side effects include vomiting, nausea, headaches, diarrhea, abdominal pain, and a rash. Rarer adverse effects associated with this drug, include pancreatitis, hepatotoxicity, pneumonitis, and intestinal nephritis (Foster et al. 2003; Ransford & Langman 2002; Stein & Hanauer 2000; Van Staa et al. 2004). Mesalazine can be safely desensitised in patients who have reacted hypersensitively to it (Tolia 1992).

Mesalazine can be administered orally or rectally, with oral formulations demonstrating similar levels of effectiveness. Both oral and topical forms of mesalazine (such as enema, foam, and suppositories) have proven to be effective either as standalone treatments or when combined with oral or rectal administration for managing active ulcerative colitis, as well as for sustaining remission (Marteau et al. 2005). The primary action of mesalazine is believed to be localized at the site of inflammation, particularly within the colon (Iacucci, de Silva & Ghosh 2010). This is partly attributed to the presence of N-acetyltransferases in the epithelial cells of the small bowel and colon, which efficiently metabolize mesalazine into the product acetyl 5-aminosalicylate. It is believed that this metabolite lacks significant anti-inflammatory activity (Allgayer et al. 1989; Ireland, Priddle & Jewell 1990).

Mesalazine is useful in controlling active inflammation and maintaining remission in inflammatory bowel disease (Ye, B & van Langenberg 2015). Recent evidence suggests that the anti-inflammatory properties of 5-ASA may be, in part, attributed to its ability to inhibit the production of key mediators like cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, which are notably associated with type 1 inflammation, which does form a subset of patients with CRS (Egan et al. 1999; Kaiser, Yan & Polk 1999; Mahida et al. 1991; Rachmilewitz et al. 1992; Stenson & Lobos 1982). Additionally, it is proposed to operate through mechanisms such as activating peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (Rousseaux et al. 2005), and acting as an antioxidant and free radical scavenger (Ahnfelt-Rønne et al. 1990; Kruis et al. 2003). Nevertheless, the precise pharmacological mechanisms remain not yet fully elucidated (Böhm & Kruis 2014).

Mesalazine suppositories and enemas are widely recommended as the standard therapy for both induction and maintaining remission in cases of inflammatory bowel disease (Bergman & Parkes 2006). This recommendation is strongly supported by the three largest randomized controlled trials focused on mesalazine in ulcerative colitis. These trials demonstrated that doses equal to or greater than 2g per day were notably more effective in inducing remission in cases of moderately active UC compared to a placebo (Hanauer et al. 1993; Schroeder, Tremaine & Ilstrup 1987; Sninsky et al. 1991). Furthermore, various doses of topical rectal 5-ASA (ranging from 1 to 4.8g/day) have proven effective in treating active distal ulcerative colitis. They also demonstrate clear advantages over placebo in terms of inducing clinical, endoscopic, and histopathological remission (Zhao, X et al. 2017). Additionally, a meta-analysis suggested that the combination of mesalazine and cortisone (5-ASA 1.5 to 2.0g/d +

BDP 3mg/d) had the highest likelihood of being the most effective treatment for inducing clinical and endoscopic remission (Zhao, X et al. 2017).

As mesalazine operates as an aminosalicylate with anti-inflammatory properties, its direct contact with mucosal surfaces prompts the question of whether this pharmacological agent could also provide benefits in the treatment of the mucosal inflammation seen in patient with CRS, particularly those with Type 1 inflammation who are typically steroid resistant.

Given its established safety profile, even in relatively high doses (up to 1000mg) (Dignass et al. 2018), the risk associated with local application on the nasal mucosa and paranasal sinuses is likely to be very low. Mesalazine holds an FDA class B classification for drug safety during pregnancy, and only minimal levels of 5-ASA are detected in breast milk (Biedermann et al. 2012). A study by Bell (1997) examined the safety of mesalazine in 16 pregnant individuals reported no relapses and 19 successful full-term pregnancies without complications. Currently, there is a dearth of literature regarding the safety of topically applied mesalazine on the nasal mucosa, as well as its topical use in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis.

This study endeavors to assess the safety and efficacy of mesalazine as a potential treatment option for CRS, with focus on the type 1 inflammatory endotype.

CHAPTER 2: An *in vitro* study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human nasoepithelial cells

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	An <i>in vitro</i> study evaluating the safety o	of mesalazine on human nasoepithelial cells
Publication Status	Published Submitted for Publication	 Accepted for Publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	International Journal of Molecular Science	'S

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	William Murphy
Contribution to the Paper	Primary investigator of the study. This included patient consent, sample collection, carrying out experiment, analyzing results and writing the manuscript.
Overall percentage (%)	80%
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.
Signature	Date 22/1/24

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

	ad 8.1			
Name of Co-Author	Sha Liu			
Contribution to the Paper	Results analysis, figure and table creation, manuscript review			
Signature	,		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Shari Javadiyan
Contribution to the Paper	Method design, experiments, results analysis

Signature	Date	23/1/24
	2010	

Name of Co-Author	Erich Vyskoeil
Contribution to the Paper	Concept design and literature review
Signature	Date 22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Sholeh Feizi		
Contribution to the Paper	Methdology design, experiment		
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Claudio Callejas		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept and literature review		
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Wormald
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising and manuscript review
	20/1/24
Signature	Date 29/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Vreugde
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising and manuscript review
Signature	Date 25/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Psaltis
Contribution to the Paper	Overall supervision and manuscript review
Signature	Date 29/1/24
An *in vitro* study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human nasoepithelial cells

William Murphy ^{1,2}, Sha Liu ^{1,2}, Shari Javadiyan ^{1,2}, Erich Vyskocil^{1,3}, Sholeh Feizi ^{1,2}, Claudio Callejas^{4,5}, Peter-John Wormald ^{1,2}, Sarah Vreugde ^{1,2}, Alkis J Psaltis ^{1,2.*}

1: Department of Surgery-Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Basil Hetzel Institute for Translational Health Research, Central Adelaide Local Health Network, Woodville South, Australia

2 : The Department of Surgery, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

3: Department of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

4: Department of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, United States of America

5: Department of Otolaryngology, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

*Correspondence

Professor Alkis J Psaltis

Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, the University of Adelaide.

Running title: Mesalazine's safety and anti-inflammatory efficacy in vitro.

Keywords: Chronic rhinosinusitis, IL-6, inflammation, mesalazine , TNF- α

Word count: 3457

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest that are relevant to this paper.

AJP is a consultant for Medtronic and Neurent and receives a speaker's honorarium for Sequiris, Storz and Sanofi, GSK and a shareholder for Chitogel.

PJW is a consultant for Neilmed, Stryker, Neurent, receives royalties from Integra and is a shareholder for Chitogel.

FUNDING

Not Applicable

Abstract

Background:

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is a disease characterised by inflammation of the nasal and paranasal cavities. It is a widespread condition with considerable morbidity for patients. Current treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis consists of appropriate medical therapy followed by surgery in medically resistant patients. Although oral steroids are effective they are associated with significant morbidity and disease recurrence is common when discontinued. The development of additional steroid sparing therapies is therefore needed. Mesalazine is a commonly used therapeutic in inflammatory bowel disease, which shares a similar disease profile with chronic rhinosinusitis. This exploratory *in vitro* study aims to investigate whether Mesalazine could be repurposed to a nasal wash, which is safe on human nasoepithelial cells, and retains its anti-inflammatory effects.

Methods:

CRS patients' human nasal epithelial cells (HNECs) were collected. HNECs were grown at an air-liquid interface (ALIs) and in a monolayer and challenged with mesalazine or a non medicated control. Transepithelial electrical resistance, paracellular permeability and toxicity were measured to assess epithelial integrity and safety. The anti-inflammatory effects of mesalazine on release of IL-6 and TNF- α were analysed using THP-1 cells.

Results:

Mesalazine did not impact the barrier function of HNEC-ALIs and was not toxic when applied to HNECs or THP-1 cells at concentrations up to 20 mM. Mesalazine at concentrations of 0.5 and 1 mM significantly inhibited TNF- α release by THP-1 cells.

Conclusion:

Mesalazine effectively decreases TNF- α secretion from THP-1 cells, indicating its possibility of anti-inflammatory properties. The safety profile of mesalazine at doses up to 20 mM suggests that it is safe when apply topically on HNECs.

1. Introduction

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is defined as chronic paranasal sinus mucosal inflammation (Benninger et al. 2003) lasting over 12 weeks with characteristic clinical manifestations. It affects around 10% of western populations, making it an extremely prevalent disease (Habib et al. 2019; Hamilos 2011; Hastan et al. 2011). CRS causes nasal obstruction, discharge, facial pain, headache, and altered or impaired sense of smell and taste (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Patients require long-term monitoring, intensive care, and suffer a substantially diminished quality of life (Rudmik & Smith 2011). Antibiotics, corticosteroids, and saline nasal irrigations are commonly used to release the symptom of CRS. These treatments can be ineffective in some cases. whilst, the emergency of antibiotic resistance can hinder the efficacy of antibiotics in clinical setting (Hsu, Lanza & Kennedy 1998; Young et al. 2012). In such instances, surgical intervention is required (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Surgical procedures may alleviate symptoms and facilitate disease control, although disease recurrence cannot be prevented (Matsuwaki et al. 2008).

Chronic sinonasal inflammation involves the secretion of numerous inflammatory markers and can be associated with the development of nasal polyps (Daines & Orlandi 2010; Phan et al. 2015). Eosinophilic inflammation commonly characterizes the inflammatory response associated with CRS and has been well studied. Recently, the role of macrophages in the inflammatory process has gained increasing interest. Following an infection, macrophages in peripheral tissue (such as the sinonasal mucosa) function as immune system sentries and produce IL-1 β , TNF-a, and IL-6 (Ocaña & Reglero 2012). The secretion of these cytokines is elevated in the context of CRS (Lennard et al. 2000; Xu, R et al. 2007). CRS is also associated with an increase in CD16+ monocytes, which then further differentiate into macrophages (Polasky et al. 2021). This has been supported by the presence macrophage infiltration in CRS (Banks et al. 2014; Shaghayegh et al. 2022). The monocyte-derived macrophages in sinonasal tissue can initiate Th-2 responses associated with CRS (Banks et al. 2014; Ramanathan Jr et al. 2008).

Mesalazine, also known as mesalamine or 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA), is used to treat inflammatory bowel illnesses such as Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (Böhm & Kruis 2014). Oral and topical (enema, foam, and suppositories) mesalazine has been shown to be effective for treating active ulcerative colitis and maintaining remission (Marteau et al. 2005). Mesalazine's anti-inflammatory therapeutic efficacy is widely acknowledged in the treating of inflammatory bowel disease. Recent research suggests that the anti-inflammatory effects of 5-ASA are mediated at least in part by a reduction the production of macrophage-derived cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , and interleukin (IL)-6 (Kaiser, Yan & Polk 1999; Mahida et al. 1991; Rachmilewitz et al. 1992). Mesalazine, in general, is well tolerated and considered safe for long-term use (Bell & Habal 1997; Dignass et al. 2018). However, its pharmacological processes and mode of action are insufficiently understood (Böhm & Kruis 2014).

Inflammatory bowel disease and certain CRS endotypes share many similar histological features, including neutrophil and plasma cell infiltrates, papillary hyperplasia, basement membrane thickening, oedema, ulcer formation, polypoid formation and some end stage

patients fibrosis and scar formation (Kumar, Abbas & Aster 2013). Although it is known that mesalazine has anti-inflammatory activities and a favourable safety profile in the digestive system, its potential anti-inflammatory effect and safety on the sinonasal mucosa have not yet been studied.

THP-1 cells are a monocytic cell line used to investigate the functions, activities, signalling pathways, nutrition, and drug transport of monocytes and macrophages (Chanput, Mes & Wichers 2014). Therefore, in this study, the safety of various dosages of mesalazine were investigated on *in vitro* cultured human nasal epithelial cells (HNECs), as well as the anti-inflammatory effects on THP-1 cells, which are used to study monocyte/macrophage-related processes.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Mesalazine Preparation

Mesalazine solution was prepared by dissolving powdered Mesalazine (>99.9% purity) (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) in sterilised Mili Q water and adjusted to pH to 7 using 1mM sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution. Mesalazine solution was then diluted into either PneumaCultTM-Ex Plus Basal Medium (STEMCELL Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia), PneumaCultTM-Ex Plus 50 x Supplement (STEMCELL Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia), and penicillin-streptomycin (Thermo Scientific, Walthman, MA, USA) (designated as Ex Plus complete media)] or PneumaCultTM-ALI Basal Medium (STEMCELL Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia); PneumaCultTM-ALI Basal Medium (STEMCELL Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia)] or PneumaCultTM-ALI 10 x Supplement; penicillin-streptomycin/amphotericin B (Thermo Scientific, Walthman, MA, USA); And PneumaCultTM-ALI Maintenance Supplement (STEMCELL, Vancouver, Canada) (ALI complete media)] to

achieve the final concentrations of 0.5 mM, 1 mM, 10 mM, 20 mM and 50 mM. The mesalazine solution was covered with foil paper in all experiments unless specified.

2.2 Human Ethics approval and participant recruitment

Ethics approval for harvesting of nasal brushings was granted by The Central Adelaide Local Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee (reference HREC/15/TQEH/132). Patients undergoing endoscopic sinus surgery (ESS) for chronic rhinosinusitis were recruited to the study. Diagnostic criteria used for CRS were in accordance to American Academy of Otolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery and the European Position Statement (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). All patients provided written informed consent before the study initiation. Samples were de-identified and coded prior to use. The exclusion criteria included: (1) age below 18; (2) pregnancy; (3) active smokers for more than 3 months prior to the recruitment; (4) corticosteroid or antibiotic usage 4-weeks prior to the recruitment; and (5) systemic diseases, including cancer, hepatic and renal failure and other conditions causing immunosuppression or for which immunosuppressant medication was part of their treatment

2.3 Harvesting and Culturing Human Nasal Epithelial Cells (HNECs) in Vitro

Primary HNECs from patients with chronic rhinosinusitis were harvested from nasal polyp mucosa by gentle brushing (Ramezanpour et al. 2016). Extracted cells were suspended in Ex Plus complete media (STEMCELL Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia). Macrophages were removed by treating the cells with anti-CD68 (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) coated petri dishes for 20 min at 37°C. Then HNECs were seeded in collagen-I coated T75 cell culture flasks (Corning Incorporated, NY, USA) and grown in Ex plus complete media (STEMCELL

Technologies, Tullamarine, VIC, Australia). The seeded HNECs were incubated at 37 °C with a 95% humidity incubator supplied with 5% CO₂ and inspected daily under light microscopy.

2.4 Air-Liquid Interface (ALI) Culture

Once cells achieved 80-100% confluence, cells were detached by treating with 0.05% trypsin (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and resuspended in Ex plus complete media after centrifugation. Cell suspensions were then seeded onto collagen IV-coated apical chambers of Transwells (BD Biosciences, San Jose, California, USA). 500 μ L Ex plus complete media was added in the basolateral chamber. Cells were cultured at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ and given two to three days to settle. Followed by, the apical chamber medium being removed completely, and the basolateral chamber medium being changed to ALI complete media. The basolateral chamber medium was changed every two to three days. The cells were cultured for 17 to 21 days to allow for differentiation and tight junction formation.

2.5 Measurement of Trans-Epithelial Electrical Resistance (TEER)

The TEER was measured using an EVOM2 epithelial volt-ohm meter (World Precision Instruments, Florida, USA), using ohms per square centimetre (Ω/cm^2). In brief, 100 µL and 500 µL of fresh ALI complete media were applied to the apical and basal chambers respectively. The baseline TEER was measured. Only wells displaying baseline resistance readings greater than 700 Ω/cm^2 were used for the experiments. The ALI complete media from the apical chamber was then removed, followed by adding 100 µL ALI complete media medium containing the final concentration of mesalazine at different concentrations (0.5, 1, 5, 10, 20 and 50 mM). The negative control (ALI complete media) and positive control (10% Triton X-100, Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) were tested alongside. The TEER was measured immediately after the treatment was applied and recorded as time point 0. TEER was then

measured every 15 minutes for the first hour and then in 30-minute intervals for the remaining 6.5 hours. Whilst taking TEER measurements, a heating platform of 37 °C was used. TEER values were normalised against the values obtained at time point 0.

2.6 Measurement of Paracellular Permeability using Fluorescently labelled Dextrans

The paracellular permeability was tested using 4-kDa fluorescein isothiocyanate-labelled (FITC) dextrans (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, USA). After treating cells with various concentrations of mesalazine for 7 hrs, the media of the basolateral chamber was replaced with fresh medium and the apical chambers medium was removed and cells were washed with PBS. Then, the apical chambers were filled with 3 mg/ml of FITC-Dextran and incubated for two hours at 37 °C. The samples from the basolateral compartment were transferred to a clear bottom black 96-well plate (Corning-Costar Corp., Cambridge, United Kingdom). The fluorescence of the samples was then measured with a FLUOstar Optima 96-well fluorescence microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) at excitation and emission wavelengths of 485 nm and 520 nm. The experiment was repeated three times with cells from different donors.

2.7 Measuring Cytotoxicity with LDH assay

Following the final TEER measurements, the medium was collected from the basal chambers of each sample and cytotoxicity was determined using the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 μ L of medium from each condition was transferred to a new plate, 50 μ L of LDH reagent was added, and the plate was incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark. At 490 nm,

absorbance was measured using a microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany). Cells treated with ALI complete media and Triton X-100 served as negative and positive controls, respectively. The relative viability was determined by comparing the LDH levels of negative and positive controls. The experiment was conducted three times.

2.8 Measuring Cytotoxicity with MTT

HNECs and THP1 cells were seeded at 1.2x10⁶ cells/well into 24 well tissue culture plates (Corning Incoperated, Kennebunk, USA) containing 500 µL Ex Plus complete media (Stemcell Technologies) and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO2 until 80% confluence was achieved. Media was then removed and cells were washed with PBS. Cells were then treated with 500 μ L Ex Plus complete media (Stemcell Technologies) with the final mesalazine concentration at 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 20 and 50 mM. Cells treated with media and 10% triton were used as negative control and positive control respectively. Sterilised MiliQ water diluted media was used as volume control and 0.25 mg/mL budesonide (0.5 mg/mL, Astrazeneca, Macquarie Park, NSW, Australia) as positive treatment control. 50µg/mL Monosodium urate (MSU, 25mg/mL, Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) was used to stimulate production of TNF-α. Plates were wrapped in foil and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 24 hours. Cells were then washed with 650 µL of PBS twice. Then 200 µL of media and 50 µL MTT (5mg/ml PBS) was added to each well and then incubated for 4 hours (Mosmann, T 1983). After that, the media and MTT were removed from the wells. Each well was then filled with 400 µL of DMSO and 100 µL of glycine buffer (0.1 M glycine, 0.1 M Nacl adjusted to pH 10.5 with 1 M NaOH). After that, the plates were wrapped in aluminium foil and rocked on a Rocking Platform Mixer (Ratek Instruments, Mitcham, Australia) for 30 minutes. 100 µL was then taken and added in triplicate to new 96-well plates. A FLUOstar optima plate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) was used to read the absorbance of the plates at 570 nm.

2.9 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) IL-6

Samples from the basolateral chambers were collected after 7 hours of mesalazine treatment to determine the Interleukin-6 (IL-6) protein levels using an ELISA assay (BD Biosciences, New Jersey, USA). Briefly, 96-well plates were coated with capture antibody in a 1:250 dilution to a final concentration of 2 µg/ml with coating buffer (0.1 M NaHCO3) overnight at 4°C. The primary antibody was then removed, the plates were washed 2 times and 200 µL of blocking buffer (1x PBS + 2% Bovine serum albumin) was added to each well. 100 µL of samples were then added to wells and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. After washing, 100 µL of Biotin rat anti-human IL-6 antibody (BD Biosciences, New Jersey, USA) diluted 1:1000 to 0.5 µg/ml in blocking buffer was added into each well. Samples were then incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. HRP-conjugated streptavidin (Thermo Scientific, Walthman, MA, USA) was diluted 1:10,000 to 125 ng/ml in blocking buffer added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. 100 µL of TMB was then added and the sample was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Stop solution was then added and absorbance was read at 450 nm with a FLUOstar OPTIMA plate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany). An equal volume of sterilised MiliQ water was diluted into Ex Plus complete media (Stemcell Technologies) and served as volume control and a treatment control of budesonide (0.25mg/mL, Astrazeneca, Nacquarie Park, NSW, Australia) was also used.

2. 10 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay TNF- α – Cells inflammation model HNEC and THP-1 cells were seeded into 24 well tissue culture plates as described above. Cells were stimulated with Poly IC (PIC) (10µg/mL in cell culture media), MSU, a volume control and a treatment control was used as described above. TNF- α was then measured using a TNF- α ELISA assay (Invitrogen, Frederick, USA) at 3- and 6-hours post-exposure. Briefly, an ELISA plate was coated with capture antibody (Purified Mouse anti-human TNF- α , BD Biosciences) and incubated overnight at 4°C. Then plates were blocked with a 100 μ L blocking buffer. 100 μ L Samples were then added and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. The plates were then removed and washed 3x times. 100 μ L of Biotin mouse anti-human TNF- α (BD Biosciences) was added to each well and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. HRP-conjugated streptavidin (Thermo Scientific, Walthman, MA, USA) was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. 100 μ L of TMB was then added after washing and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Stop solution was then added and absorbance was read at 450 nm with a FLUOstar OPTIMA plate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany).

2.11: Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of TEER, FITC dextran, LDH, MTT, IL-6 and TNF- α was assessed with an ANOVA followed by post hoc analysis, using Graph Pad Prism version 9.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Differences between groups were determined using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Significance was determined at a p-value < 0.05. Experiments were performed three times. The data is presented using mean \pm standard error of the mean.

3. Results

3.1. Mesalazine does not appear to affect the mucosal barrier function of primary human nasal epithelial cell cultures

Mesalazine did not alter the TEER of the HNEC-ALI cultures at all tested concentrations (0.5 mM, 1 mM, 10 mM, 20 mM and 50 mM) at each tested time points (up to 7 hours), compared to the negative control (Figure 1). Furthermore , mesalazine applied for 7 hours, did not appear to have a significant effect on the paracellular permeability of the HNEC-ALI cultures at any of the concentrations tested (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Mesalazine has no significant effect on HNEC-ALI transepithelial electrical resistance. HNEC-ALI TEER measurement after exposure to different concentrations of mesalazine (0.5mM, 1mM, 5mM, 10mM, 20mM and 50mM). ALI complete media and 10% Triton served as a negative and positive control. Statistical significance was determined by comparing each treatment condition to the negative control using one-way ANOVA. The values are shown in mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for n = 3. TEER was normalised against the value at time 0. *: p < 0.05.



Figure 2. Mesalazine has no significant effect on HNEC-ALI paracellular permeability. The paracellular permeability was measured by the FITC-Dextran Assay at 7 hours, following exposure to different concentrations of mesalazine. ALI complete media served as the negative control and Triton 10% treatment as the positive control. The significance was determined by comparing different treatment groups with the negative control. Experiments were performed in triplicates. ****: p < 0.0001.

3.2 Mesalazine does not appear to be cytotoxic to HNECs in concentrations < 50mM

To further evaluate the safety of mesalazine, cell cytotoxicity was measured after 7 hours of mesalazine exposure to HNEC-ALI cultures. None of the tested concentrations of mesalazine induced LDH release compared to the negative control (Figure 3 A). Furthermore, mesalazine at concentrations of up to 20 mM applied for 24 hours to HNECs (Figure 3B) or THP-1 cell cultures (Figure 3C) did not affect cell viability as measured by NAD(P)H-dependent cellular oxidoreductase enzymes activity (MTT assay) compared to any of the tested controls. However, 50 mM mesalazine reduced the cell viability below 80% for both cell types in the

MTT assay (p<0.0001) (Figures 3 B and 3 C) this was not seen at any of the lower concentrations.



Figure 3: Mesalazine appears to be non-toxic to HNECs and THP-1 Cells in concentrations < 50mM. (A) The Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) of HNEC-ALI cultures after 7 hours of treatment with various concentrations of mesalazine. (B) HNECs monolayers and (C) THP-1 cell viability was measured after treatment with various concentrations of mesalazine for 24 hours. Experiments were performed with three replicates. The significance was determined by comparing it with the negative control. ***: p < 0.001, ****: p < 0.0001. Negative control= ALI complete media; Positive control=10% Triton X-100; Volume control= saline 0.9% in media.

3.3 Mesalazine reduces the release of TNF-a by THP-1 cells

Stimulation with MSU for 7 hours significantly induced TNF- α release by THP-1 cells. Compared with this positive control, addition of 0.5mM and 1mM mesalazine as well as the standard of care therapy (budesonide) significantly reduced TNF- α production by MSUstimulated THP-1 cells to baseline level. In contrast, higher concentrations mesalazine (from 5mM up to 50 mM) did not reduce TNF- α release compared to the positive control (Figure 4). TNF- α release was not significantly induced in HNEC-ALI cultures (Supplementary figure 1).



Figure 4: Mesalazine has anti-inflammatory effects on the production of TNF- α by THP-1 cells. The TNF- α production after 7 hours of treatment with various concentrations of mesalazine of THP-1 cells. The significance was determined by comparing it with the control. *: P < 0.02, **: P < 0.01, ****: P < 0.0001. Experiments were performed three times. Negative controls = RPMI media; Volume control= Saline 0.9% in media and positive treatment control= budesonide; Control = NaOH.

3.4 Mesalazine has no effects on the release of IL-6 by HNEC-ALI cultures

To assess the potential for anti-inflammatory effects of mesalazine, the release of IL-6 and TNF- α by HNEC-ALI and THP-1 cultures was measured after stimulation with poly (I:C) or MSU for 7 hours in the presence or absence of various concentrations of mesalazine or budesonide as standard of care control. Compared with the positive control, mesalazine did not show any alteration in IL-6 production by HNECs. In contrast, there was a significant reduction in IL-6 release in cells treated with budesonide, compared to the positive control (p<0.05), reducing IL-6 levels to baseline (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Mesalazine has no effects on the release of IL-6 by HNEC-ALI cultures. (A) The IL-6 production after stimulation with poly (I:C) and 7 hours treatment with various concentrations of mesalazine or volume control. Budesonide was used as standard of care control. Experiments were performed with three replicates. Negative control= Ex plus complete media; Positive control= media plus poly (I:C); Volume control= Saline 0.9% in media and Positive treatment control = Budesonide

4. Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the in vitro safety and potential for anti-inflammatory effects of mesalazine in CRS patient-derived HNEC-ALI cultures and THP-1 monocytes/macrophages respectively. Our findings revealed that mesalazine did not affect the barrier function of HNEC-ALIs and exhibited no cytotoxicity on both HNECs and THP-1 cells at concentrations up to 20 mM. Furthermore, mesalazine at 0.5 and 1 mM reduced TNF- α release by THP-1 cells, indicating its potential for anti-inflammatory effects involving those cell types.

The current treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis routinely comprises intranasal corticosteroids and antibiotics in cases of infectious exacerbations. Short courses of oral corticosteroids are also given in some cases. If these therapies fail, patients are offered surgical intervention (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Therapy choices for chronic rhinosinusitis are therefore limited, and current disease management is often unsuccessful (Matsuwaki et al. 2008).

CRS has recently been attempted to be subclassified into inflammatory endotypes (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). The notion is that a variety of inflammatory pathways contribute to a defective interaction at the sinonasal mucosa between the host and the environment (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Three inflammatory endotypes are implicated in CRS, which is characterized by Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells.

Type 2 inflammation is dominated by eosinophilic-driven inflammation and is linked to chronic inflammatory illnesses including asthma (Maspero, J et al. 2022). Whilst type 1 inflammation is driven by IFN- γ and TNF- α and is associated with a neutrophilic/macrophage-driven inflammation (Mayadas, Cullere & Lowell 2014). TLR2 is exhibited at a greater level

in CRS patients, particularly in caucasian populations. Stimulation of TLR2 activates the MYD88-dependent signaling cascade, and the NF-kappa B pathway resulting in a large production of cytokines and chemokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 (Sun et al. 2012). It has been demonstrated that TNF- α is a pro- inflammatory cytokine involved in chronic rhinosinusitis (Lennard et al. 2000; Xu, R et al. 2007). Macrophages play a role in TNF- α production, and are also elevated locally and peripherally in chronic rhinosinusitis (Lennard et al. 2000; Xu, R et al. 2007).

Mesalazine has been employed as a treatment for inflammatory bowel disease for some time. Mesalazine's mechanism of action is currently unknown, however, it is believed to entail the suppression of the NF-kappa B pathway and reduction of TNF- α production (Kaiser, Yan & Polk 1999; Mahida et al. 1991; Rachmilewitz et al. 1992). The obvious question that arises then is whether mesalazine could potentially have an application in certain types of CRS by inhibiting inflammation driven through this pathway.

As mesalazine has never been administered topically in CRS patients, we evaluated the safety and efficacy of mesalazine's anti-inflammatory properties in an *in vitro* setting for the first time. Mesalazine did not significantly alter the TEER during a 7-hour period at concentrations up to 50 mM and did not alter the paracellular permeability, indicating that it has no influence on the integrity of the mucosal barrier. Up to 50mM, there was no significant effect on LDH levels, however, 50 mM mesalazine did reduce cell viability of both HNECs and THP-1 cells in the MTT assay. This indicates mitochondrial malfunction and potential toxicity at this higher dose of mesalazine. However, the fact that 20 mM and lower concentrations did not reduce cell viability suggests that this toxicity is dose-dependent. Furthermore and interestingly, given that the strongest anti-inflammatory effect was seen at lower concentrations of 1 mM and 0.5 mM, this implies a good *in vitro* safety profile of mesalazine at concentrations that hold promise for their anti-inflammatory effects in the context of CRS. A limitation of this study is that the antiinflammatory effects were studied on *in vitro* THP-1, as macrophages harvested from the nasoepithelium do not have the ability to replicate and therefore cannot be cultured with the HNECs. Further *in vivo* studies will need to be conducted to validate these promising *in vitro* safety and effectiveness data.

IL-6 is a cytokine produced through the NF-Kappa B pathway (Liu, T et al. 2017). Intriguingly IL-6 showed no significant change when mesalazine was applied in all concentrations up to 50 mM on HNECs in our study. However, mesalazine at doses of 0.5 mM and 1 mM dramatically decreased TNF- α production by THP-1 monocytes/macrophages whereas TNF- α production was inconsistent by HNECs. This supports the notion that mesalazine possesses antiinflammatory effects that include TNF- α in monocytes/macrophages. In our studies, TNF- α could not be consistently induced in HNECs cultures. This has also been observed in other studies where the secretion of TNF- α by HNECs has been shown to be variable and inconsistent (Ramezanpour et al. 2018). Patient's sinus tissue, in particular CRS tissue is known to be enriched in macrophages and those cells are thought to play an important role in the pathophysiology of this disease (Banks et al. 2014; Shaghayegh et al. 2022). Therefore, this study supports the potential for mesalazine to be used as a topical therapy to reduce inflammation in CRS patients. Given the potent effects of low concentrations of mesalazine seen on reducing the pro-inflammatory TNF- α levels produced by THP-1 cells, further in vivo studies are warranted to validate these findings towards clinical translation.

5. Conclusion

The result of this study indicates that mesalazine effectively reduces TNF- α , suggesting that it possesses anti-inflammatory characteristics. In addition, the excellent safety profile of mesalazine at dosages up to 20 mM suggests that it is not detrimental to HNECs and the mucosal barrier function at these concentrations. Overall, this could suggest that mesalazine is safe on nasoepithelial cells, and as part of a topical treatment for CRS patients could be beneficial in lowering inflammation, however further *in vivo* studies will have to be undertaken to confirm this anti-inflammatory effect in a sinonasal environment.

6. Supplementary Figures



Supplementary figure 1: MSU can stimulate TNF- α in THP-1 cells, but not HNEC. (A) The production of TNF- α after stimulation with MSU for 3 hours for THP-1 cells and HNEC. (B) The production of TNF- α after stimulation with MSU for 6 hours for THP-1 cells and HNEC. Experiments were performed with three replicates. Negative control= Ex plus complete media.

CHAPTER 3: A novel model of *Staphylococcus aureus*-Induced lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis in the rat

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	A novel model of Staphylococcus aure	us-induced lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis in the rat
Publication Status	Published	Accepted for Publication
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Internation Journal of Molecular Sciences	

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	William Murphy		
Contribution to the Paper	Primary investigator of the study. This included experim analyzing results and writing the manuscript.	ental design	, ethics, carrying out experiment,
Overall percentage (%)	80%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conduct Research candidature and is not subject to any ob party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesi	ed during ligations or is. I am the	the period of my Higher Degree by contractual agreements with a third primary author of this paper.
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Sha Liu		
Contribution to the Paper	Experimental design, tissue harvesting, results analysis and manuscript review		
Signature	Date 22/1/24		

Name of Co-Author	Karen Hon
Contribution to the Paper	Sample harvesting and processing

Signature	C	Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	John Finnie		
Contribution to the Paper	Pathology assessment		
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	George Bouras
Contribution to the Paper	Results analysis
Signature	Date 23/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Ghais Houtak			
Contribution to the Paper	Concept, experimental of	design		
Signature	+ 		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Gohar Shaghayegh		
Contribution to the Paper	Experimental design		
Signature		Date	23/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Erich Vyskocil		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept and manuscript review		
			22/1/24
Signature		Date	

Name of Co-Author	Professor Wormald
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising, methodology, manuscript review
Signature	Date 26/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Vreugde
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising, methodology, manuscript review
Signature	Date 25/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Psaltis		
Contribution to the Paper	Overall supervision, methodology and manuscript review		
Signature		Date	29/1/24

A novel model of *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis in the rat

William Murphy^{1,2}, Sha Liu^{1,2}, Karen Hon^{1,2}, John Finnie³, George Bouras^{1,2}, Ghais Houtak^{1,2}, Gohar Shaghayegh^{1,2}, Erich Vyskocil^{1,4}, Peter-John Wormald^{1,2}, Sarah Vreugde^{1,2}, Alkis J Psaltis^{1,2.*}

1: Department of Surgery-Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Basil Hetzel Institute for Translational Health Research, Central Adelaide Local Health Network, Woodville South, Australia

2 : The Department of Surgery, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

3: Division of Research and Innovation, University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA Australia

4: Department of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

*Correspondence

Dr William Murphy

Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, the University of Adelaide.

Running title: A novel rat lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis model

Keywords: *Staphylococcus aureus*, chronic rhinosinusitis, lymphoplasmacytic inflammatory response, rodent model

Word count: 3494

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest that are relevant to this paper.

AJP is a consultant for Medtronic and Neurent and receives a speaker's honorarium for Glasko Smith Klein, Sequiris, Storz and Sanofi and a shareholder for Chitogel.

PJW is a consultant for Neilmed, Stryker, Neurent, receives royalties from Fusetec and is a shareholder for Chitogel.

FUNDING

Not Applicable

Abstract

Background:

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is characterised by sinonasal mucosal inflammation. *Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus)* is associated with severe CRS phenotypes. Different animal models have been proposed to study the association of CRS and *S. aureus*. However, current animal models are expensive due to the use of large animals, have high barriers to ethics approval or require invasive surgical intervention, necessitating a need for a model that can overcomes these limitations. This study aims at establishing a reliable and efficient rat lymphoplasmacytic inflammatory model for rhinosinusitis.

Methods:

Sprague Dawley rats received daily intranasal application of 20μ L of saline; *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein (250 µg/mL), or exoprotein CI₁₈₂ in combination with *S. aureus* clinical isolate (CI₉₀₈ or CI₉₁₃) 10⁸ CFU/mL. The rats' sinuses were harvested at 1- and 2- weeks post-intervention. Colony forming units (CFU) and histopathologic examination of inflammation were evaluated.

Results:

S. aureus clinical isolates CI₉₀₈ and CI₉₁₃ in combination with exoprotein (CI₁₈₂) had higher CFU and caused persistently higher inflammation at both 1- and 2- weeks post-intervention compared to the exoprotein and saline group. The inflammatory cell type observed was lymphoplasmacytic.

Conclusion:

This study provided evidence that the combination of *S. aureus* exoprotein with *S. aureus* induces inflammation that persists for a minimum of two weeks post-intervention. This model is the first known animal model to create the lymphoplasmacytic inflammation subtype of inflammation seen in CRS patients. This offers a cost-effective, accessible, non-invasive, and easy to replicate model to study the causes and treatment of such inflammation.

1. Introduction

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is characterized by the inflammation of the mucosa lining of the paranasal sinus (Benninger et al. 2003). Approximately 10 % of the Western populations are affected by this disease (Habib et al. 2019). Various studies have linked S. aureus to the CRS pathophysiology, in particular the more severe disease phenotypes (Van Staa et al. 2004; Vickery, Ramakrishnan & Suh 2019). S. aureus is the most frequently cultured bacteria in patients with CRS exacerbations (Okifo, Ray & Gudis 2022) and influences inflammation by disrupting the epithelial barrier function, impairing mucociliary clearance and inducing innate and adaptive immune responses, which may result in polyp formation (Vickery, Ramakrishnan & Suh 2019). Clinically, rhinosinusitis can be classified according to the duration of symptoms as acute, subacute or chronic (Al-Sayed, Agu & Massoud 2017; Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Acute rhinosinusitis is typically virally mediated and lasts for 2-3 days. When symptoms persist beyond 5-7 days, secondary bacterial superinfection is thought likely and in these patients, neutrophilic inflammation predominates (Chow et al. 2012). CRS on the other hand is characterized mainly by the Th1, Th2 and Th17 inflammatory responses. Recently, focus on the understanding of CRS has shifted to endotyping, with further investigation into the underlying inflammatory types and the associated disease outcomes intensifying. On a cellular level, five phenotypes of nasal polyps have been reported, including eosinophilic, neutrophilic, lymphocytic, plasma cell and a rarer lymphoplasmacytic predominant phenotype (Lou et al. 2016). Attention has primarily surrounded the eosinophilic driven inflammation, as it's the most prominent type observed in the Caucasian population. Little focus has been paid to the rarer mixed lymphoplasmacytic subtype. Eosinophilic driven inflammation is characterized by its responsiveness to steroids, whereas non-eosinophilic subtypes have low responsiveness to corticosteroid (Kirtsreesakul & Atchariyasathian 2006; Wen et al. 2012). CRS with lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate is associated with early polyp recurrence post surgery that is often steroid resistant. These patients often require long term macrolide therapy for disease control (Lou et al. 2016). Interestingly, patients treated with benralizumab for eosinophilic predominant CRS, resulted in a reduction of eosinophilic inflammation and a shift towards lymphoplasmacytic inflammation, potentially suggesting an underlying lymphoplasmacytic inflammation being present beneath the eosinophilic driven inflammation, warranting further exploration of lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in CRS (Ho et al. 2022). Current literature on CRS endotypes and biomarkers suggest that medical treatment should be tailored to the patients, including corticosteroids, antibiotics and biologics (Xu, Z et al. 2022). Further research into the lymphoplasmacytic subtype is clearly needed to better understand the relationship between this inflammatory infiltrate and it's association with CRS to guide disease management.

Experimental research uses animal models mainly in the context of understanding the pathophysiology of diseases, and in preclinical studies to test safety and effectiveness of novel therapies (Barré-Sinoussi & Montagutelli 2015). The development of animal models for sinusitis dates back to the rabbit model developed by Hilding et al. (1933). Subsequent models have also been established in mice and sheep (Hoggard et al. 2017). To date, there is

no established animal sinusitis model focusing on lymphoplasmacytic inflammation. Currently, there is no perfect animal model that faithfully replicates the pathophysiology of acute or chronic rhinosinusitis, with each currently available model having their own deficiencies.

Ethical guidelines categorize animals in research into two groups: small and large animals. Small animals only necessitate approval from a local animal ethics committee, while larger animals, including sheep, require approval from both the central and local animal ethics committees. Many existing sinusitis models entail invasive procedures and surgical interventions, leading to potential harm and discomfort for the animals involved (Lux et al. 2019; Mapara, Thomas & Bhat 2012).

Although mice are commonly used in research because of their low cost, ease of maintenance and genetic modifications, their sinonasal anatomy differs substantially from human anatomy. They lack a true sinus, and their small size can limit tissue sampling and present mechanistic limitations (Lindsay et al. 2006; Lux et al. 2019). Furthermore, they lack essential genes such as Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Regulator (CFTR) gene, important in mucociliary clearance, limiting their use for studying the pathophysiology of CRS and other various phenotypes (Lavelle et al. 2016; Lindsay et al. 2006).

Rabbit models present certain advantages, largely based on their size and well-developed sinuses, allowing relatively easy sinus access to create inflammation and sampling tissue. Nevertheless, there are significant costs and ethical considerations that need to be considered. Costs include dedicated housing facilities, as well as the need for well trained and skilled large animal handlers. Complications from instrumentation of the sinuses such as epiphora and pneumonia are not uncommon, and raise ethical concerns on the impact of such models on a rabbit's quality of life (Lux et al. 2019; Marks 1997).

A *S. aureus* biofilm sheep frontal sinusitis model has been established and successfully used in various preclinical safety and efficacy studies (Boase, Jervis-Bardy, et al. 2013; Boase et al. 2011; Ha et al. 2007). Sheep possess sinus anatomy and physiology closely resembling that of humans. Nevertheless, they are subjected to stringent ethical regulations and come with very high housing costs.

Considering the constraints outlined above regarding currently available models, this project seeks to assess the suitability of a rat model for investigating lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis. By creating a rat model with rich lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate, this allows for further characterization of this rarer subtype, and provides a viable *in vivo* model for further investigation into potential underlying disease mechanisms and treatment targets associated with this inflammation type. Although still considered small animals, rats offer several advantages over mice. They are larger in size, translating into easier access to their sinuses, and unlike mice, they also possess (rudimentary) paranasal sinus cavities, and an increased number of submucosal glands which makes them more physiologically akin to humans than mice (Smolich et al. 1978).

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals

Animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the Australian Code for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes and were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Adelaide, Australia (Approval ID M-2022-059). Rats were housed under

standard conditions. Lights were on for 12 hours daily, and cage temperature was 22 ± 1 °C, with continual access to water, standard regular chow and libitum.

2.2 Staphylococcus aureus clinical isolates cultured from patients

Ethics approval for obtaining bacterial swabs was granted by The Central Adelaide Local Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee (reference HREC/15/TWEH/132). Patients were recruited if they were undergoing endoscopic sinus surgery for chronic rhinosinusitis. The diagnostic criteria was based on the European Position Statement on CRS (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Written informed consent was provided by all patients before the study commencement. Clinical history and demographics of patients along with the severity of CRS were recorded. Disease severity was based on completion of the Lund-Kennedy (LK), Lund-Mackay (LM) and the 22-item Sino-Nasal Outcome Test (SNOT-22) (Hopkins et al. 2009; Lund & Kennedy 1997; Lund & Mackay 1993; Naidoo et al. 2013; Psaltis et al. 2014).

The bacteria were harvested using a Transwab (Medical Wire & Equipment, Corsham, Wiltshire, UK) after brushing gently against the middle meatus. The bacteria were then cultured on 1.5% Trypticase soy agar (TSA) (Oxoid, Thebarton, SA, Australia) overnight at 37°C. Individual colonies were re-streaked on 1.5% TSA plates and incubated again overnight at 37°C. Individual colonies were identified using MALDI-TOF. Isolates of *S. aureus* were stored in 50% glycerol stock (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) at -80 °C for future use.

2.3 Staphylococcus aureus biofilm exoprotein preparation

S. aureus CI₁₈₂ was streaked onto a 1.5% TSA plate and incubated overnight at 37°C. A single colony was then resuspended in 0.9% saline to obtain 1 McFarland (McF) Units, followed by dilution in Tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Oxoid, Thebarton, SA, Australia) at a ratio of 1 in 15. The cultures were then incubated at 37°C for 48 hours in 6-well plates, at 70 rpm to form biofilms. The biofilm supernatants were harvested and filtered using a 0.22 μ m syringe filter (PALL Acrodisc, New York, USA) to eliminate any planktonic bacteria and bacterial debris, and obtain exoproteins. The exoproteins were concentrated using a 3k MWCO Pierce Protein Concentrator PES (Thermo Scientific, United Kingdom) at 3000 rpm and 4 °C to concentrations of 200µg/mL.

2.4 Bradford Protein assay

The Bradford protein assay (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA) was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions to determine the exoprotein concentration. The Bradford protein assay was performed in triplicates for each sample, and the average protein concentration was reported.

2.5 Selection and preparation of S. aureus clinical isolates for inoculation

Two days prior to inoculation, *S. aureus* clinical isolates CI_{908} and CI_{913} were streaked onto 1.5% TSA plates. A single colony was resuspended in 0.9% saline to achieve a concentration of 0.5 McF Units, then cultured overnight in TSB at a 1:100 dilution. The pellets from CI_{908} and CI_{913} were then harvested and resuspended in exoprotein harvested from CI_{182} (as mentioned above) to achieve 2.5 x 10⁹ Colony Forming Units (CFU)/mL.

2.6 Rhinosinusitis Rat Model

Sprague Dawley rats (n=21, all male, 6 weeks of age) were divided to receive once per day, into each nostril, applications of 20 μ L of saline for 30 days (group 1, n=3), 20 μ L of 250 μ g/mL *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein for 30 days (group 2, n=6) or 20 μ L of 250 μ g/mL of *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein for 13 days (groups 3 and 4), followed by 10⁸ CFU/mL CI₉₀₈ (group 3, n=6) or 10⁸ CFU/mL CI₉₁₃ into 20 μ L of 250 μ g/mL of *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein from day 14 to day 30 (group 4, n=6) (Figure 1). Rats were monitored daily, and the intervention was stopped on day 30. The rats were humanely euthanized at two-time points, on days 37 and day 44 (7 and 14 days after stopping the intervention), respectively. The nasal cavities were rinsed with 200 μ L 0.9% saline, and collected for establishing colony-forming unit counts (CFUs). The nasal tissues were then harvested and placed in 10% EDTA for decalcification for four weeks. After decalcification, the nasal tissues were fixed in 10% neutral buffer formalin for histopathological examination.


Figure 1. Experiment flowchart.

2.7 Colony forming unit counts (CFU)

The nasal rinses were kept on ice, serially diluted with 0.9% saline and spotted in triplicate on sheep blood agar (Beckton Dickenson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), then incubated at 37°C overnight. CFUs were counted and calculated.

2.8: Histopathology examination with haematoxylin and eosin and Gram staining

The decalcified rat heads were embedded in paraffin, and 6µm sections were cut and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) or gram staining using standard protocols. Ten areas were selected and graded from 0 to 3 for inflammation for both the anterior and posterior segments in accordance with Houtak et al (2023).

2.9 Genomic DNA extraction and sequencing

For the *S. aureus* isolates from the exoprotein group, as well as CI ₁₈₂, CI ₉₀₈ and CI ₉₁₃, whole genome sequencing was performed before and post intervention. The genomic DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, 69504, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's guidelines. Genomic DNA was sequenced using the Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT) Gridion Device (Oxford Nanopore Technologies, Oxford, UK). The SQK-RBK 114.96 Rapid Barcoding Kit (Oxford Nanopore Technology) was used with R10.4.1 MinION flowcells (Oxford Nanopore Technology). Base-calling was conducted with Dorado v 0.4.0 in super accuracy mode, using the 'r10.4.1 e8.2 400bps_sup@v4.2.0 configuration (Oxford Nanopore Technology).

2.11 Bioinformatics

Adapters and barcodes were removed from long reads using Porechop (Wick, Volkening & Loman 2017), with long-read-only assemblies created using Flye v2.9.2 with the option "–

nano-hq." (Kolmogorov et al. 2019). Sequence types were assigned using multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) in the MLST program (Seemann 2020).

2.12 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was performed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Statistical significance was determined using an one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and a p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

3: Results

3.1 Staphylococcus aureus clinical isolates selection.

Clinical isolates (CI₁₈₂, CI₉₀₈ and CI₉₁₃) were obtained from patients with CRS. They were selected from patients with high CRS disease severity scores (Table 1). All patients (1 male, 2 female) had CRS with nasal polyps (CRSwNP) and asthma, one patient also had gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) and another aspirin sensitivity.

Table 1: *S. aureus* clinical isolate patient summary. CI = Clinical isolates; yo = Years old; GORD = Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease; CRSwNP = Chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps; ADSS = Adelaide disease severity score; SNOT22 = Sino-nasal outcome test; LM = Lund Mackay; LK = Lund Kennedy

CI 182	CI 908	CI 913
Male	Female	Female
62yo	73уо	53уо
GORD, Asthma	Asthma	Asthma and aspirin sensitivity
CRSwNP	CRSwNP	CRSwNP
SNOT 22 – 34	SNOT 22 – 71	SNOT 22 – 69
LM : 20	LM : 20	LM 24
LK: 18	LK : 18	LK 20

3.2 Rat nasal cavity colony forming unit (CFU) count.

The number of CFUs of *Staphylococcus aureus* harvested from both nostrils at day 37 and day 44 time point were investigated. Results for CFUs were similar between both time points and hence the datapoints were merged. Rats challenged with exoproteins only as well as with any of the CIs in exoproteins had higher CFUs compared to saline treated group which did not grow any *S. aureus* strains (p<0.05). Rats challenged with CI₉₀₈ had significantly higher CFUs than those challenged with CI₉₁₃, and both were higher than exoprotein only treated rats or control. Long-read sequencing identified *Staphylococcus aureus* in the exoprotein

only treated group as CI₉₁₃. This suggests the presence and subsequent significant difference in CFUs between the exoprotein group and the saline group, which was likely due to a crosscontamination of the exoproteins only treated group with CI₉₁₃.



Figure 2. *S. aureus* colony-forming units (CFU). The CFUs of *Staphylococcus aureus* strains CI_{908} (S1), CI_{913} (S2), exoprotein (Exo), and saline control in the nasal cavity were analysed, and significance was determined using ANOVA. The asterisk (*) denotes statistical significance at p < 0.05 with *** p<0.001 and **** p<0.0001.

3.3 S. aureus clinical isolates and exoproteins induced significant inflammation.

The inflammatory infiltrate, primarily consisting of lymphoplasmacytic cells, was prominent and infiltrated the epithelium, leading to disruption of the lamina. Inflammation was present in both the respiratory and olfactory epithelium (Supplementary Figure 3). There was nonspecific peribronchial infiltrate observed in exoprotein and both *Staphylococcus* groups. The kidney and spleen had no observable changes in any of the rats (Supplementary Figure 4). For the assessment of inflammation, ten areas with the highest degree of inflammation were selected from each animal. The severity of lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate in the lamina propria was graded by a pathologist blinded to the treatment groups on high-power (X40) fields ranging from 0 to 3, indicating no inflammation, mild, moderate, or severe inflammation, respectively. Representative images for each grade (0 to 3) were presented in Table 2. The examination revealed significant inflammation in the rats inoculated with *S. aureus* and/or exoprotein, particularly in the *S. aureus* CI groups when compared to the exoprotein and saline control group. Additionally, the exoprotein group exhibited significantly greater inflammation than the saline control group (Figure 3a & Table 3). The inflammation was observed both anteriorly and posteriorly without any significant difference between both locations (Figure 3b).

Table 2: Inflammatory infiltrate scoring. The representative image (X40) was selected to represent each score.

Histology

Grade



Grade 0 – Unaffected area of pseudostratified ciliated columnar epithelium with a normal number of goblet cells and minimal inflammatory infiltrate. The lining epithelium was intact.



Grade 1 – Mild lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate in the lamina propria.



Grade 2 – Moderate lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate in the lamina propria with lymphocytic infiltration of the lining epithelium resulting in some disorganization and disruption of the epithelium and loss of cilia.



Grade 3 – Severe lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of oedematous lamina propria. The respiratory epithelium was disrupted, and sometimes ulcerated (top right of image), with marked epithelial lymphocytic infiltration and goblet cell hyperplasia.



Figure 3: S. aureus and exoprotein induced inflammation in vivo

A) Inflammation scores of the sinonasal cavities for rats challenged with CI908, CI913, exoprotein or control (saline). B) Anterior (A) and posterior sections (B) were compared with the samples from different segments of the same rat. S 908 n=6; S 913 n=6; Exo n=4 and Control n=3. Significance was determined by comparing the results with the saline control. Asterisks indicate statistical significance (**: p<0.01; ****: p<0.0001), ns = not significant.

Table 3: representative inflammation for control (saline), exoprotein, CI₉₀₈ and CI₉₁₃ treated rats. There are 3 representative areas of inflammation for each sample, with a low-powered (10X) view and high powered (40X) view of each of those areas.

А



3.4 S. aureus invades the nasal mucosa.

The results of the Gram staining procedure confirmed the presence of *S. aureus*. This bacterium was observed to colonize the epithelial layer of the sinuses, which constitutes the outermost cellular lining of the nasal passages and was identified within epithelial cells. Further investigation revealed that *S. aureus* possessed the capability to also breach the lamina propria, a thin layer of connective tissue located beneath the epithelium and infiltrate the subepithelial region. These findings suggest that the bacterium exhibits the capacity to penetrate "damaged" nasal tissue (Figure 4).

4. Discussion

In this study, our objective was to develop a rat sinonasal inflammation model that mimics inflammation seen in *S. aureus* CRS in humans. This is the first animal model that reflects the inflammatory milieu of the less common and less well described lymphoplasmacytic subtype of CRS. As focus on CRS shifts towards endotyping and targeted treatment options, this model provides value in establishing the first *in vivo* model that is characterised by inflammation, reflective of that seen in lymphoplasmacytic predominant CRS and can be used to help further characterise this rarer inflammatory subtype. By abstaining from surgical procedures and invasive techniques, we not only prioritised the well-being and comfort of the rats but also aimed to create an easy-to-replicate inflammatory model, different to previous animal models which often require surgical interventions. We deliberately chose a rat model given its smaller

size than the rabbit and sheep, making it easier and cheaper to house and to mitigate many of the availability and ethical concerns with using larger animals.

We utilized S. aureus exoprotein, both individually and in conjunction with two distinct strains of S. aureus. The results demonstrated that both the exoprotein alone and the combination of exoprotein with S. aureus strains induced notable and widespread inflammation. The combination of exoprotein with S. aureus strains demonstrated markedly elevated levels of inflammation in comparison to both the control group and the exoprotein-alone group. This suggests that although exoprotein can in itself generate an inflammatory response, additional bacterial factors produced by live bacteria further exacerbate the inflammation. We indeed observed significantly higher CFU counts in the rats treated with both CIs of S. aureus compared to both the control group and the exoprotein-alone group. This finding was corroborated by Gram staining, which confirmed that the inoculated S. aureus bacteria successfully colonized and invaded the sinonasal mucosa membrane. Even though S. aureus was also cultured in the exoprotein-only group, likely due to contamination of the exoproteins by live bacteria, CFUs were lower, along with significantly reduced levels of inflammation compared to the groups treated with clinical isolates. This suggests that the level of inflammation is indeed linked to the bacterial load. These findings align with microbiome studies that have shown the severity of CRS to be directly related to increased bacterial load (Hoggard et al. 2017; Psaltis & Wormald 2017; Wagner Mackenzie et al. 2017).

Histopathological analysis revealed significant lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate with goblet cell hyperplasia in both anterior and posterior segments of the nasal tissue in the *S. aureus* infected rats. Although there was no overall difference between the anterior and posterior regions, there was a tendency for the inflammation to be more widely distributed in the former, possibly due

to anatomical differences between these two regions, with anterior segments receiving more consistent exposure compared to deeper segments.

The inflammation observed was consistent with prior studies showing increased inflammation in the subepithelial layer and lamina propria of nasal mucosa after exposure to S. aureus (Boase et al. 2011; Jia et al. 2014). Such severe inflammation with goblet cell hyperplasia is also indicative of epithelial remodelling after chronic antigen exposure (Redington 2000), and were observed in CRS, chronic airway diseases, cigarette smoke exposure and cystic fibrosis (Ramadan & Hinerman 2002; Sethi 2000; Silva & Bercik 2012; Spurzem et al. 1991). The lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate was observed most prominently in the S. aureus infected groups, consistent with the inflammatory milieu observed in CRS (Al-Sayed, Agu & Massoud 2017). Although lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate is considered rarer compare to the eosinophilic subtype, Mariano et al. (2019) examined 277 CRS patients and found lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate to be the prominent infiltrate in 111 patients, potentially making it a more important inflammatory subtype in CRS than originally believed. Plasma cells (effector B cells) originate from B lymphocytes and secrete antibodies in response to antigens (Khonsary 2017). B cell activation and excess antibody production is associated with CRS, most prominently with CRSwNP (Hulse et al. 2013; Tsybikov et al. 2015; Wang, M et al. 2019) and is consistent with increased levels of plasma cells and B cells in polyp tissue from CRSwNP patients (Feldman et al. 2017; Gevaert, P et al. 2005; Lau et al. 2017; Tsybikov et al. 2015; Wang, M et al. 2019; Xiao et al. 2016). T-lymphocytes (T cells) differentiate into effector T cells, such as CD4+, CD8+, regulatory, cytotoxic or helper T cells. Different effector T cell subtypes are involved in CRSsNP and CRSwNP (Hamilos et al. 1995; Miljkovic et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2012). A meta-analysis by Shen et al. (Shen et al. 2018) showed different inflammatory infiltrates and treatment responsiveness based on the country of origin, with nasal polyps in the Asian population characterized by infiltrates more linked to type 1 inflammation, exhibited a greater response to macrolides. In contrast, the western population's polyps are more associated with type 2 inflammation, demonstrated more responsiveness to steroids. Further investigation into the lymphoplasmacytic cell subtype could improve the understanding of the pathogenic relationship between *S. aureus* and CRS, and further exploration could lead to more accurately targeted therapies tailored for this subgroup of patients. Interestingly, in our study, there was no significant difference in the extent of inflammation that was observed between the 2 time points, taken one week apart, even though the rats did not receive further *S. aureus* during this time. Together, our findings indicate the activation of a more chronic immune response in the rats with robust lymphoplasmacytic immune cell infiltration and goblet cell hyperplasia.

The use of exoprotein alone induced significant inflammation, suggesting the importance of the secreted inflammatory proteins in the development of this response. This could be due the effect of exoprotein impairing mechanical barriers, such as tight junctions, which contribute to the development of CRS, or possibly due to antibodies to *S. aureus* exoprotein acting as a superantigen (Antunes, Gudis & Cohen 2009; Chen, J-B et al. 2017; Gevaert, P et al. 2005). *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxins (SAE) are a well described component of *S. aureus* exoprotein. They can function as superantigens, resulting in the production of SAE-specific antibodies that can potentially establish sustained inflammation. Our study's findings support this in addition to the direct disruptive effect the exoprotein has on the nasoepithelium. This breach is likely to promote the subepithelial colonization of *S. aureus* in patients with sinusitis and possibly prolongs the duration of inflammation. It should be mentioned however our finding of the presence of *S. aureus* in the exoprotein only treated group suggests cross-contamination, possibly due to the rats also being housed in the same room, despite being in

be discounted and does suggest that further experiments mitigating contamination are required to confirm our results.

While the inflammatory environment observed in this study aligns with that observed in the context of CRS in humans, it's important to note a limitation. Although the cell types present in the inflammatory milieu mirror those seen in CRS, the designated time interval of 3 months of symptoms, as outlined by current guidelines for humans, was not met. As a result, future investigations will aim to determine if the inflammation persists three months post-intervention.

5. Conclusion

Our study successfully establishes the first rat model with a focus on lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in the sinuses. The combination of *S. aureus* exoprotein with live *S. aureus* bacteria induces inflammation that persists for a minimum of two weeks post-intervention. This model suggests the possible creation of a self-sustaining inflammatory response at least in the short term. Through the effective generation of a robust lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate, this model opens the door for additional research into this rarer inflammatory subtype. It presents a valuable tool for investigating mechanisms and interventions related to sinusitis in a preclinical setting.

6. Supplementary figures



Supplementary figure 1. Anterior (left) and posterior (right) sections of the rat nasal cavity in H&E staining.



Supplementary figure 2. A completely labelled slide of areas of maximal inflammation mapped (left). A labelled area of maximal infiltrate (right).

Group	Sequence type
Exoprotein	Type 976
CI908	Type 1290
CI913	Туре 976
CI ₁₈₂	Type 20

Supplementary table 1. Long read sequences.



Supplementary figure 3. Respiratory epithelium (Left) and olfactory epithelium inflammation

(Right)



В



С



Supplementary figure 4. (A) Lung histology with non-specific bronchioalveolar infiltrate. (B) Liver histology. (C) Spleen histology.

CHAPTER 4: Mesalazine is effective at reducing *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in vivo

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Mesalazine is effective at reducing <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> -induced lymphoplasmacytic inflammation <i>in vivo</i>			
Publication Status	Published	Accepted for Publication		
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style		
Publication Details				

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	William Murphy
Contribution to the Paper	Primary investigator of the study. This included experimental design, ethics, carrying out experiment, analyzing results and writing the manuscript.
	000/
Overall percentage (%)	80%
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.
Signature	Date 22/1/24

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Sha Liu		
Contribution to the Paper	Experimental design, tissue harvesting, results analysis a	nd manuser	ipt review
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Sholeh Feizi
Contribution to the Paper	Experiment conduction, tissue harvesting

Signature D	Date	22/1/24
-------------	------	---------

Name of Co-Author	Kaviya Kalyanasundaram		
Contribution to the Paper	Experiment conduction, tissue harvesting		
Signature	Date 23/1/24		

Name of Co-Author	Karen Hon		
Contribution to the Paper	Experiment conduction, tissue harvesting		
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	John Finnie		
Contribution to the Paper	Pathology assessment		
		Data	22/1/24
Signature		Date	

Name of Co-Author	Kenny Yeo		
Contribution to the Paper	Results analaysis		
Signature		Date	22/1/24

Name of Co-Author	George Bouras		
Contribution to the Paper	Results analaysis		
Signature		Date	23/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Gohar Shaghayegh
-------------------	------------------

Contribution to the Paper	Tissue harvesting, manuscript review		
Signature		Date	23/2/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Wormald		
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising, methodology, manuscript review		
			1
Signature		Date	26/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Vreugde		
Contribution to the Paper	Supervising, methodology, manuscript review		
Signature		Date	25/1/24

Name of Co-Author	Professor Psaltis		
Contribution to the Paper	Overall supervision, conceptualization, methodology and manuscript review		
Signature		Date	29/1/24

Mesalazine is effective at reducing *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced

lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in vivo

William Murphy^{1,2}, Sha Liu^{1,2}, Sholeh Feizi^{1,2}, Kaviya Kalyanasundaram^{1,2}, Karen Hon^{1,2}, John Finnie³, Kenny Yeo^{1,2}, George Bouras^{1,2}, Gohar Shaghayegh^{1,2}, Peter-John Wormald^{1,2}, Sarah Vreugde^{1,2}, Alkis J Psaltis^{1,2.*}

1: Department of Surgery-Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Basil Hetzel Institute for Translational Health Research, Central Adelaide Local Health Network, Woodville South, Australia

2 : The Department of Surgery, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

3: Division of Research and Innovation, University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA Australia

*Correspondence

Professor Alkis J Psaltis

Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, the University of Adelaide.

Ph: (+61 8) 8222 7158,

Fx: (+61 8) 8222 7419

Running title: Mesalazine's effectiveness at reducing sinonasal inflammation

Keywords: Mesalazine, *Staphylococcus aureus*, chronic rhinosinusitis, lymphoplasmacytic inflammatory response, treatment

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest that are relevant to this paper.

AJP is a consultant for Medtronic and Neurent and receives a speaker's honorarium for Glaxo Smith Klein, Sequiris, Storz and Sanofi and a shareholder for Chitogel.

PJW is a consultant for Neilmed, Stryker, Neurent, receives royalties from Fusetec and is a shareholder for Chitogel.

FUNDING

Not Applicable

Abstract

Background:

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is characterised by sinonasal mucosal inflammation and has considerable morbidity for patients. The mainstay of treatment is topical corticosteroids and oral antibiotics in the context of infectious exacerbations. Courses of oral corticosteroids are given at times to reduce the inflammatory load, as are low dose long term macrolides for patients with lymphoplasmacytic inflammation . These medications can have severe sideeffects and novel, safe and effective alternative medications are needed. Mesalazine may help address this therapeutic need, with recent in vitro studies showing safety on nasoepithelial cells whilst retaining its anti-inflammatory function. The objective of this study is to establish the anti-inflammatory effects of mesalazine in vivo.

Methods:

Sprague Dawley rats (n=48) were divided into 8 groups (n=6 per group). Group 1 received saline daily. Groups 2-8 were inoculated with 20µL of 250µg/mL of *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein for 13 days followed by 20µL of 250µg/mL of *Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus)* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein containing 10⁸CFU/mL CI₉₀₈ from day 14 to day 30. Group 2 received no further treatment. Rats in groups 3-6 were treated with mesalazine, 1mM from day 14 (Group 3), or from day 30 (Group 5) and 10mM from day 14 (Group 4), or from day 30 (Group 6). Groups 7 and 8 were treated with clarithromycin and Pulmicort respectively from day 14. Rats were humanely euthanised at day 44, followed by determining colony forming units (CFUs) and histopathology to evaluate inflammation.

Results:

Mesalazine at 1mM significantly reduced lymphoplasmacytic inflammation when given from day 14 and day 30, and 10mM when given from day 14 compared to positive control *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈ alone. Mesalazine was equally effective as pulmicort and clarithromycin at reducing inflammation. Mesalazine had no significant effect on *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈ CFUs, whilst both clarithromycin and Pulmicort significantly reduced *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈ CFUs compared to control.

Conclusion:

The findings from our study provide compelling evidence that mesalazine at 1mM successfully reduces lymphoplasmacytic inflammation caused by *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈. The lack of a reduction in S.aureus CFU, suggests that this is purely through an anti-inflammatory action. This indicates that mesalazine may have potential as an anti-inflammatory treatment option for CRS.

1. Introduction

Chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) is characterized by chronic inflammation of the sinus mucosa with clinical signs and symptoms lasting 12 weeks or more (Benninger et al. 2003). CRS classically causes nasal obstruction and discharge, facial pressure, headaches, and impairment of sense of smell, resulting in a reduction in the quality of life (Rudmik & Smith 2011). It is a highly prevalent disease affecting approximately 10.9% of Western populations and has high associated healthcare costs (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020).

CRS has been classified into CRS without nasal polyps (CRSsNP) or CRS with nasal polyps (CRSwNP). Recently, there has been a call to further classify CRS based on inflammatory types, including type 2 and non-type 2 inflammation (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). The routine medical management of CRS involves intranasal corticosteroids, saline washes and antibiotics when required. Short courses of oral corticosteroids are also sometimes given to patients, in particular those with CRSwNP. Although these current treatment options are widely available, there is an emerging threat of antibiotic resistance. Steroids may be contraindicated in some individuals , and in others can lead to long term local and/or systemic toxicity. (Hsu, Lanza & Kennedy 1998; Young et al. 2012). Where medical management is ineffective at treating CRS, surgical intervention may be required for symptom control (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Despite surgical interventions, disease recurrence can still occur, thus better long-term treatment modalities are needed to combat CRS (Matsuwaki et al. 2008). Treatments have classically focused on managing the symptoms of CRSsNP and CRSwNP; however, as further understanding of inflammatory endotypes arises, a space opens for personalised treatments that depend on the inflammatory milieu present. Current literature on CRS endotypes suggests that

treatment should be tailored to the patient (Xu, Z et al. 2022), and therefore, further research on treatments based on endotypes is warranted.

Mesalazine, also known as mesalamine or 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA), is an antiinflammatory agent currently used to treat inflammatory bowel diseases, mainly ulcerative colitis (Böhm & Kruis 2014). Oral and rectal formulations of mesalazine are effective in treating active ulcerative colitis and keeping it in remission (Marteau et al. 2005). The mechanism of action of mesalazine is not fully understood, however, it has been suggested to be involved in regulating the production of cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1β, and interleukin (IL)-6 (Böhm & Kruis 2014; Kaiser, Yan & Polk 1999; Mahida et al. 1991; Rachmilewitz et al. 1992). These cytokines are also elevated in CRS and are involved in type 1 inflammation (Lennard et al. 2000; Xu, R et al. 2007). A previous study by our team indicated that mesalazine demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects in concentrations of 0.5 to 1mM *in vitro* and was proven safe when applied to human nasoepithelial cells in concentrations up to 20mM (Murphy et al. 2024). Whilst this was observed *in vitro*, further investigation is needed to establish the safety and efficacy of topical mesalazine to reduce sinonasal mucosal inflammation in vivo. Therefore, in this study, the safety and anti-inflammatory activity of varying dosages of mesalazine was investigated in a rat model of sinonasal inflammation.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Mesalazine preparation

A solution of mesalazine was prepared by dissolving powdered mesalazine (>99.9% purity, Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) in sterilized MilliQ water. The pH was adjusted to 7 using a 1 mM sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution. The mesalazine solution was then filter-sterilized using a 0.22 µm syringe filter (PALL Acrodisc, New York, USA). Subsequently, mesalazine was added to *S. aureus* biofilm exoproteins prepared according to our previous study (Murphy et al. 2024) to achieve concentrations of 1mM and 10mM mesalazine in 200µg/mL *S. aureus* exoproteins. Mesalazine solution was covered with foil paper for all experiments unless otherwise stated.

2.2 Budesonide (Pulmicort) and clarithromycin preparation

A solution of budesonide (Pulmicort) was prepared (10mg/L, AstraZeneca, Macquarie Park, NSW, Australia), serving as a topical, steroid-based treatment control. Final concentrations delivered to rats was 0.01mg/ml, comparable to clinical concentrations used in humans (Bernstein et al. 2023; Thamboo et al. 2014). A clarithromycin solution was prepared by combining sterilized water with clarithromycin suspension pellets (Mylan Health, Carole Park, QLD, Australia), and shaken to form a suspension with a concentration of 50mg/ml. This served as an additional treatment control, centred on the antibiotic effect.

2.3 Ethics approval

Animal procedures were conducted under the Australian Code for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes and were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Adelaide, Australia (Approval ID M-2022-059). Ethics approval for obtaining bacterial swabs from patients was granted by The Central Adelaide Local Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/15/TWEH/132).

2.4 Selection and preparation of exoprotein and S. aureus clinical isolate for inoculation

Patients were recruited if they were undergoing endoscopic sinus surgery for chronic rhinosinusitis. The diagnostic criteria for CRS were based on the European Position Statement on CRS (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Written informed consent was provided by all patients before the study commencement. Clinical history and demographics of patients along with the severity of CRS were recorded. The severity of the disease was determined using the Lund-Kennedy (LK), Lund-Mackay (LM), and 22-item Sino-Nasal Outcome Test (SNOT-22) (Hopkins et al. 2009; Lund & Kennedy 1997; Lund & Mackay 1993; Naidoo et al. 2013; Psaltis et al. 2014).

S. aureus clinical isolates CI_{182} and CI_{908} , were chosen to establish the rat sinusitis mode using previously established protocol (Murphy et al. 2024; Shaghayegh et al., 2023). They had were chosen based on their association with a severe phenotype of CRS disease Briefly, the clinical isolates were harvested from CRS patients, grown on blood agar and mannitol salt agar plates (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK), and identified using matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS, Bruker® MBT, SA Pathology, Adelaide, Australia). Clinical isolates were stored in 50% glycerol stock (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) at -80 °C for future use.

For exoprotein preparation, *S. aureus* clinical isolate CI_{182} was grown for 48 hours, and the supernatants were harvested, filter-sterilised, and then concentrated to 250µg/mL according to protocols detailed in both Shaghayegh et al. (2023) and Murphy et al. (2024). Briefly, preparation of *S. aureus* clinical isolates for inoculation was achieved by culturing CI_{908} overnight in TSB, and then the bacteria were centrifuged at 1800 x g for 10 minutes, the TSB removed, and the bacteria were resuspended in CI_{182} exoprotein to achieve a 2.5 x 10⁸ Colony Forming Units (CFU)/mL in 200µg/mL exoprotein.

2.5 Rhinosinusitis rat model

This experiment was performed using a previously validated and published rhinosinusitis rate model (Murphy et al. 2024). Sprague Dawley rats (n=48, all male, 6-7 weeks of age) were housed under standard conditions. Lights were on and off on a 12-hour cycle, and cage temperature was 22 ± 1 °C, with access to water and standard regular chow ad libitum 24 hours daily.

Rats were divided into 8 groups according to Figure 1.

- 1. Group 1 (n=6) received 20 μ L of saline once daily for 44 days.
- Groups 2-8 (n=42) were challenged with 20 μL of 250 μg/mL of S. aureus CI₁₈₂
 exoprotein for 13 days, followed by 10⁸ CFU/mL CI₉₀₈ in 20 μL of 250 μg/mL of S.

aureus CI_{182} exoprotein from day 14 to day 30. From day 30- day 44, rats did not receive further *S. aureus* or exoproteins. Rats (n=6/group) were randomised to receive:

- 1. Group 2 (positive control): no treatment.
- 2. Group 3: 20µL of 1mM mesalazine twice a day (BD) from day 14 to 44.
- 3. Group 4: 20µL of 10mM mesalazine BD from day 14 to 44.
- 4. Group 5: 20µL of 1mM mesalazine BD from day 30 to 44
- 5. Group 6: 20µL of 10mM mesalazine BD from day 30 to 44.
- 6. Group 7: 20µL of Pulmicort solution (1mg/100ml) BD from day 30 to 44
- 7. Group 8: Clarithromycin (50mg/kg daily) from day 30 to 44.

Inhaled isoflurane was used for anaesthesia at all times that rats received intranasal installation. Rats were monitored daily, and the intervention was concluded on day 44, at which point the rats were humanely euthanized.

Following this, the nasal cavities were rinsed with 100µL sterile 0.9% saline each side, totalling 200µL per rat, then the rest of the nasal cavity was harvested and placed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) for further testing. Rats' organs, including lung, liver, spleen, heart, and kidney were harvested, and placed in 10% neutral buffered formalin.



Figure 1. Flow chart of experimental groups. Group 1 received saline from day 0 to 44. Groups 2-8 received CI₁₈₂ *S. aureus* exoprotein from day 0 to 13, and CI₉₀₈ *S. aureus* in CI₁₈₂ exoprotein from day 14 to 30. Group 2 received no additional treatment (positive control). Groups 3 and 4 were treated from day 14 to day 44 with 1mM mesalazine (Group 3), 10mM mesalazine (Group 4). Groups 5-8 were treated from day 30-44 with 1mM mesalazine (Group 5), 10mM mesalazine (Group 6), Pulmicort (Group 7) or Clarithromycin (Group 8). Rats were humanely euthanised on day 44.

2.6 Colony forming unit counts (CFU)

Nasal rinses were kept on ice. Rinses were serially diluted with 0.9% saline and spotted onto TSA in triplicates and incubated overnight at 37°C. CFUs were counted and calculated to obtain CFU/mL.

2.7 Histopathology examination with haematoxylin and eosin, and Gram staining

The rats' nasal cavities were decalcified in 10% EDTA (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) for four weeks, with a replacement of 10% EDTA every 4 days. Following decalcification, the rats' nasal cavities, as well as harvested organs, were embedded in paraffin, and 6µm sections were prepared. These sections were then stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) following standard protocols. A pathologist graded inflammation in ten selected areas from 0 to 3 for both the anterior and posterior sections where maximal infiltrate was observed (Supplementary Figure 1).

2.8 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

S. aureus was streaked onto TSA plates. The MIC of clarithromycin against *S. aureus* 908 was assessed using the Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute microdilution method (MA 2006). Concisely, single colonies of *S. aureus* CI 908 were resuspended in nutrient broth and adjusted to 0.5 McFarland units. After this a dilution of 1:100 bacteria in nutrient broth was prepared. Then 96-well microliter plates were inoculated with 50µL aliquots of diluted bacterial suspension. After, 50µL aliquots of different concentrations of clarithromycin were

added and then incubated for 24hrs at 37°C. MIC was reported as the lowest concentration that no visible turbidity was shown.

2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of inflammation scores was assessed with an ANOVA with Dunnett post hoc test using Graph Pad Prism version 9.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Significance among groups was determined at a p-value < 0.05. CFUs were also analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and a p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

3. Results

3.1 Selection of S. aureus clinical isolates

S. aureus clinical isolates were selected from patients with high CRS disease severity scores. Both patients (1 male and 1 female) had CRS with nasal polyps and asthma, and the male patient also had gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD). Details of patient demographics and disease severity scores are listed in Table 1. Table 1: *S. aureus* clinical isolate patient summary. CI = Clinical isolates; yo = Years old; GORD = Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease; CRSwNP = Chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps; SNOT22 = Sino-nasal outcome test; LM = Lund Mackay; LK = Lund Kennedy

CI 182	CI 908
Male	Female
62yo	73уо
GORD, Asthma	Asthma
CRSwNP	CRSwNP
SNOT 22 – 34	SNOT 22 – 71
LM: 20	LM: 20
LK: 18	LK: 18

3.2 S. aureus induced a lymphoplasmacytic sinonasal inflammation

Challenging the rats with 250 µg/mL of *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein for 13 days, followed by 20 µL of 250 µg/mL of *S. aureus* CI₁₈₂ exoprotein containing 10^8 CFU/mL CI₉₀₈ from day 14 to day 30 induced a robust sinonasal inflammation at the time of tissue harvest 2 weeks later (day 44). The rat sinonasal inflammatory infiltrate observed in all groups challenged with *S. aureus* primarily consisted of lymphocytes, with few plasma cells (lymphoplasmacytic), consistent with Murphy et al. (2024). When inflammation was robust (grade 3), lymphocytes infiltrate the lining respiratory epithelium (supplementary figure 2), sometimes associated with the disruption of the epithelium and goblet cell hyperplasia (supplementary figure 3).
Systemically, the lung, kidney, heart and spleen had no observable changes in any of the rats (supplementary figure 4).

3.3 Mesalazine, Pulmicort and clarithromycin decrease inflammation equally

The administration of mesalazine at a 1mM and at 10 mM concentration from day 14 and mesalazine at 1 mM concentration from day 30 demonstrated a statistically significant reduction in inflammation scores compared to the positive control (p<0.05). Similarly, clarithromycin and Pulmicort administered from day 30, significantly decreased inflammation compared to the positive control (p<0.05). Average inflammation scores were similar between rats treated with clarithromycin, Pulmicort, or 1mM mesalazine administered from day 14 and from day 30 onwards, or 10 mM mesalazine administered from day 14 onwards (p>0.05). Interestingly, mesalazine at 10mM when administered from day 30 did not result in a significant decrease of inflammation compared to the positive control (Figure 2).

Inflammation Score Groups



Figure 2: Inflammation scores of the sinonasal cavities. Mesalazine 1mM from day 14 n=6; Mesalazine 10mM from day 14 n=6; Mesalazine 1mM from day 30 n=6; Mesalazine 10mM from day 30 n=6; Positive control (*S. aureus* CI908) n=6; Pulmicort n=6; Clarithromycin n=6; Saline n=6. Significance was determined by comparing the results with the saline control. Asterisks indicate statistical significance (****: p<0.0001), ns = not significant.

3.5 Mesalazine does not significantly affect S. aureus colony forming units.

MIC of clarithromycin was determined to be 0.25µg/ml. The number of CFUs of *Staphylococcus aureus* from each group was determined at day 44. The administration of mesalazine at 1mM and 10mM at both the 14-day and 30-day time point did not affect CFU counts compared to *S. aureus* CI908. Clarithromycin and Pulmicort significantly reduced *S. aureus* CI908 compared to control.

CFU CI-908



Figure 3. Colony forming units of each group. Saline n=6; Positive control (n=6); Mesalazine 1mM from day 14 n=6; Mesalazine 10mM from day 14 n=6; Mesalazine 1mM from day 30 n=6; Mesalazine 10mM from day 30 n=6; Pulmicort n=6; Clarithromycin n=6. Significance was determined by comparing the results with the *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈ positive control. Asterisks indicate statistical significance (**: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001; ***: p<0.0001), ns = not significant.

4. Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the safety and anti-inflammatory effect of mesalazine in an *in vivo* setting in the context of the lymphoplasmacytic subtype of inflammation that is seen in some patients with CRS. Our findings suggest that mesalazine at 1mM and 10mM concentration, whilst not reducing *S. aureus* infection compared to control, could significantly reduce inflammation when given at day 14, and when given at 1mM from day 30. The anti-inflammatory effect of 1mM mesalazine was similar to that of Pulmicort and to clarithromycin. Together, these results support the potential of mesalazine to reducing lymphoplasmacytic mucosal inflammation.

Current treatment for CRS involves appropriate medical therapy followed by surgical intervention. Medical therapy often involves intranasal and/or oral corticosteroids patients and in some patients a course of antibiotics. If there is minimal response symptomatically, surgery is often then offered (Fokkens, WJ et al. 2020). Post surgical intervention, patients are generally prescribed Pulmicort washes in an attempt to decrease disease recurrence (Snidvongs et al. 2012). Although this has become a useful way in facilitating long term disease control, some patients do not tolerate topical steroids due to local side effects and in those with predominantly lymphoplasmacytic inflammation it may be less or ineffective.

Mesalazine has been successfully used topically for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease for many years. The mechanism of action is currently unknown, however it is postulated to involve the suppression of NF-kappa B resulting in the reduction of TNF- α production (Kaiser, Yan & Polk 1999; Mahida et al. 1991; Rachmilewitz et al. 1992). In CRS, it is proposed that the stimulation of TLR2 activates the MYD88-dependent signalling

cascade, stimulating the NF-kappa B pathway and resulting in the production of TNF- α and IL-6 (Sun et al. 2012). It has been shown that TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine involved in CRS and has been involved in type 1 inflammation (Lennard et al. 2000; Xu, R et al. 2007).

A recent in vitro study in our department showed that a mesalazine-based sinus wash can inhibit TNF- α secretion without being toxic to human nasoepithelial cells (Murphy et al. 2024). This in vivo study confirms our previous in vitro study that mesalazine is non-toxic when applied into the nose of rats and could reduce inflammation significantly when compared to positive control.

In this study, challenging rats with intranasal *S. aureus* secreted exoprotein followed by instillation with S. aureus clinical isolates resulted in robust sinonasal lymphoplasmacytic inflammation that lasted at least 2 weeks after instillation of bacteria had ceased, consistent with prior rat sinonasal inflammatory models, as inflammation histopathologically similar to that present in CRS (Liang et al. 2008; Marino et al. 2019). It was observed that mesalazine in the concentration of 1mM was effective at reducing inflammation when started at both day 14 and day 30, which is consistent with the *in vitro* effects observed by Murphy et al. (2024). As a comparison, mesalazine when given in the context of IBD, is given at much higher concentrations of up to 4.8g daily to induce remission of an active flare in humans, which is 1000 fold higher than the daily dosing given to the rats (Karagozian & Burakoff 2007). Interestingly we found that although Mesalazine administered at a higher concentration of 10mM also reduced inflammation when administered from day 14, this was not the case when this concentration was administered from day 30. The lack of effect on inflammation for 10mM mesalazine given from day 30 is consistent with our *in vitro* study (Murphy et al. 2024), where mesalazine at the concentration of 10mM did not reduce TNF- α levels

compared to control. This apparent inverse dose response might be secondary to precipitation of the drug at high concentrations. Mesalazine at 10mM concentration given from day 14 did however reduce inflammation which might be explained by the effects of mesalazine on attenuating biofilm formation Dahl et al., (2017). Giving mesalazine from day 14 as opposed to day 30, will mean mesalazine has longer to attenuate biofilm formation and could potentially explain the reduction of inflammation that is observed at day 14 but not when given from day 30 at concentrations of 10mM.

Mesalazine had no significant effect on CI₉₀₈ CFUs when compared to S. aureus positive control. This is consistent with current literature on mesalazine which does not have any direct bactericidal properties against S. aureus (Kruszewska, Zareba & Tyski 2002). Although not significant, mesalazine at both 1mM and 10mM compared to the positive control trended to having lower CFUs. This may be due to the low power of this exploratory/pilot study or may truly reflect that Mesalazine's anti-inflammatory action is independent on any effect on the local sinonasal microbiome. Clearly further larger studies and those sampling the sinonasal microbiome are required and are currently being planned. Treatment with clarithromycin resulted in no CI908 CFUs in any of the rats, consistent with clarithromycin's known antibacterial effects. In the Pulmicort group, only 2 rats still had C₉₀₈ grown, which could be explained by its known antibacterial effect on S. aureus (Cherian et al. 2019). Interestingly, despite the absence of S. aureus colonizing rats in clarithromycin treated rats, there were no differences in inflammation scores between this group and rats treated with mesalazine 1 mM where the reduction in S. aureus CFUs was not significant. This indicates that the inflammation in these rats was at least in part due to the stimulation with S. aureus exoproteins, as seen in in vitro experiments (Panchatcharam et al. 2020).

The limitations of this study, include the low number of isolates tested and the low power of this pilot study. Furthermore this inflammatory model was based on the inflammatory milieu observed in CRS, as opposed to the human definition of the diagnosis, where symptoms must persist for longer than 3 months in current guidelines. A further limitation was the presence of bacterial contamination of two rats in the saline group. This limitation may be addressed in future by having rats housed in separate rooms, as well as using separate PC2 rooms for installation.

5. Conclusion

The results of this study indicate that mesalazine effectively reduced sinonasal inflammation caused by *S. aureus* and exoproteins in a rat sinusitis model. This suggests that mesalazine has anti-inflammatory properties in an *in vivo* setting at 1mM, and at the higher dose of 10mM, its anti-inflammatory property varies depending on the time of administration. Mesalazine's anti-inflammatory effect is comparable to treatment standards pulmicort and clarithromycin. In addition, mesalazine had no observable effects systemically. Overall, this suggests that mesalazine is safe to use *in vivo*, and may have potential usage in the topical treatment of sinonasal inflammation. Further human trials would need to be undertaken to confirm its anti-inflammatory effects in CRS patients.

6. Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. A labelled slide of areas of maximal inflammation mapping. A

labelled area of maximal infiltrate (left). A labelled area of maximal infiltrate (right).



Supplementary Figure 2. Heavy lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate, with goblet cell hyperplasia in *S. aureus* CI₉₀₈.



Supplementary Figure 3. Goblet cell hyperplasia with an active section in *S. aureus*

CI908.

С

D

В

Supplementary Figure 4. Organ histology from 10mM mesalazine groups. (A) Lung

histology (B) Liver histology. (C) Spleen histology. (D) Cardiac histology

CHAPTER 5: SYNOPSIS

The research confined in this thesis has progressed the knowledge of potential novel treatment options for CRS. It has also provided a new inflammatory small animal model that is cheap, easily accessible, and non-invasive that mimics the lymphoplasmacytic histopathology seen in a subset of patients with difficult to treat CRS. As discussed in this thesis, CRS is a disease with a diverse range of potential aetiologies and contributing factors. The current treatment modalities involve appropriate medical therapy followed by surgery. However, there is often poor disease control and a recurrence of the disease despite this. Traditionally, CRS has been divided into disease categories depending on the presence or the absence of nasal polyps. Recently however, there has been a larger emphasis placed on the inflammatory endotypes that are present within CRS, being type 2 and non-type 2 (type 1 and 3) inflammation. Classically, treatment has been focused on type 2 inflammation, largely driven by eosinophils, however treatment targeted at type 1 non-eosinophilic inflammation is lacking. Following an extensive literature review, further assessment of the drug mesalazine, a drug currently used in IBD, was warranted. The research within this thesis, therefore, includes firstly the solubilization and formulation of mesalazine into an appropriate sinus wash, and an investigation into its in vitro safety on nasoepithelial cells whilst retaining its anti-inflammatory properties. Secondly, the development of an appropriate animal inflammatory model that represented the inflammatory milieu involved in CRS histopathologically. Finally, an assessment of mesalazine's effects on inflammation, as well as its safety in an in vivo environment. This was done in an effort to address the question as to whether mesalazine could be used as a potential future treatment option in CRS.

In vitro evaluation of mesalazine

Initially, mesalazine was repurposed to a sinus wash, at an appropriate pH for the nasal cavity. Following this an *in vitro* study was conducted to evaluate the safety of the mesalazine wash on nasoepithelial cells, as well as its anti-inflammatory effects on THP-1 cells, which are used to study type 1 inflammation caused by macrophages in vitro. Macrophages arise from progenitor cells in the bone marrow and cannot replicate in their matured state, therefore the THP-1 cell line was used as it is acts like a macrophage, but still retains the ability to replicate. In this in vitro study, mesalazine's safety on nasoepithelial cells was assessed using toxicity studies as well as mucosal barrier structure and function tests. Results showed absence of toxicity with mesalazine applied at concentrations up to 20mM. Mesalazine's anti-inflammatory effects were tested by measuring the levels of TNF- α produced by THP-1 cells in the presence and absence of mesalazine at various concentrations. It was shown that mesalazine significantly reduced TNF- α levels at concentrations of 0.5mM and 1mM but not at higher concentrations. This apparent inverse dose response was thought to be secondary to precipitation. This suggested that mesalazine was safe to use on nasoepithelial cells in concentrations up to 20mM, whilst retaining its antiinflammatory effects at 0.5mM and 1mM.

Establishment of an appropriate animal model

After establishing the safety and efficacy of mesalazine *in vitro*, it then needed to be tested in an environment that represented the complex interactions in living organisms. To do this, an animal model needed to be established that histopathologically mimicked CRS inflammation in an *in vivo* setting that was cheap, easy to access, whilst also prioritising the animal's

wellbeing by being non-invasive. This model was established using Sprague Dawley rats, who underwent a total of 30 days of exoprotein installation, or 14 days of exoprotein installation followed by 16 days of exoprotein and *S. aureus* installation. Two different *S. aureus* strains were used, C₉₀₈ and C₉₁₃. Selection of these isolates was based on severe patients' disease severity scores. Both C₉₀₈ and C₉₁₃ strains caused sinonasal mucosal inflammation as evaluated on days 37 and 44. The inflammation observed was lymphoplasmacytic in nature and was representative of inflammation found histopathologically in a subset CRS patients. The inflammation was present both anteriorly and posteriorly, however trended towards a higher amount of inflammation anteriorly, which suggested that the bacterial load was greater at this location. CFU counts were also reflective of the inflammation scores observed. This set the foundation where the inflammation was present for 2 weeks after ceasing instillation of bacteria and paved the way for testing mesalazine at a BD dosing within that time period.

Mesalazine's anti-inflammatory effect in vivo

Once a sinonasal inflammatory model was established, the safety and efficacy of mesalazine was then investigated. It was established that mesalazine, given in twice daily dosing in concentrations of 1mM from day 14 and 30, as well as 10mM given from day 14, was effective at decreasing sinonasal inflammation by day 44. There was no significant difference on inflammation for mesalazine compared to positive controls treated with budesonide and clarithromycin. No significant effect of mesalazine was observed on CFU counts, consistent with mesalazine not having direct antibacterial effects on *S. aureus*. There were no systemic effects observed on histopathology, and no adverse events for all rats involved in the study.

This suggests that mesalazine *in vivo* had a significant effect on inflammation, and had similar anti-inflammatory effects compared to current treatment standards.

Concluding statement

This thesis establishes the safety and efficacy of mesalazine in both an in vitro and an in vivo environment. While there are currently multiple treatment options available, poor control and recurrence of CRS often occurs and there is a need to further investigate other treatment options. As we gain a further understanding of CRS, there is a growing focus on the underlying disease inflammatory phenotypes, as opposed to the classical differentiation of CRS with or without nasal polyps. As there is a shift in the understanding of CRS as different phenotypes, treatment options should increasingly be targeted at the underlying inflammation present. Mesalazine has strong anti-inflammatory effects on lymphoplasmacytic inflammation in concentrations of 1mM, and partial anti-inflammatory effects at 10mM, as well as an excellent safety profile up to 10mM in an in vivo setting. Mesalazine therefore holds potential as a treatment option for CRS. Ultimately, further research needs to be undertaken to assess if the safety and efficacy of mesalazine in the in vivo models translate into clinical practise in humans. Further research could also focus on a multimodal treatment, where mesalazine is used in combination with other treatment modalities. Whilst there are multiple topical treatment options for CRS that are proposed or were in use for both antimicrobial and anti-inflammation purposes, there still remains significant space for further high-quality research re-evaluating these treatment options.

References

Abbas, AK, Lichtman, AH & Pillai, S 2014, *Cellular and molecular immunology E-book*, Elsevier Health Sciences.

Abbas, AK, Lichtman, AH & Pillai, S 2019, *Basic immunology e-book: functions and disorders of the immune system*, Elsevier Health Sciences.

Abbas, AK, Lichtman, AH, Pillai, S, Baker, DL & Abbas, AK 2021, *Cellular and molecular immunology*, Tenth edition edn, Elsevier, Philadelphia, PA.

Afkarian, M, Sedy, JR, Yang, J, Jacobson, NG, Cereb, N, Yang, SY, Murphy, TL & Murphy, KM 2002, 'T-bet is a STAT1-induced regulator of IL-12R expression in naive CD4+ T cells', *Nature immunology*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 549-557.

Ahnfelt-Rønne, I, Nielsen, OH, Christensen, A, Langholz, E, Binder, V & Riis, P 1990, 'Clinical evidence supporting the radical scavenger mechanism of 5-aminosalicylic acid', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 98, no. 5, pp. 1162-1169.

Aktas, D, Kalcioglu, MT, Kutlu, R, Ozturan, O & Oncel, S 2003, 'The relationship between the concha bullosa, nasal septal deviation and sinusitis', *Rhinology*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 103-106.

Al-Sayed, AA, Agu, RU & Massoud, E 2017, 'Models for the study of nasal and sinus physiology in health and disease: A review of the literature', *Laryngoscope Investigative Otolaryngology*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 398-409.

Allen, JS, Eisma, R, Leonard, G, Lafreniere, D & Kreutzer, D 1998, 'Characterization of the eosinophil chemokine RANTES in nasal polyps', *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, vol. 107, no. 5, pp. 416-420.

Allgayer, H, Ahnfelt, NO, Kruis, W, Klotz, U, Frank-Holmberg, K, Söderberg, HN & Paumgartner, G 1989, 'Colonic N-acetylation of 5-aminosalicylic acid in inflammatory bowel disease', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 38-41.

Alobid, I, Benitez, P, Pujols, L, Maldonado, M, Bernal-Sprekelsen, M, Morello, A, Picado, C & Mullol, J 2006, 'Severe nasal polyposis and its impact on quality of life. The effect of a short course of oral steroids followed by long-term intranasal steroid treatment', *Rhinology*, vol. 44, no. 1, p. 8.

Alobid, I, Benítez, P, Valero, A, Berenguer, J, Bernal-Sprekelsen, M, Picado, C & Mullol, J 2006, 'The impact of atopy, sinus opacification, and nasal patency on quality of life in patients with severe nasal polyposis', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 609-612.

Alsharif, S, Jonstam, K, Van Zele, T, Gevaert, P, Holtappels, G & Bachert, C 2019, 'Endoscopic sinus surgery for type-2 CRS wNP: an endotype-based retrospective study', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 129, no. 6, pp. 1286-1292.

Anderson, M, Stokken, J, Sanford, T, Aurora, R & Sindwani, R 2016, 'A systematic review of the sinonasal microbiome in chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 161-166.

Antunes, MB, Gudis, DA & Cohen, NA 2009, 'Epithelium, cilia, and mucus: their importance in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Immunology and Allergy Clinics*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 631-643.

Aramani, A, Karadi, R & Kumar, S 2014, 'A study of anatomical variations of osteomeatal complex in chronic rhinosinusitis patients-CT findings', *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, vol. 8, no. 10, p. KC01.

Asero, R & Bottazzi, G 2001, 'Nasal polyposis: a study of its association with airborne allergen hypersensitivity', *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 283-285.

Bachert, C, Han, JK, Desrosiers, M, Hellings, PW, Amin, N, Lee, SE, Mullol, J, Greos, LS, Bosso, JV & Laidlaw, TM 2019, 'Efficacy and safety of dupilumab in patients with severe chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps (LIBERTY NP SINUS-24 and LIBERTY NP SINUS-52): results from two multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group phase 3 trials', *The Lancet*, vol. 394, no. 10209, pp. 1638-1650.

Bachert, C, Marple, B, Schlosser, RJ, Hopkins, C, Schleimer, RP, Lambrecht, BN, Bröker, BM, Laidlaw, T & Song, W-J 2020, 'Adult chronic rhinosinusitis', *Nature reviews Disease primers*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1-19.

Bachert, C, Sousa, AR, Lund, VJ, Scadding, GK, Gevaert, P, Nasser, S, Durham, SR, Cornet, ME, Kariyawasam, HH & Gilbert, J 2017, 'Reduced need for surgery in severe nasal polyposis with mepolizumab: randomized trial', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 140, no. 4, pp. 1024-1031. e1014.

Bachert, C, Zhang, N, Hellings, PW & Bousquet, J 2018, 'Endotype-driven care pathways in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1543-1551.

Ball, ED & Fanger, MW 1983, 'The expression of myeloid-specific antigens on myeloid leukemia cells: Correlations with leukemia subclasses and implications for normal myeloid differentiation'.

Banks, CA, Schlosser, RJ, Wang, EW, Casey, SE, Mulligan, RM & Mulligan, JK 2014, 'Macrophage infiltrate is elevated in CRSwNP sinonasal tissue regardless of atopic status', *Otolaryngology--Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 151, no. 2, pp. 215-220.

Barré-Sinoussi, F & Montagutelli, X 2015, 'Animal models are essential to biological research: issues and perspectives', *Future science OA*, vol. 1, no. 4.

Batra, PS, Tong, L & Citardi, MJ 2013, 'Analysis of comorbidities and objective parameters in refractory chronic rhinosinusitis', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 123, pp. S1-S11.

Bell, CM & Habal, FM 1997, 'Safety of topical 5-aminosalicylic acid in pregnancy', *American Journal of Gastroenterology (Springer Nature)*, vol. 92, no. 12.

Benítez, P, Alobid, I, de Haro, J, Berenguer, J, Bernal-Sprekelsen, M, Pujols, L, Picado, C & Mullol, J 2006, 'A short course of oral prednisone followed by intranasal budesonide is an effective treatment of severe nasal polyps', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 116, no. 5, pp. 770-775.

Benjamin, MR, Stevens, WW, Li, N, Bose, S, Grammer, LC, Kern, RC, Tan, BK, Conley, DB, Smith, SS & Welch, KC 2019, 'Clinical characteristics of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis without nasal polyps in an academic setting', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1010-1016.

Benninger, MS, Ferguson, BJ, Hadley, JA, Hamilos, DL, Jacobs, M, Kennedy, DW, Lanza, DC, Marple, BF, Osguthorpe, JD & Stankiewicz, JA 2003, 'Adult chronic rhinosinusitis: definitions, diagnosis, epidemiology, and pathophysiology', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. S1-S32.

Berger, A 2000, 'Th1 and Th2 responses: what are they?', Bmj, vol. 321, no. 7258, p. 424.

Bergman, R & Parkes, M 2006, 'Systematic review: the use of mesalazine in inflammatory bowel disease', *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 841-855.

Bernstein, JA, White, AA, Han, JK, Lang, DM, Elkayam, D & Baroody, FM 2023, 'Review of evidence supporting the use of nasal corticosteroid irrigation for chronic rhinosinusitis', *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, vol. 130, no. 1, pp. 46-57.

Biedermann, L, Rogler, G, Vavricka, SR, Seibold, F & Seirafi, M 2012, 'Pregnancy and breastfeeding in inflammatory bowel disease', *Digestion*, vol. 86, no. Suppl. 1, pp. 45-54.

Boase, S, Foreman, A, Cleland, E, Tan, L, Melton-Kreft, R, Pant, H, Hu, FZ, Ehrlich, GD & Wormald, P-J 2013, 'The microbiome of chronic rhinosinusitis: culture, molecular diagnostics and biofilm detection', *BMC infectious diseases*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Boase, S, Jervis-Bardy, J, Cleland, E, Pant, H, Tan, L & Wormald, PJ 2013, 'Bacterialinduced epithelial damage promotes fungal biofilm formation in a sheep model of sinusitis', in *International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 3, pp. 341-348.

Boase, S, Valentine, R, Singhal, D, Tan, LW & Wormald, PJ 2011, 'A sheep model to investigate the role of fungal biofilms in sinusitis: fungal and bacterial synergy', in *International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 1, pp. 340-347.

Böhm, SK & Kruis, W 2014, 'Long-term efficacy and safety of once-daily mesalazine granules for the treatment of active ulcerative colitis', *Clinical and experimental gastroenterology*, vol. 7, p. 369.

Bolger, WE, Parsons, DS & Butzin, CA 1991, 'Paranasal sinus bony anatomic variations and mucosal abnormalities: CT analysis for endoscopic sinus surgery', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 56-64.

Braun, H, Stammberger, H, Buzina, W, Freudenschuss, K, Lackner, A & Beham, A 2003, 'Incidence and detection of fungi and eosinophilic granulocytes in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Laryngo-rhino-otologie*, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 330-340.

Briggs, RD, Wright, ST, Cordes, S & Calhoun, KH 2004, 'Smoking in chronic rhinosinusitis: a predictor of poor long-term outcome after endoscopic sinus surgery', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp. 126-128.

Brook, I 2006, 'Bacteriology of chronic sinusitis and acute exacerbation of chronic sinusitis', *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 132, no. 10, pp. 1099-1101.

Brucklacher-Waldert, V, Steinbach, K, Lioznov, M, Kolster, M, Hölscher, C & Tolosa, E 2009, 'Phenotypical characterization of human Th17 cells unambiguously identified by surface IL-17A expression', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 183, no. 9, pp. 5494-5501.

Calus, L, Van Bruaene, N, Bosteels, C, Dejonckheere, S, Van Zele, T, Holtappels, G, Bachert, C & Gevaert, P 2019, 'Twelve-year follow-up study after endoscopic sinus surgery in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis', *Clinical and translational allergy*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1-11.

Cao, P-P, Li, H-B, Wang, B-F, Wang, S-B, You, X-J, Cui, Y-H, Wang, D-Y, Desrosiers, M & Liu, Z 2009, 'Distinct immunopathologic characteristics of various types of chronic rhinosinusitis in adult Chinese', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 124, no. 3, pp. 478-484. e472.

Chan, K-O, Genoway, KA & Javer, AR 2008, 'Effectiveness of itraconazole in the management of refractory allergic fungal rhinosinusitis', *Journal of Otolaryngology--Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 37, no. 6.

Chandra, RK, Pearlman, A, Conley, DB, Kern, RC & Chang, D 2010, 'Significance of osteomeatal complex obstruction', *Journal of Otolaryngology--Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 39, no. 2.

Chanput, W, Mes, JJ & Wichers, HJ 2014, 'THP-1 cell line: an in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach', *International immunopharmacology*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 37-45.

Chen, J-B, James, LK, Davies, AM, Wu, Y-CB, Rimmer, J, Lund, VJ, Chen, J-H, McDonnell, JM, Chan, Y-C & Hutchins, GH 2017, 'Antibodies and superantibodies in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 139, no. 4, pp. 1195-1204. e1111.

Chen, X, Wang, H, Shi, Z, Li, X, Shan, B, Xue, T, Qiao, L & Chen, F 2016, 'Long-term outcome of budesonide middle meatus treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis patients following endoscopic sinus surgery', *Lin Chuang er bi yan hou tou Jing wai ke za zhi= Journal of Clinical Otorhinolaryngology, Head, and Neck Surgery*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 203-205, 208.

Chen, Y, Dales, R & Lin, M 2003, 'The epidemiology of chronic rhinosinusitis in Canadians', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 113, no. 7, pp. 1199-1205.

Cherian, LM, Cooksley, C, Richter, K, Ramezanpour, M, Paramasivan, S, Wormald, PJ, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, AJ 2019, 'Effect of commercial nasal steroid preparation on bacterial growth', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 9, pp. 766-775.

Cho, GS, Moon, B-J, Lee, B-J, Gong, C-H, Kim, NH, Kim, Y-S, Kim, HS & Jang, YJ 2013, 'High rates of detection of respiratory viruses in the nasal washes and mucosae of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of clinical microbiology*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 979-984.

Chow, AW, Benninger, MS, Brook, I, Brozek, JL, Goldstein, EJ, Hicks, LA, Pankey, GA, Seleznick, M, Volturo, G & Wald, ER 2012, 'IDSA clinical practice guideline for acute bacterial rhinosinusitis in children and adults', *Clinical infectious diseases*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. e72-e112.

Cleland, EJ, Bassiouni, A & Wormald, PJ 2013, 'The bacteriology of chronic rhinosinusitis and the pre-eminence of Staphylococcus aureus in revision patients', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 3, pp. 642-646.

Clutterbuck, EJ, Hirst, E & Sanderson, CJ 1989, 'Human interleukin-5 (IL-5) regulates the production of eosinophils in human bone marrow cultures: comparison and interaction with IL-1, IL-3, IL-6, and GMCSF'.

Clutterbuck, EJ & Sanderson, CJ 1988, 'Human eosinophil hematopoiesis studied in vitro by means of murine eosinophil differentiation factor (IL5): production of functionally active eosinophils from normal human bone marrow'.

Cohen, NA, Widelitz, JS, Chiu, AG, Palmer, JN & Kennedy, DW 2006, 'Familial aggregation of sinonasal polyps correlates with severity of disease', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 601-604.

Commins, SP, Borish, L & Steinke, JW 2010, 'Immunologic messenger molecules: cytokines, interferons, and chemokines', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 125, no. 2, pp. S53-S72.

Crawford, A, Angelosanto, JM, Nadwodny, KL, Blackburn, SD & Wherry, EJ 2011, 'A role for the chemokine RANTES in regulating CD8 T cell responses during chronic viral infection', *PLoS pathogens*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. e1002098.

Dahl, J-U, Gray, MJ, Bazopoulou, D, Beaufay, F, Lempart, J, Koenigsknecht, MJ, Wang, Y, Baker, JR, Hasler, WL & Young, VB 2017, 'The anti-inflammatory drug mesalamine targets bacterial polyphosphate accumulation', *Nature microbiology*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 1-5.

Dahlin, JS & Hallgren, J 2015, 'Mast cell progenitors: origin, development and migration to tissues', *Molecular immunology*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 9-17.

Daines, SM & Orlandi, RR 2010, 'Inflammatory cytokines in allergy and rhinosinusitis', *Current opinion in otolaryngology & head and neck surgery*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 187-190.

Daniels, MA, Teixeiro, E, Gill, J, Hausmann, B, Roubaty, D, Holmberg, K, Werlen, G, Holländer, GA, Gascoigne, NR & Palmer, E 2006, 'Thymic selection threshold defined by compartmentalization of Ras/MAPK signalling', *Nature*, vol. 444, no. 7120, pp. 724-729.

De Nitto, D, Sarra, M, Pallone, F & Monteleone, G 2010, 'Interleukin-21 triggers effector cell responses in the gut', *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, vol. 16, no. 29, p. 3638.

Demirel, T, Orhan, KS, Keleş, N & Değer, K 2008, 'Comparison of the efficacy of nasal drop and nasal spray applications of fluticasone propionate in nasal polyps', *Kulak Burun Bogaz Ihtisas Dergisi: KBB= Journal of Ear, Nose, and Throat*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1-6.

Den Beste, KA, Hoddeson, EK, Parkos, CA, Nusrat, A & Wise, SK 2013, 'Epithelial permeability alterations in an in vitro air–liquid interface model of allergic fungal rhinosinusitis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 3, pp. 19-25.

Derycke, L, Eyerich, S, Van Crombruggen, K, Pérez-Novo, C, Holtappels, G, Deruyck, N, Gevaert, P & Bachert, C 2014, 'Mixed T helper cell signatures in chronic rhinosinusitis with and without polyps', *PloS one*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. e97581.

Derycke, L, Zhang, N, Holtappels, G, Dutré, T & Bachert, C 2012, 'IL-17A as a regulator of neutrophil survival in nasal polyp disease of patients with and without cystic fibrosis', *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 193-200.

Desrosiers, MY & Kilty, SJ 2008, 'Treatment alternatives for chronic rhinosinusitis persisting after ESS: what to do when antibiotics, steroids and surgery fail', *Rhinology*, vol. 46, no. 1, p. 3.

Di Paolo, M, Paoluzi, O, Pica, R, Iacopini, F, Crispino, P, Rivera, M, Spera, G & Paoluzi, P 2001, 'Sulphasalazine and 5-aminosalicylic acid in long-term treatment of ulcerative colitis: report on tolerance and side-effects', *Digestive and Liver Disease*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 563-569.

Dignass, A, Schnabel, R, Romatowski, J, Pavlenko, V, Dorofeyev, A, Derova, J, Jonaitis, L, Dilger, K, Nacak, T & Greinwald, R 2018, 'Efficacy and safety of a novel high-dose mesalazine tablet in mild to moderate active ulcerative colitis: a double-blind, multicentre, randomised trial', *United European gastroenterology journal*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 138-147.

Djukanovic, R, Lai, C, Wilson, J, Britten, K, Wilson, S, Roche, W, Howarth, P & Holgate, S 1992, 'Bronchial mucosal manifestations of atopy: a comparison of markers of inflammation between atopic asthmatics, atopic nonasthmatics and healthy controls', *European Respiratory Journal*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 538-544.

Dogan, M, Sahin, M & Yenisey, C 2019, 'Increased TSLP, IL-33, IL-25, IL-19, IL 21 and amphiregulin (AREG) levels in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyp', *European archives of oto-rhino-laryngology*, vol. 276, pp. 1685-1691.

Dougherty, RH, Sidhu, SS, Raman, K, Solon, M, Solberg, OD, Caughey, GH, Woodruff, PG & Fahy, JV 2010, 'Accumulation of intraepithelial mast cells with a unique protease phenotype in TH2-high asthma', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 125, no. 5, pp. 1046-1053. e1048.

Drake-Lee, A & Price, J 1997, 'Mast cell ultrastructure in the inferior turbinate and stroma of nasal polyps', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 340-345.

Duchmann, R & Zeitz, M 2006, 'T regulatory cell suppression of colitis: the role of TGF- β ', *Gut*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 604-606.

Dursun, E, Korkmaz, H, Eryilmaz, A, Bayiz, Ü, Sertkaya, D & Samim, E 2003, 'Clinical predictors of long-term success after endoscopic sinus surgery', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 129, no. 5, pp. 526-531.

Dvorak, A, Furitsu, T, Letourneau, L, Ishizaka, T & Ackerman, S 1991, 'Mature eosinophils stimulated to develop in human cord blood mononuclear cell cultures supplemented with recombinant human interleukin-5. Part I. Piecemeal degranulation of specific granules and distribution of Charcot-Leyden crystal protein', *The American journal of pathology*, vol. 138, no. 1, p. 69.

Ebbens, FA, Scadding, GK, Badia, L, Hellings, PW, Jorissen, M, Mullol, J, Cardesin, A, Bachert, C, van Zele, TP & Dijkgraaf, MG 2006, 'Amphotericin B nasal lavages: not a solution for patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 118, no. 5, pp. 1149-1156.

Ebbo, M, Crinier, A, Vély, F & Vivier, E 2017, 'Innate lymphoid cells: major players in inflammatory diseases', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 665-678.

Eckert, F & Schmid, U 1989, 'Identification of plasmacytoid T cells in lymphoid hyperplasia of the skin', *Archives of dermatology*, vol. 125, no. 11, pp. 1518-1524.

Egan, LJ, Mays, DC, Huntoon, CJ, Bell, MP, Pike, MG, Sandborn, WJ, Lipsky, JJ & McKean, DJ 1999, 'Inhibition of interleukin-1-stimulated NF-κB RelA/p65 phosphorylation by mesalamine is accompanied by decreased transcriptional activity', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 274, no. 37, pp. 26448-26453.

Emanuel, IA & Shah, SB 2000, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis: allergy and sinus computed tomography relationships', *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 123, no. 6, pp. 687-691.

Ettinger, R, Sims, GP, Fairhurst, A-M, Robbins, R, da Silva, YS, Spolski, R, Leonard, WJ & Lipsky, PE 2005, 'IL-21 induces differentiation of human naive and memory B cells into antibody-secreting plasma cells', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 175, no. 12, pp. 7867-7879.

Eweiss, AZ & Khalil, HS 2013, 'The prevalence of frontal cells and their relation to frontal sinusitis: a radiological study of the frontal recess area', *International Scholarly Research Notices*, vol. 2013.

Fajt, ML, Gelhaus, SL, Freeman, B, Uvalle, CE, Trudeau, JB, Holguin, F & Wenzel, SE 2013, 'Prostaglandin D2 pathway upregulation: relation to asthma severity, control, and TH2 inflammation', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 1504-1512. e1512.

Fawcett, DW 1955, 'An experimental study of mast cell degranulation and regeneration', *The Anatomical Record*, vol. 121, no. 1, pp. 29-51.

Feldman, S, Kasjanski, R, Poposki, J, Hernandez, D, Chen, JN, Norton, JE, Suh, L, Carter, RG, Stevens, WW & Peters, AT 2017, 'Chronic airway inflammation provides a unique environment for B cell activation and antibody production', *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 457-466.

Fokkens, W, Lund, V & Mullol, J 2007, 'European position paper on rhinosinusitis and nasal polyps 2007', *Rhinology. Supplement*, vol. 20, pp. 1-136.

Fokkens, WJ, Holm, AF, Rijntjes, E, Mulder, PG & Vroom, TM 1990, 'Characterization and quantification of cellular infiltrates in nasal mucosa of patients with grass pollen allergy, non-allergic patients with nasal polyps and controls', *International archives of allergy and immunology*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 66-72.

Fokkens, WJ, Lund, VJ, Hopkins, C, Hellings, PW, Kern, R, Reitsma, S, Toppila-Salmi, S, Bernal-Sprekelsen, M, Mullol, J & Alobid, I 2020, 'European position paper on rhinosinusitis and nasal polyps 2020', *Rhinology*, vol. 58, pp. I-+.

Fokkens, WJ, Lund, VJ, Mullol, J, Bachert, C, Alobid, I, Baroody, F, Cohen, N, Cervin, A, Douglas, R & Gevaert, P 2012, 'EPOS 2012: European position paper on rhinosinusitis and nasal polyps 2012. A summary for otorhinolaryngologists', *Rhinology*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 1-12.

Fokkens, WJ, Mullol, J, Kennedy, D, Philpott, C, Seccia, V, Kern, RC, Coste, A, Sousa, AR, Howarth, PH & Benson, VS 2023, 'Mepolizumab for chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps (SYNAPSE): In-depth sinus surgery analysis', *Allergy*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 812-821.

Fossiez, F, Djossou, O, Chomarat, P, Flores-Romo, L, Ait-Yahia, S, Maat, C, Pin, J-J, Garrone, P, Garcia, E & Saeland, S 1996, 'T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines', *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 183, no. 6, pp. 2593-2603.

Foster, RA, Zander, DS, Mergo, PJ & Valentine, JF 2003, 'Mesalamine-related lung disease: clinical, radiographic, and pathologic manifestations', *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 308-315.

Fowler, S & Powrie, F 1999, 'Control of immune pathology by IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells', in *Springer seminars in immunopathology*, Springer, vol. 21, pp. 287-294.

Frączek, M, Rostkowska-Nadolska, B, Kapral, M, Szota, J, Kręcicki, T & Mazurek, U 2013, 'Microarray analysis of NF-κB-dependent genes in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 209-217.

Freudenberger, T, Grizzanti, JN & Rosenstreich, DL 1988, 'Natural immunity to dust mites in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 855-862.

Germain, RN 2002, 'T-cell development and the CD4–CD8 lineage decision', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 309-322.

Gevaert, E, Zhang, N, Krysko, O, Lan, F, Holtappels, G, De Ruyck, N, Nauwynck, H, Yousefi, S, Simon, H-U & Bachert, C 2017, 'Extracellular eosinophilic traps in association with Staphylococcus aureus at the site of epithelial barrier defects in patients with severe airway inflammation', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 139, no. 6, pp. 1849-1860. e1846.

Gevaert, P, Calus, L, Van Zele, T, Blomme, K, De Ruyck, N, Bauters, W, Hellings, P, Brusselle, G, De Bacquer, D & Van Cauwenberge, P 2013, 'Omalizumab is effective in allergic and nonallergic patients with nasal polyps and asthma', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. 110-116. e111.

Gevaert, P, Hellman, C, Lundblad, L, Lundahl, J, Holtappels, G, Van Cauwenberge, P, Tavernier, J & Bachert, C 2009, 'Differential expression of the interleukin 5 receptor α isoforms in blood and tissue eosinophils of nasal polyp patients', *Allergy*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 725-732.

Gevaert, P, Holtappels, G, Johansson, S, Cuvelier, C, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2005, 'Organization of secondary lymphoid tissue and local IgE formation to Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxins in nasal polyp tissue', *Allergy*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 71-79.

Gevaert, P, Lang-Loidolt, D, Lackner, A, Stammberger, H, Staudinger, H, Van Zele, T, Holtappels, G, Tavernier, J, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2006, 'Nasal IL-5 levels determine the response to anti–IL-5 treatment in patients with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 118, no. 5, pp. 1133-1141.

Gevaert, P, Van Bruaene, N, Cattaert, T, Van Steen, K, Van Zele, T, Acke, F, De Ruyck, N, Blomme, K, Sousa, AR & Marshall, RP 2011, 'Mepolizumab, a humanized anti–IL-5 mAb, as a treatment option for severe nasal polyposis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 128, no. 5, pp. 989-995. e988.

Giger, R, Pasche, P, Cheseaux, C, Cantini, L, Rossetti, A, Landis, B & Lacroix, J 2003, 'Comparison of once-versus twice-daily use of beclomethasone dipropionate aqueous nasal spray in the treatment of allergic and non-allergic chronic rhinosinusitis', *European archives* of oto-rhino-laryngology, vol. 260, no. 3, pp. 135-140.

Gittelman, PD, Jacobs, JB, Lebowitz, AS & Tierno Jr, PM 1991, 'Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage in patients with rhinosinusitis', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 101, no. 7, pp. 733-737.

Goggin, R, Jardeleza, C, Wormald, PJ & Vreugde, S 2014, 'Colloidal silver: a novel treatment for Staphylococcus aureus biofilms?', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 4, pp. 171-175.

Goggin, RK, Bennett, CA, Bialasiewicz, S, Vediappan, RS, Vreugde, S, Wormald, PJ & Psaltis, AJ 2019, 'The presence of virus significantly associates with chronic rhinosinusitis disease severity', *Allergy*, vol. 74, no. 8, p. 1569.

Goggin, RK, Bennett, CA, Ramezanpour, M, Hu, H, Fenix, K, Bassiouni, A, Javadiyan, S, Bialasiewicz, S, Wormald, P-J & Psaltis, AJ 2020, 'Association between viral infection and increased mucosal eosinophils and CD8+ CD103+ T cells in chronic rhinosinusitis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, vol. 10, pp. 978-980.

Goldstein-Daruech, N, Cope, EK, Zhao, K-Q, Vukovic, K, Kofonow, JM, Doghramji, L, González, B, Chiu, AG, Kennedy, DW & Palmer, JN 2011, 'Tobacco smoke mediated induction of sinonasal microbial biofilms', *PloS one*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. e15700.

Golebski, K, van Tongeren, J, van Egmond, D, de Groot, EJ, Fokkens, WJ & van Drunen, CM 2016, 'Specific induction of TSLP by the viral RNA analogue Poly (I: C) in primary epithelial cells derived from nasal polyps', *PloS one*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. e0152808.

Goodnow, CC, Vinuesa, CG, Randall, KL, Mackay, F & Brink, R 2010, 'Control systems and decision making for antibody production', *Nature immunology*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 681-688.

Gordon, S 2003, 'Alternative activation of macrophages', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 23-35.

Gordts, F, Halewyck, S, Pierard, D, Clement, PA & Kaufman, L 2000, 'Microbiology of the middle meatus: a comparison between normal adults and children', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 114, no. 3, pp. 184-188.

Goutaki, M, Maurer, E, Halbeisen, FS, Amirav, I, Barbato, A, Behan, L, Boon, M, Casaulta, C, Clement, A & Crowley, S 2017, 'The international primary ciliary dyskinesia cohort (iPCD Cohort): methods and first results', *European Respiratory Journal*, vol. 49, no. 1.

Grayson, JW & Harvey, RJ 2019, 'Topical corticosteroid irrigations in chronic rhinosinusitis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 9, pp. S9-S15.

Greisner III, WA & Settipane, GA 1996, 'Hereditary factor for nasal polyps', in *Allergy and asthma proceedings*, OceanSide Publications, vol. 17, p. 283.

Groschwitz, KR, Wu, D, Osterfeld, H, Ahrens, R & Hogan, SP 2013, 'Chymase-mediated intestinal epithelial permeability is regulated by a protease-activating receptor/matrix metalloproteinase-2-dependent mechanism', *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, vol. 304, no. 5, pp. G479-G489.

Gurish, MF & Austen, KF 2012, 'Developmental origin and functional specialization of mast cell subsets', *Immunity*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 25-33.

Gutman, M, Torres, A, Keen, KJ & Houser, SM 2004, 'Prevalence of allergy in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 130, no. 5, pp. 545-552.

Ha, KR, Psaltis, AJ, Tan, L & Wormald, P-J 2007, 'A sheep model for the study of biofilms in rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 339-345.

Habib, A-R, Campbell, R, Kalish, L, Wong, EH, Grayson, J, Alvarado, R, Sacks, R & Harvey, RJ 2019, 'The burden of chronic upper airway disorders in Australia: a population-based cross-sectional study', *Australian Journal of Otolaryngology*, vol. 2.

Hackstein, H, Renner, FC, Bohnert, A, Nockher, A, Frommer, T, Bein, G & Weimer, R 2005, 'Dendritic cell deficiency in the blood of kidney transplant patients on long-term immunosuppression: results of a prospective matched-cohort study', *American journal of transplantation*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 2945-2953.

Hall-Stoodley, L, Costerton, JW & Stoodley, P 2004, 'Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases', *Nature reviews microbiology*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 95-108.

Hamilos, DL 2011, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis: epidemiology and medical management', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 128, no. 4, pp. 693-707.

Hamilos, DL 2016, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis in patients with cystic fibrosis', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 605-612.

Hamilos, DL, Leung, DY, Wood, R, Cunninghama, L, Bean, DK, Yasruelb, Z, Schotmanb, E & Hamid, Q 1995, 'Evidence for distinct cytokine expression in allergic versus nonallergic chronic sinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 537-544.

Hamilos, DL, Thawley, SE, Kramper, MA, Kamil, A & Hamid, QA 1999, 'Effect of intranasal fluticasone on cellular infiltration, endothelial adhesion molecule expression, and proinflammatory cytokine mRNA in nasal polyp disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 103, no. 1, pp. 79-87.

Han, JK, Bachert, C, Fokkens, W, Desrosiers, M, Wagenmann, M, Lee, SE, Smith, SG, Martin, N, Mayer, B & Yancey, SW 2021, 'Mepolizumab for chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps (SYNAPSE): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial', *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1141-1153.

Hanauer, S, Schwartz, J, Robinson, M, Roufail, W, Arora, S, Cello, J & Safdi, M 1993, 'Mesalamine capsules for treatment of active ulcerative colitis: Results of a controlled trial', *American Journal of Gastroenterology (Springer Nature)*, vol. 88, no. 8.

Harlin, SL, Ansel, DG, Lane, SR, Myers, J, Kephart, GM & Gleich, GJ 1988, 'A clinical and pathologic study of chronic sinusitis: the role of the eosinophil', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 81, no. 5, pp. 867-875.

Harrington, LE, Hatton, RD, Mangan, PR, Turner, H, Murphy, TL, Murphy, KM & Weaver, CT 2005, 'Interleukin 17–producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages', *Nature immunology*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 1123-1132.

Hartigan-O'Connor, DJ, Poon, C, Sinclair, E & McCune, JM 2007, 'Human CD4+ regulatory T cells express lower levels of the IL-7 receptor alpha chain (CD127), allowing consistent identification and sorting of live cells', *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 319, no. 1-2, pp. 41-52.

Hartmann, E, Graefe, H, Hopert, A, Pries, R, Rothenfusser, S, Poeck, H, Mack, B, Endres, S, Hartmann, G & Wollenberg, B 2006, 'Analysis of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells in nasal epithelium', *Clinical and vaccine immunology*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 1278-1286.

Harvey, R, Hannan, SA, Badia, L & Scadding, G 2007, 'Nasal saline irrigations for the symptoms of chronic rhinosinusitis', *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, no. 3.

Harvey, RJ, Goddard, JC, Wise, SK & Schlosser, RJ 2008, 'Effects of endoscopic sinus surgery and delivery device on cadaver sinus irrigation', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 139, no. 1, pp. 137-142.

Harvey, RJ, Snidvongs, K, Kalish, LH, Oakley, GM & Sacks, R 2018, 'Corticosteroid nasal irrigations are more effective than simple sprays in a randomized double-blinded placebocontrolled trial for chronic rhinosinusitis after sinus surgery', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 8, pp. 461-470.

Harvey, RJ, Wallwork, BD & Lund, VJ 2009, 'Anti-inflammatory effects of macrolides: applications in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Immunology and Allergy Clinics*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 689-703.

Hastan, D, Fokkens, W, Bachert, C, Newson, R, Bislimovska, J, Bockelbrink, A, Bousquet, P, Brozek, G, Bruno, A & Dahlén, S 2011, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis in Europe–an underestimated disease. A GA2LEN study', *Allergy*, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 1216-1223.

Hauptman, G & Ryan, MW 2007, 'The effect of saline solutions on nasal patency and mucociliary clearance in rhinosinusitis patients', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 137, no. 5, pp. 815-821.

Hawrylowicz, C & O'garra, A 2005, 'Potential role of interleukin-10-secreting regulatory T cells in allergy and asthma', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 271-283.

Hayashi, Y, Ishii, Y, Hata-Suzuki, M, Arai, R, Chibana, K, Takemasa, A & Fukuda, T 2013, 'Comparative analysis of circulating dendritic cell subsets in patients with atopic diseases and sarcoidosis', *Respiratory research*, vol. 14, pp. 1-8.

Henriksson, G, Norlander, T, Forsgren, J & Stierna, P 2001, 'Effects of topical budesonide treatment on glucocorticoid receptor mRNA down-regulation and cytokine patterns in nasal polyps', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Henry, EK, Inclan-Rico, JM & Siracusa, MC 2017, 'Type 2 cytokine responses: regulating immunity to helminth parasites and allergic inflammation', *Current pharmacology reports*, vol. 3, pp. 346-359.

Hernandez-Pando, R & Rook, G 1994, 'The role of TNF-alpha in T-cell-mediated inflammation depends on the Th1/Th2 cytokine balance', *Immunology*, vol. 82, no. 4, p. 591.

Hilding, A 1933, 'Experimental sinus surgery. Effects of operative windows on nasal sinuses', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, vol. 17, pp. 321-327.

Ho, J, Alvarado, R, Rimmer, J, Sewell, WA, Walter, S, Earls, P, Campbell, RG, Sacks, R, Kalish, LH & Harvey, RJ 2022, 'Comparison of sinonasal histopathological changes in biological treatment of eosinophilic chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 72-80.

Hoggard, M, Biswas, K, Zoing, M, Wagner Mackenzie, B, Taylor, MW & Douglas, RG 2017, 'Evidence of microbiota dysbiosis in chronic rhinosinusitis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 7, pp. 230-239.

Hoover, GE, Newman, LJ, Platts-Mills, TA, Phillips, CD, Gross, CW & Wheatley, LM 1997, 'Chronic sinusitis: risk factors for extensive disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 185-191.

Hopkins, C, Gillett, S, Slack, R, Lund, V & Browne, J 2009, 'Psychometric validity of the 22item Sinonasal Outcome Test', *Clinical otolaryngology*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 447-454.

Houtak, G, Nepal, R, Bouras, G, Shaghayegh, G, Bennett, C, Finnie, J, Fenix, K, Psaltis, AJ, Wormald, P-J & Vreugde, S 2023, 'Staphylococcus aureus biofilm secreted factors cause mucosal damage, mast cell infiltration and goblet cell hyperplasia in a rat rhinosinusitis model', *bioRxiv*, p. 2023.2003. 2029.534842.

Howard, BE & Lal, D 2013, 'Oral steroid therapy in chronic rhinosinusitis with and without nasal polyposis', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 236-243.

Hsu, J, Lanza, DC & Kennedy, DW 1998, 'Antimicrobial resistance in bacterial chronic sinusitis', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 243-248.

Hulse, KE, Norton, JE, Suh, L, Zhong, Q, Mahdavinia, M, Simon, P, Kern, RC, Conley, DB, Chandra, RK & Tan, BK 2013, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps is characterized by B-cell inflammation and EBV-induced protein 2 expression', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 131, no. 4, pp. 1075-1083. e1077.

Hume, DA 2006, 'The mononuclear phagocyte system', *Current opinion in immunology*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 49-53.

Hwang, ES, Hong, J-H & Glimcher, LH 2005, 'IL-2 production in developing Th1 cells is regulated by heterodimerization of RelA and T-bet and requires T-bet serine residue 508', *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 202, no. 9, pp. 1289-1300.

Iacucci, M, de Silva, S & Ghosh, S 2010, 'Mesalazine in inflammatory bowel disease: a trendy topic once again?', *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 127-133.

Ickrath, P, Kleinsasser, N, Ding, X, Ginzkey, C, Beyersdorf, N, Hagen, R, Kerkau, T & Hackenberg, S 2018, 'Accumulation of CD69+ tissue-resident memory T cells in the nasal polyps of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *International journal of molecular medicine*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 1116-1124.

Ireland, A, Priddle, J & Jewell, D 1990, 'Acetylation of 5-aminosalicylic acid by isolated human colonic epithelial cells', *Clinical Science*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 105-111.

Jaakkola, MS & Jaakkola, JJ 2002, 'Effects of environmental tobacco smoke on the respiratory health of adults', *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health*, pp. 52-70.

Jackson, LL & Kountakis, SE 2005, 'Classification and management of rhinosinusitis and its complications', *Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1143-1153.

Jahnsen, FL, Haye, R, Gran, E, Brandtzaeg, P & Johansen, F-E 1999, 'Glucocorticosteroids inhibit mRNA expression for eotaxin, eotaxin-2, and monocyte-chemotactic protein-4 in human airway inflammation with eosinophilia', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 163, no. 3, pp. 1545-1551.

Janeway, C, Travers, P, Walport, M & Shlomchik, M 2002, 'Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease, 5th Ed', vol. 26, Ringgold, Inc, Portland, p. 101.

Jang, YJ, Kwon, H-J, Park, H-W & Lee, B-J 2006, 'Detection of rhinovirus in turbinate epithelial cells of chronic sinusitis', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 634-636.

Jankowski, R, Bouchoua, F, Coffinet, L & Vignaud, J 2002, 'Clinical factors influencing the eosinophil infiltration of nasal polyps', *Rhinology*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 173-178.

Jaqueline, R-A, Jesús, KY-F, Rodrigo, B, Olga, B & Julio, G 2006, 'Association of HLA-DR3 and HLA-DR4 with sinonasal polyposis in Mexican Mestizos', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 135, no. 1, pp. 90-93.

Jego, G, Palucka, AK, Blanck, J-P, Chalouni, C, Pascual, V & Banchereau, J 2003, 'Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6', *Immunity*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 225-234.

Jia, M, Chen, Z, Du, X, Guo, Y, Sun, T & Zhao, X 2014, 'A simple animal model of Staphylococcus aureus biofilm in sinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. e115-e119.

JM, AM 1995, 'The comparative test of nasal mucociliary function in healthy subjects, smokers and non-smokers', *Acta otorrinolaringologica espanola*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 187-189.

JOHANSEN, LV, ILLUM, P, KRISTENSEN, S, WINTHER, L, PETERSEN, SV & SYNNERSTAD, B 1993, 'The effect of budesonide (Rhinocort®) in the treatment of small and medium-sized nasal polyps', *Clinical Otolaryngology & Allied Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 524-527.

Jonstam, K, Swanson, BN, Mannent, LP, Cardell, LO, Tian, N, Wang, Y, Zhang, D, Fan, C, Holtappels, G & Hamilton, JD 2019, 'Dupilumab reduces local type 2 pro-inflammatory biomarkers in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis', *Allergy*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 743-752.

Jorissen, M & Bachert, C 2009, 'Effect of corticosteroids on wound healing after endoscopic sinus surgery', *Rhinology*, vol. 47, no. 3, p. 280.

Jung, HJ, Zhang, Y-L, Kim, D-K, Rhee, C-S & Kim, D-Y 2019, 'The role of NF- κ B in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Allergy, asthma & immunology research*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 806-817.

Kaczmarek, M, Banaszewski, J, Leszczyńska, M, Łagiedo-Żelazowska, M, Nowicka, A, Romańska, A, Wierzbicka, M & Dworacki, G 2019, 'High frequency of macrophages expressing elevated level of CD80, PD-Ls and TLR1 in nasal polyps of CRS patients', *Immunobiology*, vol. 224, no. 1, pp. 154-162.

Kadowaki, N, Ho, S, Antonenko, S, de Waal Malefyt, R, Kastelein, RA, Bazan, F & Liu, Y-J 2001, 'Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens', *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 194, no. 6, pp. 863-870.

Kaiser, GC, Yan, F & Polk, DB 1999, 'Mesalamine blocks tumor necrosis factor growth inhibition and nuclear factor κB activation in mouse colonocytes', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 116, no. 3, pp. 602-609.

Kaliner, MA, Osguthorpe, JD, Fireman, P, Anon, J, Georgitis, J, Davis, ML, Naclerio, R & Kennedy, D 1997, 'Sinusitis: bench to bedside: current findings, future directions', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 99, no. 6, pp. S829-S847.

Kang, TW, Chung, JH, Cho, SH, Lee, SH, Kim, KR & Jeong, JH 2017, 'The effectiveness of budesonide nasal irrigation after endoscopic sinus surgery in chronic rhinosinusitis with asthma', *Clinical and experimental otorhinolaryngology*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 91-96.

Kaplan, MH, Schindler, U, Smiley, ST & Grusby, MJ 1996, 'Stat6 is required for mediating responses to IL-4 and for the development of Th2 cells', *Immunity*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 313-319.

Karagozian, R & Burakoff, R 2007, 'The role of mesalamine in the treatment of ulcerative colitis', *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 893-903.

Kariya, S, Okano, M, Oto, T, Higaki, T, Makihara, S, Haruna, T & Nishizaki, K 2014, 'Pulmonary function in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and allergic rhinitis', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 128, no. 3, pp. 255-262.

Kato, A, Peters, A, Suh, L, Carter, R, Harris, KE, Chandra, R, Conley, D, Grammer, LC, Kern, R & Schleimer, RP 2008, 'Evidence of a role for B cell–activating factor of the TNF family in the pathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 1385-1392. e1382.

Keswani, A, Dunn, NM, Manzur, A, Kashani, S, Bossuyt, X, Grammer, LC, Conley, DB, Tan, BK, Kern, RC & Schleimer, RP 2017, 'The clinical significance of specific antibody deficiency (SAD) severity in chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS)', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1105-1111.

Khalil, Y, Tharwat, A, Abdou, AG, Essa, E, Essawy, AH, Elnakib, O & Elnaidany, NF 2011, 'The role of antifungal therapy in the prevention of recurrent allergic fungal rhinosinusitis after functional endoscopic sinus surgery: a randomized, controlled study', *Ear, Nose & Throat Journal*, vol. 90, no. 8, pp. E1-E7.

Khan, AA, Piris, J & Truelove, S 1977, 'An experiment to determine the active therapeutic moiety of sulphasalazine', *The Lancet*, vol. 310, no. 8044, pp. 892-895.

Khawar, MB, Abbasi, MH & Sheikh, N 2016, 'IL-32: a novel pluripotent inflammatory interleukin, towards gastric inflammation, gastric cancer, and chronic rhino sinusitis', *Mediators of inflammation*, vol. 2016.

Khonsary, SA 2017, 'Guyton and Hall: textbook of medical physiology', *Surgical neurology international*, vol. 8.

Kim, DW, Eun, KM, Roh, EY, Shin, S & Kim, D-K 2019, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis without nasal polyps in Asian patients shows mixed inflammatory patterns and neutrophil-related disease severity', *Mediators of inflammation*, vol. 2019.

Kim, DW, Kim, D-K, Jo, A, Jin, HR, Eun, KM, Mo, J-H & Cho, SH 2016, 'Age-related decline of neutrophilic inflammation is associated with better postoperative prognosis in non-eosinophilic nasal polyps', *PloS one*, vol. 11, no. 2, p. e0148442.

Kim, JH, Kim, Y-S, Cho, GS, Kim, NH, Gong, C-H, Lee, B-J & Jang, YJ 2015, 'Human rhinovirus-induced proinflammatory cytokine and interferon-β responses in nasal epithelial cells from chronic rhinosinusitis patients', *Allergy, asthma & immunology research*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 489-496.

Kim, K, Kim, G, Kim, J-Y, Yun, HJ, Lim, S-C & Choi, HS 2014, 'Interleukin-22 promotes epithelial cell transformation and breast tumorigenesis via MAP3K8 activation', *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1352-1361.

Kinugasa, T, Gu, X, Yang, H & Reinecker, H-C 2000, 'Extracellular regulated mitogen activated kinase activity is required for the regulation of the intestinal epithelial cell barrier function by IL-17', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 4, no. 118, p. A549.

Kirsche, H, Niederführ, A, Deutschle, T, Fuchs, C & Riechelmann, H 2010, 'Ratio of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells and TH2 skew in CRS with nasal polyps', *Allergy*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 24-31.

Kirtsreesakul, V & Atchariyasathian, V 2006, 'Nasal polyposis: role of allergy on therapeutic response of eosinophil-and noneosinophil-dominated inflammation', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 95-100.

Klossek, J-M, Dubreuil, L, Richet, H, Richet, B & Beutter, P 1998, 'Bacteriology of chronic purulent secretions in chronic rhinosinusitis', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 112, no. 12, pp. 1162-1166.

Kolmogorov, M, Yuan, J, Lin, Y & Pevzner, PA 2019, 'Assembly of long, error-prone reads using repeat graphs', *Nature biotechnology*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 540-546.

König, K, Klemens, C, Haack, M, Nicoló, MS, Becker, S, Kramer, MF & Gröger, M 2016, 'Cytokine patterns in nasal secretion of non-atopic patients distinguish between chronic

rhinosinusitis with or without nasal polys', *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Kortekaas Krohn, I, Shikhagaie, MM, Golebski, K, Bernink, J, Breynaert, C, Creyns, B, Diamant, Z, Fokkens, WJ, Gevaert, P & Hellings, P 2018, 'Emerging roles of innate lymphoid cells in inflammatory diseases: clinical implications', *Allergy*, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 837-850.

Kowalski, M, Lewandowska-Polak, A, Woźniak, J, Ptasińska, A, Jankowski, A, Wągrowska-Danilewicz, M, Danilewicz, M & Pawliczak, R 2005, 'Association of stem cell factor expression in nasal polyp epithelial cells with aspirin sensitivity and asthma', *Allergy*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 631-637.

Krabbendam, L, Bal, SM, Spits, H & Golebski, K 2018, 'New insights into the function, development, and plasticity of type 2 innate lymphoid cells', *Immunological reviews*, vol. 286, no. 1, pp. 74-85.

Kruis, W, Bar–Meir, S, Feher, J, Mickisch, O, Mlitz, H, Faszczyk, M, Chowers, Y, Lengyele, G, Kovacs, A & Lakatos, L 2003, 'The optimal dose of 5-aminosalicylic acid in active ulcerative colitis: a dose-finding study with newly developed mesalamine', *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 36-43.

Kruszewska, H, Zareba, T & Tyski, S 2002, 'Search of antimicrobial activity of selected nonantibiotic drugs', *Acta poloniae pharmaceutica*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 436-438.

Krysko, O, Holtappels, G, Zhang, N, Kubica, M, Deswarte, K, Derycke, L, Claeys, S, Hammad, H, Brusselle, G & Vandenabeele, P 2011, 'Alternatively activated macrophages and impaired phagocytosis of S. aureus in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Allergy*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 396-403.

Kühn, D, Hospowsky, C, Both, M, Hey, M & Laudien, M 2018, 'Manifestation of granulomatosis with polyangiitis in head and neck', *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, vol. 36, no. 111, pp. S78-84.

Kumar, V, Abbas, A & Aster, J 2013, 'Robbins basic pathology. 9th', *Philadelphia, USA, Saunders: Elsevier*, vol. 2572013.

Laan, M, Cui, Z-H, Hoshino, H, Lötvall, J, Sjöstrand, M, Gruenert, DC, Skoogh, B-E & Lindén, A 1999, 'Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via CXC chemokine release in the airways', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 162, no. 4, pp. 2347-2352.

Laidlaw, TM, Mullol, J, Woessner, KM, Amin, N & Mannent, LP 2021, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps and asthma', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1133-1141.

Laidlaw, TM, Prussin, C, Panettieri, RA, Lee, S, Ferguson, BJ, Adappa, ND, Lane, AP, Palumbo, ML, Sullivan, M & Archibald, D 2019, 'Dexpramipexole depletes blood and tissue eosinophils in nasal polyps with no change in polyp size', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 129, no. 2, pp. E61-E66.

Lam, K, Schleimer, R & Kern, RC 2015, 'The etiology and pathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis: a review of current hypotheses', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1-10.

Lam, M, Hull, L, Imrie, A, Snidvongs, K, Chin, D, Pratt, E, Kalish, L, Sacks, R, Earls, P & Sewell, W 2015, 'Interleukin-25 and interleukin-33 as mediators of eosinophilic inflammation in chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 175-181.

Lampinen, M, Rönnblom, A, Amin, K, Kristjansson, G, Rorsman, F, Sangfelt, P, Säfsten, B, Wagner, M, Wanders, A & Winqvist, O 2005, 'Eosinophil granulocytes are activated during the remission phase of ulcerative colitis', *Gut*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 1714-1720.

Langille, M, Walters, E, Dziegielewski, PT, Kotylak, T & Wright, ED 2012, 'Frontal sinus cells: identification, prevalence, and association with frontal sinus mucosal thickening', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. e107-e110.

Lanza, DC & Kennedy, DW 1997, 'Adult rhinosinusitis defined', *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 117, no. 3_suppl, pp. S1-S7.

Lau, A, Lester, S, Moraitis, S, Ou, J, Psaltis, AJ, McColl, S, Rischmueller, M, Wormald, P-J & Vreugde, S 2017, 'Tertiary lymphoid organs in recalcitrant chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 139, no. 4, pp. 1371-1373. e1376.

Lavelle, GM, White, MM, Browne, N, McElvaney, NG & Reeves, EP 2016, 'Animal models of cystic fibrosis pathology: phenotypic parallels and divergences', *BioMed research international*, vol. 2016.

Lazarevic, V, Chen, X, Shim, J-H, Hwang, E-S, Jang, E, Bolm, AN, Oukka, M, Kuchroo, VK & Glimcher, LH 2011, 'T-bet represses TH17 differentiation by preventing Runx1-mediated activation of the gene encoding RORyt', *Nature immunology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 96-104.

Lefrançois, P, Chapdelaine, H, Côté, B & Desrosiers, M 2016, 'A role for auto-immunity in chronic rhinosinusitis? Lessons learned from sub-epidermal bullous disorders of the skin', *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-5.

Lehrer, RI, Szklarek, D, Barton, A, Ganz, T, Hamann, K & Gleich, G 1989, 'Antibacterial properties of eosinophil major basic protein and eosinophil cationic protein', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 142, no. 12, pp. 4428-4434.

Lennard, CM, Mann, EA, Sun, LL, Chang, AS & Bolger, WE 2000, 'Interleukin-1 β , interleukin-5, interleukin-6, interleukin-8, and tumor necrosis factor- α in chronic sinusitis: Response to systemic corticosteroids', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 367-374.

Leo, G, Piacentini, E, Incorvaia, C, Consonni, D & Frati, F 2007, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis and allergy', *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, vol. 18, pp. 19-21.

Li, L-J, Gong, C, Zhao, M-H & Feng, B-S 2014, 'Role of interleukin-22 in inflammatory bowel disease', *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, vol. 20, no. 48, p. 18177.

Liang, K-L, Su, M-C, Shiao, J-Y, Tseng, H-C, Hsin, C-H, Lin, J-F & Jiang, R-S 2008, 'Amphotericin B irrigation for the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis without nasal polyps: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 52-58.

Liao, B, Liu, JX, Li, ZY, Zhen, Z, Cao, PP, Yao, Y, Long, XB, Wang, H, Wang, Y & Schleimer, R 2018, 'Multidimensional endotypes of chronic rhinosinusitis and their association with treatment outcomes', *Allergy*, vol. 73, no. 7, pp. 1459-1469.

Lim, AI, Verrier, T, Vosshenrich, CA & Di Santo, JP 2017, 'Developmental options and functional plasticity of innate lymphoid cells', *Current opinion in immunology*, vol. 44, pp. 61-68.

Lin, C-F, Wang, M-C, Merton, AT, Ho, N-H, Wu, P-S, Hsu, A & Wang, Y-P 2020, 'Add-on effect of clarithromycin to oral steroids as post-operative therapy for chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps: a randomised controlled trial', *Rhinology*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 550-558.

Lindsay, R, Slaughter, T, Britton-Webb, J, Mog, SR, Conran, R, Tadros, M, Earl, N, Fox, D, Roberts, J & Bolger, WE 2006, 'Development of a murine model of chronic rhinosinusitis', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 134, no. 5, pp. 724-730.

Liu, T, Zhang, L, Joo, D & Sun, S-C 2017, 'NF-κB signaling in inflammation', *Signal transduction and targeted therapy*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Liu, Z, Chen, J, Cheng, L, Li, H, Liu, S, Lou, H, Shi, J, Sun, Y, Wang, D & Wang, C 2020, 'Chinese society of allergy and Chinese society of otorhinolaryngology-head and neck surgery guideline for chronic rhinosinusitis', *Allergy, asthma & immunology research*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 176-237.

Loesel, LS 2001, 'Immunopathologic study of chronic sinusitis: a proposal for atopic and non-atopic IgE-activated mast cell allergic inflammation', *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, vol. 110, no. 5, pp. 447-452.

Loftus Jr, E, Kane, S & Bjorkman, D 2004, 'Short-term adverse effects of 5-aminosalicylic acid agents in the treatment of ulcerative colitis', *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 179-189.

Lou, H, Meng, Y, Piao, Y, Zhang, N, Bachert, C, Wang, C & Zhang, L 2016, 'Cellular phenotyping of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Rhinology*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 150-159.

Lou, H, Zhang, N, Bachert, C & Zhang, L 2018, 'Highlights of eosinophilic chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps in definition, prognosis, and advancement', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 8, pp. 1218-1225.

Lu, Y, Sjöstrand, M, Malmhäll, C, Rådinger, M, Jeurink, P, Lötvall, J & Bossios, A 2010, 'New production of eosinophils and the corresponding TH1/TH2 balance in the lungs after allergen exposure in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice', *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 176-185. Lund, VJ, Black, JH, Szabó, LZ, Schrewelius, C & Akerlund, A 2004, 'Efficacy and tolerability of budesonide aqueous nasal spray in chronic rhinosinusitis patients', *Rhinology*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 57-62.

Lund, VJ & Kennedy, DW 1997, 'Staging for rhinosinusitis', *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 117, no. 3_suppl, pp. S35-S40.

Lund, VJ & Mackay, IS 1993, 'Staging in rhinosinusitis', Rhinology, vol. 31, pp. 183-183.

Luukkainen, A, Puan, KJ, Yusof, N, Lee, B, Tan, KS, Liu, J, Yan, Y, Toppila-Salmi, S, Renkonen, R & Chow, VT 2018, 'A co-culture model of PBMC and stem cell derived human nasal epithelium reveals rapid activation of NK and innate T cells upon Influenza A virus infection of the nasal epithelium', *Frontiers in immunology*, vol. 9, p. 2514.

Lux, CA, Douglas, RG, Cho, D-Y, Taylor, MW & Biswas, K 2019, 'Animal models for inflammatory mucosal disease and their potential for studying the microbiome in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Rhinology online*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 69-80.

MA, W 2006, 'Methods for dilution antimicrobial susceptibility tests for bacteria that grow aerobically: approved standard', *Clsi (Nccls)*, vol. 26, pp. M7-A7.

Macri, G, Greco, A, Marinelli, C, Gallo, A, Fusconi, M, De Virgilio, A & De Vincentiis, M 2014, 'Evidence and role of autoantibodies in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *International journal of immunopathology and pharmacology*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 155-161.

Mahida, Y, Lamming, C, Gallagher, A, Hawthorne, A & Hawkey, C 1991, '5-Aminosalicylic acid is a potent inhibitor of interleukin 1 beta production in organ culture of colonic biopsy specimens from patients with inflammatory bowel disease', *Gut*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 50-54.

Makela, MJ, Puhakka, T, Ruuskanen, O, Leinonen, M, Saikku, P, Kimpimäki, M, Blomqvist, S, Hyypiä, T & Arstila, P 1998, 'Viruses and bacteria in the etiology of the common cold', *Journal of clinical microbiology*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 539-542.

Malek, TR 2003, 'The main function of IL-2 is to promote the development of T regulatory cells', *Journal of Leucocyte Biology*, vol. 74, no. 6, pp. 961-965.

Mapara, M, Thomas, BS & Bhat, K 2012, 'Rabbit as an animal model for experimental research', *Dental research journal*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 111.

Marino, MJ, Garcia, JO, Zarka, MA & Lal, D 2019, 'Inflammatory cell predominance and patterns in chronic rhinosinusitis with and without nasal polyposis patients', *Laryngoscope investigative otolaryngology*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 573-577.

Marks, SC 1997, 'Acute sinusitis in the rabbit: a new rhinogenic model', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 107, no. 12, pp. 1579-1585.

Marteau, P, Probert, C, Lindgren, S, Gassul, M, Tan, T, Dignass, A, Befrits, R, Midhagen, G, Rademaker, J & Foldager, M 2005, 'Combined oral and enema treatment with Pentasa (mesalazine) is superior to oral therapy alone in patients with extensive mild/moderate active
ulcerative colitis: a randomised, double blind, placebo controlled study', *Gut*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 960-965.

Maspero, J, Adir, Y, Al-Ahmad, M, Celis-Preciado, CA, Colodenco, FD, Giavina-Bianchi, P, Lababidi, H, Ledanois, O, Mahoub, B & Perng, D-W 2022, 'Type 2 inflammation in asthma and other airway diseases', *ERJ Open Research*, vol. 8, no. 3.

Maspero, JF, Katelaris, CH, Busse, WW, Castro, M, Corren, J, Chipps, BE, Peters, AT, Pavord, ID, Ford, LB & Sher, L 2020, 'Dupilumab efficacy in uncontrolled, moderate-to-severe asthma with self-reported chronic rhinosinusitis', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 527-539. e529.

Matsuwaki, Y, Ookushi, T, Asaka, D, Mori, E, Nakajima, T, Yoshida, T, Kojima, J, Chiba, S, Ootori, N & Moriyama, H 2008, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis: risk factors for the recurrence of chronic rhinosinusitis based on 5-year follow-up after endoscopic sinus surgery', *International archives of allergy and immunology*, vol. 146, no. Suppl. 1, pp. 77-81.

Mayadas, TN, Cullere, X & Lowell, CA 2014, 'The multifaceted functions of neutrophils', *Annual review of pathology*, vol. 9, p. 181.

McCaig, LF & Hughes, JM 1995, 'Trends in antimicrobial drug prescribing among officebased physicians in the United States', *Jama*, vol. 273, no. 3, pp. 214-219.

McKenna, K, Beignon, A-S & Bhardwaj, N 2005, 'Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity', *Journal of virology*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 17-27.

Meagher, LC, Cousin, JM, Seckl, JR & Haslett, C 1996, 'Opposing effects of glucocorticoids on the rate of apoptosis in neutrophilic and eosinophilic granulocytes', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 156, no. 11, pp. 4422-4428.

Megjugorac, NJ, Young, HA, Amrute, SB, Olshalsky, SL & Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P 2004, 'Virally stimulated plasmacytoid dendritic cells produce chemokines and induce migration of T and NK cells', *Journal of Leucocyte Biology*, vol. 75, no. 3, pp. 504-514.

Melo, RC, Spencer, LA, Dvorak, AM & Weller, PF 2008, 'Mechanisms of eosinophil secretion: large vesiculotubular carriers mediate transport and release of granule-derived cytokines and other proteins', *Journal of leukocyte biology*, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 229-236.

Melzer, T, Duffy, A, Weiss, L & Halonen, S 2008, 'The gamma interferon (IFN- γ)-inducible GTP-binding protein IGTP is necessary for Toxoplasma vacuolar disruption and induces parasite egression in IFN- γ -stimulated astrocytes', *Infection and immunity*, vol. 76, no. 11, pp. 4883-4894.

Miljkovic, D, Psaltis, A, Wormald, PJ & Vreugde, S 2016, 'T regulatory and Th17 cells in chronic rhinosinusitis with polyps', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 6, pp. 826-834.

Mitchell, DM, Ravkov, EV & Williams, MA 2010, 'Distinct roles for IL-2 and IL-15 in the differentiation and survival of CD8+ effector and memory T cells', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 184, no. 12, pp. 6719-6730.

Monteleone, G, Monteleone, I, Fina, D, Vavassori, P, Blanco, GDV, Caruso, R, Tersigni, R, Alessandroni, L, Biancone, L & Naccari, GC 2005, 'Interleukin-21 enhances T-helper cell type I signaling and interferon- γ production in Crohn's disease', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 128, no. 3, pp. 687-694.

Mori, E, Matsuwaki, Y, Mitsuyama, C, Okushi, T, Nakajima, T & Moriyama, H 2013, 'Risk factors for olfactory dysfunction in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Auris Nasus Larynx*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 465-469.

Morse, JC, Li, P, Ely, KA, Shilts, MH, Wannemuehler, TJ, Huang, L-C, Sheng, Q, Chowdhury, NI, Chandra, RK & Das, SR 2019, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis in elderly patients is associated with an exaggerated neutrophilic proinflammatory response to pathogenic bacteria', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 143, no. 3, pp. 990-1002. e1006.

Mosmann, T 1983, 'Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays', *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 65, no. 1-2, pp. 55-63.

Mosmann, TR, Cherwinski, H, Bond, MW, Giedlin, MA & Coffman, RL 1986, 'Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins', *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, MD.: 1950)*, vol. 136, no. 7, pp. 2348-2357.

Mould, AW, Matthaei, KI, Young, IG & Foster, PS 1997, 'Relationship between interleukin-5 and eotaxin in regulating blood and tissue eosinophilia in mice', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 99, no. 5, pp. 1064-1071.

Mulligan, JK, O'Connell, BP, Pasquini, W, Mulligan, RM, Smith, S, Soler, ZM, Atkinson, C & Schlosser, RJ 2017, 'Impact of tobacco smoke on upper airway dendritic cell accumulation and regulation by sinonasal epithelial cells', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 7, pp. 777-785.

Mullol, J, Lopez, E, Roca-Ferrer, J, Xaubet, A, Pujols, L, FERNÀNDEZ-MORATA, J, Fabra, J & Picado, C 1997, 'Effects of topical anti-inflammatory drugs on eosinophil survival primed by epithelial cells. Additive effect of glucocorticoids and nedocromil sodium', *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 1432-1441.

Murphy, K & Weaver, C 2016, Janeway's immunobiology, Garland science.

Murphy, W, Liu, S, Hon, K, Finnie, J, Bouras, G, Houtak, G, Shaghayegh, G, Vyskocil, E, Wormald, PJ, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, AJ 2024, 'A novel model of Staphylococcus aureusinduced lymphoplasmacytic rhinosinusitis in the rat', *Preprint*.

Murphy, W, Liu, S, Javadiyan, S, Vyskocil, E, Feizi, S, Callejas, C, Wormald, PJ, Vreugde, S & Psaltis, AJ 2024, 'An in vitro study evaluating the safety of mesalazine on human nasoepithelial cells', *Preprint*.

Murray, HW, Rubin, B, Carriero, S, Harris, A & Jaffee, E 1985, 'Human mononuclear phagocyte antiprotozoal mechanisms: oxygen-dependent vs oxygen-independent activity

against intracellular Toxoplasma gondii', *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, MD.: 1950)*, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 1982-1988.

Murray, PJ, Allen, JE, Biswas, SK, Fisher, EA, Gilroy, DW, Goerdt, S, Gordon, S, Hamilton, JA, Ivashkiv, LB & Lawrence, T 2014, 'Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines', *Immunity*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 14-20.

Nadel, DM, Lanza, DC & Kennedy, DW 1998, 'Endoscopically guided cultures in chronic sinusitis', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 233-242.

Nagarkar, DR, Poposki, JA, Tan, BK, Comeau, MR, Peters, AT, Hulse, KE, Suh, LA, Norton, J, Harris, KE & Grammer, LC 2013, 'Thymic stromal lymphopoietin activity is increased in nasal polyps of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 593-600. e512.

Nagata, Y, Maruoka, S, Gon, Y, Mizumura, K, Kishi, H, Nomura, Y, Hikichi, M, Hashimoto, S & Oshima, T 2019, 'Expression of IL-25, IL-33, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin in nasal polyp gland duct epithelium in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 378-387.

Nagi, MM & Desrosiers, MY 2005, 'Algorithms for management of chronic rhinosinusitis', *Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1137-1141.

Naidoo, Y, Tan, N, Singhal, D & Wormald, P 2013, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis assessment using the Adelaide Disease Severity Score', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 127, no. S2, pp. S24-S28.

Nakou, M, Papadimitraki, ED, Fanouriakis, A, Bertsias, GK, Choulaki, C, Goulidaki, N, Sidiropoulos, P & Boumpas, DT 2013, 'Interleukin-21 is increased in active systemic lupus erythematosus patients and contributes to the generation of plasma B cells', *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 172-179.

Neurath, MF 2014, 'Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 329-342.

Nielsen, O 1982, 'Sulfasalazine intolerance: a retrospective survey of the reasons for discontinuing treatment with sulfasalazine in patients with chronic inflammatory bowel disease', *Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 389-393.

Nizzoli, G, Krietsch, J, Weick, A, Steinfelder, S, Facciotti, F, Gruarin, P, Bianco, A, Steckel, B, Moro, M & Crosti, M 2013, 'Human CD1c+ dendritic cells secrete high levels of IL-12 and potently prime cytotoxic T-cell responses', *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, vol. 122, no. 6, pp. 932-942.

O'Shea, JJ & Paul, WE 2010, 'Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells', *Science*, vol. 327, no. 5969, pp. 1098-1102.

Ocaña, A & Reglero, G 2012, 'Effects of thyme extract oils (from Thymus vulgaris, Thymus zygis, and Thymus hyemalis) on cytokine production and gene expression of oxLDL-stimulated THP-1-macrophages', *Journal of obesity*, vol. 2012.

Oestreich, KJ, Huang, AC & Weinmann, AS 2011, 'The lineage-defining factors T-bet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns', *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 208, no. 5, pp. 1001-1013.

Okayama, Y & Kawakami, T 2006, 'Development, migration, and survival of mast cells', *Immunologic research*, vol. 34, pp. 97-115.

Okifo, O, Ray, A & Gudis, DA 2022, 'The Microbiology of Acute Exacerbations in Chronic Rhinosinusitis-A Systematic Review', *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, vol. 12, p. 858196.

Ooi, EH, Psaltis, AJ, Witterick, IJ & Wormald, P-J 2010, 'Innate immunity', *Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 473-487.

Ouyang, Y, Fan, E, Li, Y, Wang, X & Zhang, L 2013, 'Clinical characteristics and expression of thymic stromal lymphopoetin in eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic chronic rhinosinusitis', *ORL*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 37-45.

Panchatcharam, BS, Cooksley, CM, Ramezanpour, M, Vediappan, RS, Bassiouni, A, Wormald, PJ, Psaltis, AJ & Vreugde, S 2020, 'Staphylococcus aureus biofilm exoproteins are cytotoxic to human nasal epithelial barrier in chronic rhinosinusitis', in *International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 10, pp. 871-883.

Pant, H & Macardle, P 2014, 'CD8+ T cells implicated in the pathogenesis of allergic fungal rhinosinusitis', *Allergy & Rhinology*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. ar. 2014.2015. 0103.

Parikh, A, Scadding, G, Darby, Y & Baker, R 2001, 'Topical corticosteroids in chronic rhinosinusitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using fluticasone propionate aqueous nasal spray', *Rhinology*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 75-79.

Patou, J, Holtappels, G, Affleck, K, Gevaert, P, Perez-Novo, C, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2009, 'Enhanced release of IgE-dependent early phase mediators from nasal polyp tissue', *Journal of Inflammation*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Paul, WE 2012, Fundamental Immunology, 7 edn, Wolters Kluwer, Philadelphia.

Payne, SC, Borish, L & Steinke, JW 2011, 'Genetics and phenotyping in chronic sinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 128, no. 4, pp. 710-720.

Payne, SC, Early, SB, Huyett, P, Han, JK, Borish, L & Steinke, JW 2011, 'Evidence for distinct histologic profile of nasal polyps with and without eosinophilia', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 121, no. 10, pp. 2262-2267.

Pelikan, Z 2009, 'Diagnostic value of nasal allergen challenge combined with radiography and ultrasonography in chronic maxillary sinus disease', *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 135, no. 12, pp. 1246-1255.

Pelikan, Z & Pelikan-Filipek, M 1990, 'Role of nasal allergy in chronic maxillary sinusitis diagnostic value of nasal challenge with allergen', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 86, no. 4, pp. 484-491.

Perić, A, Baletić, N, Sotirović, J & Špadijer-Mirković, C 2015, 'Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 production and eosinophil infiltration in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 266-272.

Peterson, S, Poposki, JA, Nagarkar, DR, Chustz, RT, Peters, AT, Suh, LA, Carter, R, Norton, J, Harris, KE & Grammer, LC 2012, 'Increased expression of CC chemokine ligand 18 in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 119-127. e119.

Pezato, R, Pérez-Novo, CA, Holtappels, G, De Ruyck, N, Van Crombruggen, K, De Vos, G, Bachert, C & Derycke, L 2014, 'The expression of dendritic cell subsets in severe chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps is altered', *Immunobiology*, vol. 219, no. 9, pp. 729-736.

Phan, N, Cabot, P, Wallwork, B, Cervin, A & Panizza, B 2015, 'Cellular and molecular mechanisms of chronic rhinosinusitis and potential therapeutic strategies: review on cytokines, nuclear factor kappa B and transforming growth factor beta', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 129, no. S3, pp. S2-S7.

Pilling, D, Fan, T, Huang, D, Kaul, B & Gomer, RH 2009, 'Identification of markers that distinguish monocyte-derived fibrocytes from monocytes, macrophages, and fibroblasts', *PloS one*, vol. 4, no. 10, p. e7475.

Pinto, J, Mehta, N, DeTineo, M, Wang, J, Baroody, F & Naclerio, R 2010, 'A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of anti-IgE for chronic rhinosinusitis', *Rhinology*, vol. 48, no. 3, p. 318.

Pleass, RJ, Lang, ML, Kerr, MA & Woof, JM 2007, 'IgA is a more potent inducer of NADPH oxidase activation and degranulation in blood eosinophils than IgE', *Molecular immunology*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 1401-1408.

Poetker, DM, Jakubowski, LA, Lal, D, Hwang, PH, Wright, ED & Smith, TL 2013, 'Oral corticosteroids in the management of adult chronic rhinosinusitis with and without nasal polyps: an evidence-based review with recommendations', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 3, pp. 104-120.

Polasky, C, Loyal, K, Idel, C, Wetterauer, D, Heidemann, M, Bruchhage, K-L & Pries, R 2021, 'Alteration of blood monocyte subsets in chronic rhinosinusitis with regard to anti-inflammatory 1, 8-Cineol treatment'.

Polzehl, D, Moeller, P, Riechelmann, H & Perner, S 2006, 'Distinct features of chronic rhinosinusitis with and without nasal polyps', *Allergy*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 1275-1279.

Ponikau, JU, Sherris, DA, Kern, EB, Homburger, HA, Frigas, E, Gaffey, TA & Roberts, GD 1999, 'The diagnosis and incidence of allergic fungal sinusitis', in *Mayo clinic proceedings*, Elsevier, vol. 74, pp. 877-884.

Ponikau, JU, Sherris, DA, Kita, H & Kern, EB 2002, 'Intranasal antifungal treatment in 51 patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 110, no. 6, pp. 862-866.

Ponikau, JU, Sherris, DA, Weaver, A & Kita, H 2005, 'Treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis with intranasal amphotericin B: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind pilot trial', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 115, no. 1, pp. 125-131.

Poposki, JA, Klingler, AI, Tan, BK, Soroosh, P, Banie, H, Lewis, G, Hulse, KE, Stevens, WW, Peters, AT & Grammer, LC 2017, 'Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are elevated and activated in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Immunity, inflammation and disease*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 233-243.

Poposki, JA, Peterson, S, Welch, K, Schleimer, RP, Hulse, KE, Peters, AT, Norton, J, Suh, LA, Carter, R & Harris, KE 2015, 'Elevated presence of myeloid dendritic cells in nasal polyps of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 384-393.

Pothoven, KL, Norton, JE, Suh, LA, Carter, RG, Harris, KE, Biyasheva, A, Welch, K, Shintani-Smith, S, Conley, DB & Liu, MC 2017, 'Neutrophils are a major source of the epithelial barrier disrupting cytokine oncostatin M in patients with mucosal airways disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 139, no. 6, pp. 1966-1978. e1969.

Psaltis, AJ, Li, G, Vaezeafshar, R, Cho, KS & Hwang, PH 2014, 'Modification of the Lund-Kennedy endoscopic scoring system improves its reliability and correlation with patient-reported outcome measures', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 124, no. 10, pp. 2216-2223.

Psaltis, AJ & Wormald, P-J 2017, 'Therapy of sinonasal microbiome in CRS: a critical approach', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 1-8.

Puel, A, Cypowyj, S, Maródi, L, Abel, L, Picard, C & Casanova, J-L 2012, 'Inborn errors of human IL-17 immunity underlie chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis', *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 12, no. 6, p. 616.

Qu, S, Li, T, Li, M, Shi, J, Wen, W & Wen, W 2007, 'Genetic epidemiologic study on nasal polyps', *Zhonghua er bi yan hou tou jing wai ke za zhi= Chinese journal of otorhinolaryngology head and neck surgery*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 608-611.

Rachmilewitz, D, Karmeli, F, Schwartz, L & Simon, P 1992, 'Effect of aminophenols (5-ASA and 4-ASA) on colonic interleukin-1 generation', *Gut*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 929-932.

Ragab, SM, Lund, VJ & Scadding, G 2004, 'Evaluation of the medical and surgical treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis: a prospective, randomised, controlled trial', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 114, no. 5, pp. 923-930.

Rains III, BM & Mineck, CW 2003, 'Treatment of allergic fungal sinusitis with high-dose itraconazole', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Ramadan, HH & Hinerman, RA 2002, 'Smoke exposure and outcome of endoscopic sinus surgery in children', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 127, no. 6, pp. 546-548.

Ramanathan Jr, M, Lee, W-K, Spannhake, EW & Lane, AP 2008, 'Th2 cytokines associated with chronic rhinosinusitis with polyps down-regulate the antimicrobial immune function of human sinonasal epithelial cells', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 115-121.

Ramezanpour, M, Bolt, H, Psaltis, AJ, Wormald, P-J & Vreugde, S 2018, 'Primary human nasal epithelial cells: a source of poly (I: C) LMW-induced IL-6 production', *Scientific reports*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Ramezanpour, M, Moraitis, S, Smith, JL, Wormald, P & Vreugde, S 2016, 'Th17 cytokines disrupt the airway mucosal barrier in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Mediators of inflammation*, vol. 2016.

Ransford, R & Langman, M 2002, 'Sulphasalazine and mesalazine: serious adverse reactions re-evaluated on the basis of suspected adverse reaction reports to the Committee on Safety of Medicines', *Gut*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 536-539.

Redington 2000, 'Fibrosis and airway remodelling', *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 30, pp. 42-45.

Reh, DD, Higgins, TS & Smith, TL 2012, 'Impact of tobacco smoke on chronic rhinosinusitis: a review of the literature', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 2, pp. 362-369.

Reh, DD, Lin, SY, Clipp, SL, Irani, L, Alberg, AJ & Navas-Acien, A 2009, 'Secondhand tobacco smoke exposure and chronic rhinosinusitis: a population-based case–control study', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 562-567.

Richer, SL, Truong-Tran, AQ, Conley, DB, Carter, R, Vermylen, D, Grammer, LC, Peters, AT, Chandra, RK, Harris, KE & Kern, RC 2008, 'Epithelial genes in chronic rhinosinusitis with and without nasal polyps', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 228-234.

Rodríguez-Fernández, JL, Riol-Blanco, L & Delgado-Martin, C 2010, 'What is the function of the dendritic cell side of the immunological synapse?', *Science signaling*, vol. 3, no. 105, pp. re2-re2.

Rosenberg, HF, Dyer, KD & Foster, PS 2013, 'Eosinophils: changing perspectives in health and disease', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 9-22.

Rousseaux, C, Lefebvre, B, Dubuquoy, L, Lefebvre, P, Romano, O, Auwerx, J, Metzger, D, Wahli, W, Desvergne, B & Naccari, GC 2005, 'Intestinal antiinflammatory effect of 5aminosalicylic acid is dependent on peroxisome proliferator–activated receptor- γ ', *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 201, no. 8, pp. 1205-1215.

Rudack, C, Bachert, C & Stoll, W 1999, 'Effect of prednisolone on cytokine synthesis in nasal polyps', *Journal of interferon & cytokine research*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 1031-1035.

Rudmik, L & Smith, TL 2011, 'Quality of life in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 247-252.

Sacks IV, P-L, Harvey, RJ, Rimmer, J, Gallagher, RM & Sacks, R 2012, 'Antifungal therapy in the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis: a meta-analysis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 141-147.

Sakaguchi, S, Vignali, DA, Rudensky, AY, Niec, RE & Waldmann, H 2013, 'The plasticity and stability of regulatory T cells', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 461-467.

Sakaguchi, S, Yamaguchi, T, Nomura, T & Ono, M 2008, 'Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance', *cell*, vol. 133, no. 5, pp. 775-787.

Sallusto, F 2016, 'Heterogeneity of human CD4+ T cells against microbes', *Annual review of immunology*, vol. 34, pp. 317-334.

Sallusto, F, Lenig, D, Förster, R, Lipp, M & Lanzavecchia, A 1999, 'Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions', *Nature*, vol. 401, no. 6754, pp. 708-712.

Sathaliyawala, T, Kubota, M, Yudanin, N, Turner, D, Camp, P, Thome, JJ, Bickham, KL, Lerner, H, Goldstein, M & Sykes, M 2013, 'Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissue-resident memory T cell subsets', *Immunity*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 187-197.

Saunders, MW, Wheatley, AH, George, SJ, Lai, T & Birchall, MA 1999, 'Do corticosteroids induce apoptosis in nasal polyp inflammatory cells? In vivo and in vitro studies', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 109, no. 5, pp. 785-790.

Savolainen, S 1989, 'Allergy in patients with acute maxillary sinusitis', *Allergy*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 116-122.

Schleimer, RP 2017, 'Immunopathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis and nasal polyposis', *Annual review of pathology*, vol. 12, p. 331.

Schleimer, RP & Bochner, BS 1994, 'The effects of glucocorticoids on human eosinophils', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 1202-1213.

Schlitzer, A & Ginhoux, F 2014, 'Organization of the mouse and human DC network', *Current opinion in immunology*, vol. 26, pp. 90-99.

Schroeder, KW, Tremaine, WJ & Ilstrup, DM 1987, 'Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis', *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 317, no. 26, pp. 1625-1629.

Seder, RA, Darrah, PA & Roederer, M 2008, 'T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 247-258.

Seemann, T 2020, 'mlst (v2. 19.0)', *Github <u>https://github</u>. com/tseemann/mlst. Accessed July*, vol. 12.

Segura, E, Valladeau-Guilemond, J, Donnadieu, M-H, Sastre-Garau, X, Soumelis, V & Amigorena, S 2012, 'Characterization of resident and migratory dendritic cells in human lymph nodes', *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 209, no. 4, pp. 653-660.

Seiberling, K & Wormald, P-J 2009, 'The role of itraconazole in recalcitrant fungal sinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 303-306.

Sethi, S 2000, 'Bacterial infection and the pathogenesis of COPD', *Chest*, vol. 117, no. 5, pp. 286S-291S.

Shaghayegh, G, Cooksley, C, Bouras, G, Nepal, R, Houtak, G, Panchatcharam, BS, Fenix, KA, Psaltis, AJ, Wormald, PJ & Vreugde, S 2023, 'Staphylococcus aureus biofilm properties and chronic rhinosinusitis severity scores correlate positively with total CD4+ T-cell frequencies and inversely with its Th1, Th17 and regulatory cell frequencies', *Immunology*.

Shaghayegh, G, Cooksley, C, Bouras, GS, Panchatcharam, BS, Idrizi, R, Jana, M, Ellis, S, Psaltis, AJ, Wormald, P-J & Vreugde, S 2022, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis patients display an aberrant immune cell localization with enhanced S aureus biofilm metabolic activity and biomass', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*.

Sharma, S, Watanabe, S, Sivam, A, Wang, J, Neuwirth, SJ, Perez, RI, De Tineo, M, Baroody, FM, Naclerio, RM & Pinto, JM 2012, 'Peripheral blood and tissue T regulatory cells in chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 371-379.

Shen, S, Lou, H, Wang, C & Zhang, L 2018, 'Macrolide antibiotics in the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis: evidence from a meta-analysis', *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, vol. 10, no. 10, p. 5913.

Shi, JB, Fu, Q, Zhang, H, Cheng, L, Wang, Y, Zhu, D, Lv, W, Liu, S, Li, P & Ou, C 2015, 'Epidemiology of chronic rhinosinusitis: results from a cross-sectional survey in seven C hinese cities', *Allergy*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 533-539.

Shi, L-L, Song, J, Xiong, P, Cao, P-P, Liao, B, Ma, J, Zhang, Y-N, Zeng, M, Liu, Y & Wang, H 2014, 'Disease-specific T-helper cell polarizing function of lesional dendritic cells in different types of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, vol. 190, no. 6, pp. 628-638.

Shikhagaie, MM, Germar, K, Bal, SM, Ros, XR & Spits, H 2017, 'Innate lymphoid cells in autoimmunity: emerging regulators in rheumatic diseases', *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 164-173.

Shun, C-T, Lin, S-K, Hong, C-Y, Kok, S-H, Juan, Y-H, Wang, C-C, Hsu, M-C & Liu, C-M 2005, 'CC chemokine ligand 2 gene expression in nasal polyp fibroblasts: possible implication in the pathogenesis of nasal polyposis', *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, vol. 114, no. 11, pp. 879-885.

Silva, MA & Bercik, P 2012, 'Macrophages are related to goblet cell hyperplasia and induce MUC5B but not MUC5AC in human bronchus epithelial cells', *Laboratory investigation*, vol. 92, no. 6, pp. 937-948.

Siraganian, RP 2003, 'Mast cell signal transduction from the high-affinity IgE receptor', *Current opinion in immunology*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 639-646.

Smith, KA, Orlandi, RR & Rudmik, L 2015, 'Cost of adult chronic rhinosinusitis: a systematic review', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 125, no. 7, pp. 1547-1556.

Smith, SE, Schlosser, RJ, Yawn, JR, Mattos, JL, Soler, ZM & Mulligan, JK 2017, 'Sinonasal T-cell expression of cytotoxic mediators granzyme B and perforin is reduced in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 352-356.

Smith, TL & Sautter, NB 2014, 'Is montelukast indicated for treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis with polyposis?', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 124, no. 8, pp. 1735-1736.

Smolich, J, Stratford, B, Maloney, J & Ritchie, B 1978, 'New features in the development of the submucosal gland of the respiratory tract', *Journal of anatomy*, vol. 127, no. Pt 2, p. 223.

Snidvongs, K, Pratt, E, Chin, D, Sacks, R, Earls, P & Harvey, RJ 2012, 'Corticosteroid nasal irrigations after endoscopic sinus surgery in the management of chronic rhinosinusitis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 2, pp. 415-421.

Sninsky, CA, Cort, DH, Shanahan, F, Powers, BJ, Sessions, JT, Pruitt, RE, Jacobs, WH, Lo, SK, Targan, SR & Cerda, JJ 1991, 'Oral mesalamine (Asacol) for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis: a multicenter study', *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 115, no. 5, pp. 350-355.

Soler, ZM, Oyer, SL, Kern, RC, Senior, BAM, Kountakis, SE, Marple, BF & Smith, TL 2013, 'Antimicrobials and chronic rhinosinusitis with or without polyposis in adults: an evidenced-based review with recommendations', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 3, pp. 31-47.

Soler, ZM, Sauer, D, Mace, J & Smith, TL 2010, 'Impact of mucosal eosinophilia and nasal polyposis on quality-of-life outcomes after sinus surgery', *Otolaryngology--Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 64-71.

Spits, H, Artis, D, Colonna, M, Diefenbach, A, Di Santo, JP, Eberl, G, Koyasu, S, Locksley, RM, McKenzie, AN & Mebius, RE 2013, 'Innate lymphoid cells—a proposal for uniform nomenclature', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 145-149.

Spurzem, JR, Thompson, AB, Daughton, DM, Mueller, M, Linder, J & Rennard, SI 1991, 'Chronic inflammation is associated with an increased proportion of goblet cells recovered by bronchial lavage', *Chest*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 389-393.

Staikūnienė, J, Vaitkus, S, Japertienė, LM & Ryškienė, S 2008, 'Association of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps and asthma: clinical and radiological features, allergy and inflammation markers', *Medicina*, vol. 44, no. 4, p. 257.

Stallman, JS, Lobo, JN & Som, PM 2004, 'The incidence of concha bullosa and its relationship to nasal septal deviation and paranasal sinus disease', *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1613-1618.

Stanley, P, Wilson, R, Greenstone, M, MacWilliam, L & Cole, P 1986, 'Effect of cigarette smoking on nasal mucociliary clearance and ciliary beat frequency', *Thorax*, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 519-523.

Stein, RB & Hanauer, SB 2000, 'Comparative tolerability of treatments for inflammatory bowel disease', *Drug Safety*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 429-448.

Steinman, RM 2012, 'Decisions about dendritic cells: past, present, and future', *Annual review of immunology*, vol. 30, pp. 1-22.

Stenson, W & Lobos, E 1982, 'Sulfasalazine inhibits the synthesis of chemotactic lipids by neutrophils', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 494-497.

Stevens, WW, Peters, AT, Tan, BK, Klingler, AI, Poposki, JA, Hulse, KE, Grammer, LC, Welch, KC, Smith, SS & Conley, DB 2019, 'Associations between inflammatory endotypes and clinical presentations in chronic rhinosinusitis', *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 2812-2820. e2813.

Sun, Y, Zhou, B, Wang, C, Huang, Q, Zhang, Q, Han, Y, Dai, W, Fan, E & Li, Y 2012, 'Biofilm formation and Toll-like receptor 2, Toll-like receptor 4, and NF-kappaB expression in sinus tissues of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 104-109.

Svartz, N 1942, 'Salazopyrin, a new sulfanilamide preparation. A. Therapeutic Results in Rheumatic Polyarthritis. B. Therapeutic Results in Ulcerative Colitis. C. Toxic Manifestations in Treatment with Sulfanilamide Preparations', *Acta Medica Scandinavica*, vol. 110, no. 6, pp. 577-598.

Szucs, E, Ravandi, S, Goossens, A, Beel, M & Clement, PA 2002, 'Eosinophilia in the ethmoid mucosa and its relationship to the severity of inflammation in chronic rhinosinusitis', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 131-134.

Tait, S, Kallogjeri, D, Suko, J, Kukuljan, S, Schneider, J & Piccirillo, JF 2018, 'Effect of budesonide added to large-volume, low-pressure saline sinus irrigation for chronic rhinosinusitis: a randomized clinical trial', *JAMA Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 144, no. 7, pp. 605-612.

Tajudeen, BA, Ganti, A, Kuhar, HN, Mahdavinia, M, Heilingoetter, A, Gattuso, P, Ghai, R & Batra, PS 2019, 'The presence of eosinophil aggregates correlates with increased postoperative prednisone requirement', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 129, no. 4, pp. 794-799.

Takabayashi, T, Kato, A, Peters, AT, Hulse, KE, Suh, LA, Carter, R, Norton, J, Grammer, LC, Cho, SH & Tan, BK 2013, 'Excessive fibrin deposition in nasal polyps caused by fibrinolytic impairment through reduction of tissue plasminogen activator expression', *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, vol. 187, no. 1, pp. 49-57.

Takabayashi, T, Kato, A, Peters, AT, Hulse, KE, Suh, LA, Carter, R, Norton, J, Grammer, LC, Tan, BK & Chandra, RK 2013, 'Increased expression of factor XIII-A in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 584-592. e584.

Takeuchi, K, Majima, Y, Shimizu, T, Ukai, K & Sakakura, Y 1999, 'Analysis of HLA antigens in Japanese patients with chronic sinusitis', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 275-278.

Tammemagi, CM, Davis, RM, Benninger, MS, Holm, AL & Krajenta, R 2010, 'Secondhand smoke as a potential cause of chronic rhinosinusitis: a case-control study', *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 327-334.

Tan, BK, Klingler, AI, Poposki, JA, Stevens, WW, Peters, AT, Suh, LA, Norton, J, Carter, RG, Hulse, KE & Harris, KE 2017, 'Heterogeneous inflammatory patterns in chronic rhinosinusitis without nasal polyps in Chicago, Illinois', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 699-703. e697.

Tan, BK, Li, Q-Z, Suh, L, Kato, A, Conley, DB, Chandra, RK, Zhou, J, Norton, J, Carter, R & Hinchcliff, M 2011, 'Evidence for intranasal antinuclear autoantibodies in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 128, no. 6, pp. 1198-1206. e1191.

Tan, BK, Min, J-Y & Hulse, KE 2017, 'Acquired immunity in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 17, no. 7, p. 49.

Tan, BK, Peters, AT, Schleimer, RP & Hulse, KE 2018, 'Pathogenic and protective roles of B cells and antibodies in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1553-1560.

Tao, X, Constant, S, Jorritsma, P & Bottomly, K 1997, 'Strength of TCR signal determines the costimulatory requirements for Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell differentiation', *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, MD.: 1950)*, vol. 159, no. 12, pp. 5956-5963.

Tarlinton, D 2006, 'B-cell memory: are subsets necessary?', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 785-790.

Tengroth, L, Arebro, J, Kumlien Georén, S, Winqvist, O & Cardell, L-O 2014, 'Deprived TLR9 expression in apparently healthy nasal mucosa might trigger polyp-growth in chronic rhinosinusitis patients', *PloS one*, vol. 9, no. 8, p. e105618.

Tengroth, L, Millrud, CR, Kvarnhammar, AM, Kumlien Georén, S, Latif, L & Cardell, L-O 2014, 'Functional effects of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 3, 7, 9, RIG-I and MDA-5 stimulation in nasal epithelial cells', *PloS one*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. e98239.

Thamboo, A, Manji, J, Szeitz, A, Santos, RD, Hathorn, I, Gan, EC, Alsaleh, S & Javer, AR 2014, 'The safety and efficacy of short-term budesonide delivered via mucosal atomization device for chronic rhinosinusitis without nasal polyposis', in *International forum of allergy & rhinology*, Wiley Online Library, vol. 4, pp. 397-402.

Tigner, A, Ibrahim, SA & Murray, I 2020, 'Histology, white blood cell'.

Tingsgaard, P, Bock, T, Larsen, P & Tos, M 1999, 'Topical budesonide treatment reduces endothelial expression of intercellular adhesion molecules (vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and P-selectin) and eosinophil infiltration in nasal polyps', *Acta oto-laryngologica*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 362-368.

Tokunaga, T, Sakashita, M, Haruna, T, Asaka, D, Takeno, S, Ikeda, H, Nakayama, T, Seki, N, Ito, S & Murata, J 2015, 'Novel scoring system and algorithm for classifying chronic rhinosinusitis: the JESREC Study', *Allergy*, vol. 70, no. 8, pp. 995-1003.

Tolia, V 1992, 'Sulfasalazine desensitization in children and adolescents with chronic inflammatory bowel disease', *American Journal of Gastroenterology (Springer Nature)*, vol. 87, no. 8.

Tomassen, P, Vandeplas, G, Van Zele, T, Cardell, L-O, Arebro, J, Olze, H, Förster-Ruhrmann, U, Kowalski, ML, Olszewska-Ziąber, A & Holtappels, G 2016, 'Inflammatory endotypes of chronic rhinosinusitis based on cluster analysis of biomarkers', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 137, no. 5, pp. 1449-1456. e1444.

Tomisa, G, Horváth, A, Szalai, Z, Müller, V & Tamási, L 2019, 'Prevalence and impact of risk factors for poor asthma outcomes in a large, specialist-managed patient cohort: a real-life study', *Journal of Asthma and Allergy*, vol. 12, p. 297.

Tos, M, Svendstrup, F, Arndal, H, Ørntoft, S, Jakobsen, J, Borum, P, Schrewelius, C, Larsen, PL, Clement, F & Barfoed, C 1998, 'Efficacy of an aqueous and a powder formulation of nasal budesonide compared in patients with nasal polyps', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 183-190.

Townsend, A & Bodmer, H 1989, 'Antigen recognition by class I-restricted T lymphocytes', *Annual review of immunology*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 601-624.

Tsybikov, NN, Egorova, EV, Kuznik, BI, Fefelova, EV & Magen, E 2015, 'Anticytokine autoantibodies in chronic rhinosinusitis', in *Allergy & Asthma Proceedings*, vol. 36.

Turner, JH, Chandra, RK, Li, P, Bonnet, K & Schlundt, DG 2018, 'Identification of clinically relevant chronic rhinosinusitis endotypes using cluster analysis of mucus cytokines', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1895-1897. e1897.

Ullrich, SE, Nghiem, DX & Khaskina, P 2007, 'Suppression of an established immune response by UVA—a critical role for mast cells', *Photochemistry and photobiology*, vol. 83, no. 5, pp. 1095-1100.

Usui, T, Nishikomori, R, Kitani, A & Strober, W 2003, 'GATA-3 suppresses Th1 development by downregulation of Stat4 and not through effects on IL-12R β 2 chain or T-bet', *Immunity*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 415-428.

Vaidyanathan, S, Barnes, M, Williamson, P, Hopkinson, P, Donnan, PT & Lipworth, B 2011, 'Treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis with oral steroids followed by topical steroids: a randomized trial', *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 154, no. 5, pp. 293-302.

Vaidyanathan, S, Williamson, P, Anderson, K & Lipworth, B 2010, 'Effect of systemic steroids on humming nasal nitric oxide in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis', *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 412-417.

Van Bruaene, N, Pérez-Novo, CA, Basinski, TM, Van Zele, T, Holtappels, G, De Ruyck, N, Schmidt-Weber, C, Akdis, C, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2008, 'T-cell regulation in chronic paranasal sinus disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 1435-1441. e1433.

Van Drunen, CM, Reinartz, S, Wigman, J & Fokkens, WJ 2009, 'Inflammation in chronic rhinosinusitis and nasal polyposis', *Immunology and Allergy Clinics*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 621-629.

Van Staa, TP, Travis, S, Leufkens, HG & Logan, RF 2004, '5-aminosalicylic acids and the risk of renal disease: a large British epidemiologic study', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 126, no. 7, pp. 1733-1739.

Van Zele, T, Claeys, S, Gevaert, P, Van Maele, G, Holtappels, G, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2006, 'Differentiation of chronic sinus diseases by measurement of inflammatory mediators', *Allergy*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 1280-1289.

Van Zele, T, Coppieters, F, Gevaert, P, Holtappels, G, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2009, 'Local complement activation in nasal polyposis', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 1753-1758.

Van Zele, T, Gevaert, P, Holtappels, G, Beule, A, Wormald, PJ, Mayr, S, Hens, G, Hellings, P, Ebbens, FA & Fokkens, W 2010, 'Oral steroids and doxycycline: two different approaches to treat nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 125, no. 5, pp. 1069-1076. e1064.

Van Zele, T, Gevaert, P, Holtappels, G, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2007, 'Local immunoglobulin production in nasal polyposis is modulated by superantigens', *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1840-1847.

Vickery, TW, Ramakrishnan, VR & Suh, JD 2019, 'The role of Staphylococcus aureus in patients with chronic sinusitis and nasal polyposis', *Current allergy and asthma reports*, vol. 19, pp. 1-8.

Vivier, E, Artis, D, Colonna, M, Diefenbach, A, Di Santo, JP, Eberl, G, Koyasu, S, Locksley, RM, McKenzie, AN & Mebius, RE 2018, 'Innate lymphoid cells: 10 years on', *Cell*, vol. 174, no. 5, pp. 1054-1066.

von Boehmer, H, Teh, HS & Kisielow, P 1989, 'The thymus selects the useful, neglects the useless and destroys the harmful', *Immunology today*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 57-61.

Wagner Mackenzie, B, Waite, DW, Hoggard, M, Douglas, RG, Taylor, MW & Biswas, K 2017, 'Bacterial community collapse: a meta-analysis of the sinonasal microbiota in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Environmental microbiology*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 381-392.

Wallwork, B, Coman, W, Mackay-Sim, A, Greiff, L & Cervin, A 2006, 'A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of macrolide in the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 116, no. 2, pp. 189-193.

Wang, H, Li, Z-Y, Jiang, W-X, Liao, B, Zhai, G-T, Wang, N, Zhen, Z, Ruan, J-w, Long, X-B & Wang, H 2018, 'The activation and function of IL-36γ in neutrophilic inflammation in chronic rhinosinusitis', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1646-1658.

Wang, JH, Kwon, HJ & Jang, YJ 2009a, 'Rhinovirus enhances various bacterial adhesions to nasal epithelial cells simultaneously', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 119, no. 7, pp. 1406-1411.

Wang, JH, Kwon, HJ & Jang, YJ 2009b, 'Rhinovirus upregulates matrix metalloproteinase-2, matrix metalloproteinase-9, and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in nasal polyp fibroblasts', *The Laryngoscope*, vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 1834-1838.

Wang, M, Zhang, N, Zheng, M, Li, Y, Meng, L, Ruan, Y, Han, J, Zhao, N, Wang, X & Zhang, L 2019, 'Cross-talk between TH2 and TH17 pathways in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 144, no. 5, pp. 1254-1264.

Wang, WW, Lu, DM, Zheng, M, Zhang, JG & Zhang, B 2018, 'TSLP regulates eotaxin-1 production by nasal epithelial cells from patients with eosinophilic CRSwNP', *Rhinology*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 370-377.

Wang, X, Gao, M, Xu, Y, Guo, H & Zhao, C 2014, 'Expression of interleukin-22 and its significance in the pathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis', *International journal of clinical and experimental pathology*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. 5709.

Wang, X, Kim, J, McWilliams, R & Cutting, GR 2005, 'Increased prevalence of chronic rhinosinusitis in carriers of a cystic fibrosis mutation', *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, vol. 131, no. 3, pp. 237-240.

Wang, X, Moylan, B, Leopold, DA, Kim, J, Rubenstein, RC, Togias, A, Proud, D, Zeitlin, PL & Cutting, GR 2000, 'Mutation in the gene responsible for cystic fibrosis and predisposition to chronic rhinosinusitis in the general population', *Jama*, vol. 284, no. 14, pp. 1814-1819.

Wang, X, Zhang, N, Bo, M, Holtappels, G, Zheng, M, Lou, H, Wang, H, Zhang, L & Bachert, C 2016, 'Diversity of TH cytokine profiles in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis: a multicenter study in Europe, Asia, and Oceania', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 138, no. 5, pp. 1344-1353.

Wardlaw, AJ 1999, 'Molecular basis for selective eosinophil trafficking in asthma: a multistep paradigm', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 104, no. 5, pp. 917-926.

Wei, B, Liu, F, Zhang, J, Liu, Y, Du, J, Liu, S, Zhang, N, Bachert, C & Meng, J 2018, 'Multivariate analysis of inflammatory endotypes in recurrent nasal polyposis in a Chinese population', *Rhinology*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 216-226.

Wei, P, Hu, G-h, Kang, H-y, Yao, H-b, Kou, W, Zhang, C & Hong, S-l 2014, 'Role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the pathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Inflammation*, vol. 37, pp. 387-395.

Weisbart, RH, Kwan, L, Golde, DW & Gasson, JC 1987, 'Human GM-CSF primes neutrophils for enhanced oxidative metabolism in response to the major physiological chemoattractants', *Blood*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 18-21.

Wen, W, Liu, W, Zhang, L, Bai, J, Fan, Y, Xia, W, Luo, Q, Zheng, J, Wang, H & Li, Z 2012, 'Increased neutrophilia in nasal polyps reduces the response to oral corticosteroid therapy', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 129, no. 6, pp. 1522-1528. e1525.

Weschta, M, Rimek, D, Formanek, M, Polzehl, D, Podbielski, A & Riechelmann, H 2004, 'Topical antifungal treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps: a randomized, double-blind clinical trial', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 113, no. 6, pp. 1122-1128.

Wick, R, Volkening, J & Loman, N 2017, 'Porechop'.

Willheim, M, Agis, H, Sperr, WR, Köller, M, Bankl, H-C, Kiener, H, Fritsch, G, Füreder, W, Spittler, A & Graninger, W 1995, 'Purification of human basophils and mast cells by multistep separation technique and mAb to CDw17 and solCD117c-kit', *Journal of immunological methods*, vol. 182, no. 1, pp. 115-129.

Williams, CM & Galli, SJ 2000, 'The diverse potential effector and immunoregulatory roles of mast cells in allergic disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 105, no. 5, pp. 847-859.

Wing, K, Onishi, Y, Prieto-Martin, P, Yamaguchi, T, Miyara, M, Fehervari, Z, Nomura, T & Sakaguchi, S 2008, 'CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function', *Science*, vol. 322, no. 5899, pp. 271-275.

Wolf, C 2002, 'Urban air pollution and health: an ecological study of chronic rhinosinusitis in Cologne, Germany', *Health & place*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 129-139.

Woodworth, BA, Joseph, K, Kaplan, AP & Schlosser, RJ 2004, 'Alterations in eotaxin, monocyte chemoattractant protein-4, interleukin-5, and interleukin-13 after systemic steroid treatment for nasal polyps', *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, vol. 131, no. 5, pp. 585-589.

Wu, D, Mueller, SK, Nocera, AL, Finn, K, Libermann, TA & Bleier, BS 2018, 'TREM-1 neutrophil activation pathway is suppressed in eosinophilic nasal polyps', *American journal of rhinology & allergy*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 359-368.

Wynn, TA, Chawla, A & Pollard, JW 2013, 'Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease', *Nature*, vol. 496, no. 7446, pp. 445-455.

Xiao, L, Jia, L, Bai, L, He, L, Yang, B, Wu, C & Li, H 2016, 'Phenotypic and functional characteristics of IL-21-expressing CD8+ T cells in human nasal polyps', *Scientific reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 30362.

Xu, R, Xu, G, Shi, J & Wen, W 2007, 'A correlative study of NF-κB activity and cytokines expression in human chronic nasal sinusitis', *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, vol. 121, no. 7, pp. 644-649.

Xu, Z, Huang, Y, Delemarre, T, Cavaliere, C, Zhang, N & Bachert, C 2022, 'Advances in chronic rhinosinusitis in 2020 and 2021', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 149, no. 3, pp. 854-866.

Ye, B & van Langenberg, DR 2015, 'Mesalazine preparations for the treatment of ulcerative colitis: Are all created equal?', *World journal of gastrointestinal pharmacology and therapeutics*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 137.

Ye, L, Jiang, B, Deng, J, Du, J, Xiong, W, Guan, Y, Wen, Z, Huang, K & Huang, Z 2015, 'IL-37 alleviates rheumatoid arthritis by suppressing IL-17 and IL-17–triggering cytokine production and limiting Th17 cell proliferation', *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 194, no. 11, pp. 5110-5119.

Yip, KH, Papadopoulos, M, Pant, H & Tumes, DJ 2019, 'The role of invariant T cells in inflammation of the skin and airways', in *Seminars in Immunopathology*, Springer, vol. 41, pp. 401-410.

Young, LC, Stow, NW, Zhou, L & Douglas, RG 2012, 'Efficacy of medical therapy in treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis', *Allergy & Rhinology*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. ar. 2012.2013. 0027.

Yu, J, He, S, Liu, P, Hu, Y, Wang, L, Wang, X, Han, Y & Zhu, X 2015, 'Interleukin-21 promotes the development of ulcerative colitis and regulates the proliferation and secretion of follicular T helper cells in the colitides microenvironment', *Molecular medicine reports*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 1049-1056.

Zhang, N, Holtappels, G, Claeys, C, Huang, G, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2006, 'Pattern of inflammation and impact of Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxins in nasal polyps from southern China', *American journal of rhinology*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 445-450.

Zhang, N, Van Zele, T, Perez-Novo, C, Van Bruaene, N, Holtappels, G, DeRuyck, N, Van Cauwenberge, P & Bachert, C 2008, 'Different types of T-effector cells orchestrate mucosal inflammation in chronic sinus disease', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 122, no. 5, pp. 961-968.

Zhang, S, Kodys, K, Li, K & Szabo, G 2013, 'Human type 2 myeloid dendritic cells produce interferon- λ and amplify interferon- α in response to hepatitis C virus infection', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 144, no. 2, pp. 414-425. e417.

Zhang, Y, Gevaert, E, Lou, H, Wang, X, Zhang, L, Bachert, C & Zhang, N 2017, 'Chronic rhinosinusitis in Asia', *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, vol. 140, no. 5, pp. 1230-1239.

Zhao, X, Zhou, C, Ma, J, Zhu, Y, Sun, M, Wang, P, Zhang, Y, Ma, H & Zhang, H 2017, 'Efficacy and safety of rectal 5-aminosalicylic acid versus corticosteroids in active distal ulcerative colitis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis', *Scientific reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1-15.

Zhao, Y, Yang, J, Gao, Y-d & Guo, W 2010, 'Th17 immunity in patients with allergic asthma', *International archives of allergy and immunology*, vol. 151, no. 4, pp. 297-307.

Zhong, B, Du, J, Liu, F, Liu, Y, Liu, S, Zhang, J, Lin, P, Zhou, J, Liu, J & Ong, HH 2021, 'Hypoxia-induced factor-1α induces NLRP3 expression by M1 macrophages in noneosinophilic chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps', *Allergy*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 582-586.

Zinreich, SJ, Mattox, DE, Kennedy, DW, Chisholm, HL, Diffley, DM & Rosenbaum, AE 1988, 'Concha bullosa: CT evaluation', *Journal of computer assisted tomography*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 778-784.